PUBLIC

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION OFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGES

FEDE	RECEIV	RADE ED DO	COMM	155501
			2011	٣)
An all a second	SE	CRETA	RY	Charles and the second s

DOCKET NO. 9343

In the Matter of

THE NORTH CAROLINA BOARD OF DENTAL EXAMINERS

Respondent.

INITIAL DECISION

D. Michael Chappell Chief Administrative Law Judge

Date: July 14, 2011

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.	INT	FRODUCTION	1
	A.	Summary of the Complaint and Answer	1
	B.	Procedural History	2
	C.	Evidence	4
	D.	Burden of Proof	5
	E.	Summary of Initial Decision	6
II.	FIN	NDINGS OF FACT	
	A.	The North Carolina State Board of Dental Examiners	
		1. Composition and election/selection of Board members	
		a. Composition of the Board	
		b. Dentist members of the Board are practicing dentists	
		c. The Board is funded by licensees	
		d. Dentists elect dentists for positions on the Board	
		e. Board member terms	
		f. Members of the Board from 2005 through 2010	
		2. The authority and duties of the Board	
		a. The Board's authority over North Carolina dentists	
		b. The Board's authority relating to non-dentists	
	B.	The Witnesses	
		1. Fact witnesses	
		2. Expert witnesses	
		a. Complaint Counsel's expert witnesses	
		(i) Dr. John Kwoka, Ph.D	
		(ii) Dr. Martin Giniger	
		b. Respondent's expert witnesses	
		(i) Dr. Van B. Haywood	
		(ii) Dr. David L. Baumer, Ph.D.	
	C.	Jurisdictional Issues	.22
	D.	The Relevant Market is Dentist Provided and Non-Dentist Provided	
		Teeth Whitening Services	
		1. Teeth whitening services generally	
		2. Teeth whitening products and services methods	
		a. Dentist in-office teeth whitening services	
		b. Take-home kits provided by dentists	
		c. Over-the-counter products	
		d. Non-dentist teeth whitening service providers	.29
		3. Dentist and non-dentist provided teeth whitening services are	
		a relevant market	.30
		a. Dentist and non-dentist provided teeth whitening services	
		are reasonable substitutes for one another	
		b. Dentists and non-dentists compete with one another	.31
		4. The relevant market does not include self administered teeth	

		whitening products	32
	E.	The Board's Cease and Desist Letters	
		1. Background	33
		a. The Board's process for handling complaints and	
		investigations of unauthorized practice of dentistry	33
		b. Complaints about non-dentist providers of teeth whitening	
		services made by dentists	35
		2. Origins and numbers of cease and desist letters	
		 Content of cease and desist letters	
		 Relationship between cease and desist letters and 	
		dentist complaints	42
		 Meaning and purpose of cease and desist letters 	
		a. Testimony of Board members confirms the intent of the	•••••
		cease and desist letters was to make non-dentists stop	
		providing teeth whitening services	44
		b. Contemporaneous documents of the Board members and	
		staff refer to the cease and desist letters as "orders"	44
	·	 Effects of cease and desist letters	
		 Board alternatives	
	F.	The Board and Teeth Whitening Manufacturers and Distributors,	····· T /
		and Potential Entrants	47
	G.	The Board and Property Owners and Mall Operators	
	01	1. Letters to mall operators regarding non-dentist teeth whitening	
		service providers	51
		 Effects of the letters to mall operators	
		a. Hull Storey Gibson Companies	
		b. General Growth Properties and Simon Group Properties	
		c. Southpoint Mall	
	H.	The Board and the North Carolina Board of Cosmetic Art Examiners	
	11.	The Bourd and the Worth Caronna Bourd of Cosmette Art Examiners	
III.	AN	ALYSIS	57
	A.	Jurisdiction	
	- x .	1. The Board is a "person" within the meaning of the	
		FTC Act	
		 The Board's acts are in or affecting commerce. 	
	B.	Overview of Applicable Legal Standards	
	C.	Relevant Market	
	U.	1. Framework	
		 Overview of the methods for teeth whitening 	
		a. Dentist in-office teeth whitening services	
		b. Take-home teeth whitening kits provided by dentists	
		c. Over-the-counter products	
		d. Non-dentist teeth whitening services	
		 Interchangeability of the methods for teeth whitening 	
		a. Interchangeability of products and services	
			08
		b. Interchangeability of services offered by dentists and	

		non-dentists.		69
		4. Analysis	·	70
	D.	Concerted Action		71
		1. The Board's cap	acity for concerted action	73
		2. The Board's con	certed action with regard to non-dentist teeth	
			es in North Carolina	76
	E.		·	
		1. Legal framework	ξξ	82
		2. Potential adverse	effects	85
		a. Anticompetit	ive nature	85
		(i) Contex	t for the challenged conduct	85
		A. T	eeth whitening popularity	85
			entists' responses to non-dentist provided	
			eth whitening services	
		C. S	ummary of context	87
			allenged conduct	
			etters to non-dentist providers	
		B. L	etters to manufacturers and potential entrants	90
		C. L	etters to owners and operators of malls	91
		D. N	otice to Cosmetology Board	92
		(iii) Tenden	cy to harm competition	92
			r	
		3. Actual adverse e	ffects	97
		a. Summary of	facts	97
		(i) Manufa	acturers lost sales	97
		(ii) Owners	s and operators of malls stopped leasing to	
			ntist providers	
		(iii) Non-de	ntist providers exited the market	99
			on of competitors and potential entrants	
		(ii) Limited	l consumer choice	103
	F.	Procompetitive Justifie	cations and Defenses	
	G.	Remedy		110
			standards	
			provisions	
			osures	
			ovisions	
			jections	
			lment	
		b. Commerce C	lause	117
IV.	SUN	IMARY OF CONCLU	JSIONS OF LAW	118
ORD	ER			123

I. INTRODUCTION

A. Summary of the Complaint and Answer

The Commission issued an administrative complaint against the North Carolina State Board of Dental Examiners ("Respondent" or "the Board") on June 17, 2010 ("Complaint").¹ The Complaint alleges that "[t]he combination, conspiracy, acts and practices" by Respondent to exclude non-dentists from competing with dentists in the provision of teeth whitening services violates Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act ("FTC Act"). Complaint, ¶ 26. Specifically, the Complaint alleges that the Board, without proper authority, engaged in various types of activities aimed at preventing non-dentists from providing teeth whitening services in North Carolina, including issuing cease and desist orders and other communications to existing and potential non-dentist teeth whitening service providers, manufacturers of products and equipment used by non-dentist providers, and mall owners and operators, asserting that non-dentist teeth whitening services are illegal. Complaint ¶ 18-22. The Complaint also alleges that the relevant market in which to evaluate the conduct of the Board is the provision of teeth whitening services in North Carolina and charges that Respondent has and exercises market power to exclude non-dentists from competing in the relevant market. Complaint ¶¶ 7, 14. The Complaint further charges that the challenged conduct has had, and will have, the effect of restraining competition unreasonably and injuring consumers by preventing and deterring non-dentists from providing teeth whitening services in North Carolina; depriving consumers of the benefits of price competition; and reducing consumer choice in North Carolina for the provision of teeth whitening services. Complaint ¶ 25. The Notice of Contemplated Relief attached to the Complaint seeks an order, including, but not limited to, requiring Respondent to cease and desist from the challenged conduct.

¹ The caption of the Complaint issued by the Federal Trade Commission ("Commission") refers to Respondent as "The North Carolina Board of Dental Examiners," and, because there has been no motion to change the title of the caption, Respondent is referred to as "The North Carolina Board of Dental Examiners," in the caption of this Initial Decision. However, the Commission, in its Order Denying Respondent's Motion to Dismiss, Granting Complaint Counsel's Motion for Partial Summary Decision, Denying Respondent's Motion to Disqualify the Commission, and Granting Respondent's Motion for Leave to File Limited Surreply Brief, and Opinion in support thereof, has referred to Respondent as "The North Carolina State Board of Dental Examiners." *In re North Carolina Board of Dental Examiners*, Docket 9343, 2011 WL 549449 (Feb. 8, 2011). In addition, Complaint Counsel agrees that the correct title for Respondent is "The North Carolina State Board of Dental Examiners." (Feb. 17, 2011 Transcript of Final Prehearing Conference, at 63-64).

In its Answer, filed on July 7, 2010, Respondent asserts that the Board is a state agency enforcing a North Carolina statute which makes it illegal for non-dentists to provide the service of "removal of stains" from teeth, and that there is no collusion, conspiracy or agreement. Answer, p. 1. Further, Respondent avers, the Board's actions with regard to non-dentist teeth whitening services were taken to enforce North Carolina law, in order to protect the public, and not to suppress competition. Answer, pp. 8-17. In addition, Respondent denies that the Board is acting as a competitor in the teeth whitening market and states that the real competition for teeth whitening services offered by non-dentists comes from over-the-counter ("OTC") sales of teeth whitening kits, which are not regulated by the Board. Answer, pp. 6-8. Respondent charges that the contemplated relief exceeds the FTC's authority and would unconstitutionally impair the ability of the State of North Carolina to protect its citizens under the Tenth and Eleventh Amendments to the Constitution. Answer, pp. 18-21.

B. Procedural History

Prior to the start of trial, Respondent filed with the Federal Trade Commission ("Commission") a Motion to Dismiss based on a claim that its conduct is exempted from antitrust liability by the state action doctrine. Complaint Counsel also filed with the Commission a Motion for Partial Summary Decision on the propriety of the Board's invocation of the state action doctrine as an affirmative defense. The Commission, on February 3, 2011, issued an Opinion and Order resolving these and related motions. *In re North Carolina Board of Dental Examiners*, Docket 9343, 2011 WL 549449, at *5 (Feb. 8, 2011) (hereinafter "State Action Opinion").²

In its State Action Opinion, the Commission decided that although the Board is a state regulatory body, the undisputed facts showed that the Board is controlled by North Carolina licensed dentists, and that North Carolina dentists – including the Board's dentist members – perform teeth whitening services. 2011 WL 549449, at *13. The Commission also decided

² The Commission, in 2009, amended its Rules of Practice to require that motions to dismiss filed before the evidentiary hearing and motions for summary decision shall be directly referred back to the Commission, rather than to the Administrative Law Judge assigned to adjudicate the complaint and "shall be ruled on by the Commission unless the Commission in its discretion refers the motion to the Administrative Law Judge." 16 C.F.R. § 3.22(a).

that, because of the possibility that the Board would act in self-interest, pursuant to *California Retail Liquor Dealers Ass'n v. Midcal Aluminum, Inc.*, 445 U.S. 97, 105 (1980), active state supervision of the Board's activities must be demonstrated in order for state action immunity to apply. *Id.* The Commission further determined that the undisputed facts showed that the state did not actively supervise the Board's conduct, and, therefore, state action immunity did not apply. *Id.* at *15-17. The Commission concluded: "[B]ecause the Board is controlled by practicing dentists, the Board's challenged conduct must be actively supervised by the state for it to claim state action exemption from the antitrust laws. Because we find no such supervision, we hold that the antitrust laws reach the Board's conduct." *Id.* Also in its State Action Opinion, the Commission rejected the Board's argument that the Board is not subject to the Commission's jurisdiction. *Id.* at *5.

The administrative trial in this matter began on February 17, 2011. On February 28, 2011, Complaint Counsel rested and Respondent, on the record at trial, made an oral motion to dismiss at the close of Complaint Counsel's evidence, pursuant to Commission Rule 3.22(a).³ Complaint Counsel stated its opposition to the motion to dismiss on the record at trial on February 28, 2011.⁴ By Order dated March 30, 2011, immediately after the hearing record was closed, Respondent's motion to dismiss made at the close of the evidence was denied on the ground that Respondent failed to demonstrate that the Complaint should be dismissed for failure to establish a prima facie case. The March 30, 2011 Order advised the parties that the issues raised by Respondent's motion to dismiss, to the extent necessary or appropriate in regard to a determination of the merits for the Initial Decision in this case, and to the extent briefed by the parties in their post-trial briefs, would be addressed in the Initial Decision when issued. Those issues have been decided against Respondent, as fully discussed herein.

³ Respondent's arguments in support of its Motion are set forth in the transcript of the hearing on February 28, 2011, pages 1418-1424.

⁴ Complaint Counsel's arguments in Opposition to the Motion are set forth in the transcript of the hearing on February 28, 2011, pages 1424-1432.

The administrative trial concluded on March 16, 2011 and the record was closed on March 30, 2011.⁵ Over 800 exhibits were admitted, 16 witnesses testified, either live or by deposition, and there are 3,047 pages of trial transcript. The parties' proposed findings of fact, replies to proposed findings of fact, post-trial briefs, and reply briefs total 1,501 pages.

Rule 3.51(a) of the Commission's Rules of Practice states that "[t]he Administrative Law Judge shall file an initial decision within 70 days after the filing of the last filed initial or reply proposed findings of fact, conclusions of law and order . . ." 16 C.F.R. § 3.51(a). The parties filed concurrent post-trial briefs and proposed findings of fact on April 25, 2011. The parties filed replies to the other's proposed findings and briefs on May 5, 2011. Pursuant to Commission Rule 3.41(b)(6), closing arguments were held on May 11, 2011. This Initial Decision is filed in compliance with the timeframe required in Commission Rule 3.51(a).

C. Evidence

This Initial Decision is based on the exhibits properly admitted into evidence, the transcripts of testimony at trial, and the briefs and proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law, and the replies thereto, submitted by the parties. Citations to specific numbered findings of fact in this Initial Decision are designated by "F."⁶

⁵ On the record at trial on March 16, 2011, the parties made a joint motion seeking an order holding open the hearing record until March 30, 2011, in order to allow the parties to submit a written filing in connection with designations and counter-designations of deposition testimony, and objections to designated testimony ("Joint Motion"). On March 16, 2011, on the record at trial, the Joint Motion was granted and the record was held open for purposes of receiving deposition testimony.

⁶ References to the record are abbreviated as follows:

CX - Complaint Counsel's Exhibit

RX – Respondent's Exhibit

JX – Joint Exhibit

Tr. - Transcript of testimony before the Administrative Law Judge

Dep. – Transcript of Deposition

IHT – Investigational Hearing Transcript

CCB - Complaint Counsel's Post-Trial Brief

CCRB - Complaint Counsel's Post-Trial Reply Brief

CCFF - Complaint Counsel's Proposed Findings of Fact

RB – Respondent's Post-Trial Brief

RRB - Respondent's Reply Brief

RFF - Respondent's Proposed Findings of Fact

This Initial Decision is also based on a consideration of the whole record relevant to the issues and addresses the material issues of fact and law. Proposed findings of fact not included in this Initial Decision were rejected, either because they were not supported by the evidence or because they were not dispositive or material to the determination of the allegations of the Complaint or the defenses thereto. The Commission has held that Administrative Law Judges are not required to discuss the testimony of each witness or all exhibits that are presented during the administrative adjudication. In re Amrep Corp., No. 9018, 102 F.T.C. 1362, 1670, 1983 FTC LEXIS 17, *566-67 (Nov. 2, 1983). Further, administrative adjudicators are "not required to make subordinate findings on every collateral contention advanced, but only upon those issues of fact, law, or discretion which are 'material.'" Minneapolis & St. Louis Ry. Co. v. United States, 361 U.S. 173, 193-94 (1959). Accord Stauffer Labs., Inc. v. FTC, 343 F.2d 75, 89 (9th Cir. 1965). See also Borek Motor Sales, Inc. v. National Labor Relations Bd., 425 F.2d 677, 681 (7th Cir. 1970) (holding that it is adequate for the Board to indicate that it had considered each of the company's exceptions, even if only some of the exceptions were discussed, and stating that "[m]ore than that is not demanded by the [Administrative Procedure Act] and would place a severe burden upon the agency").

Under Commission Rule 3.51(c)(1), "[a]n initial decision shall be based on a consideration of the whole record relevant to the issues decided, and shall be supported by reliable and probative evidence." 16 C.F.R. § 3.51(c)(1); *see In re Chicago Bridge & Iron Co.*, No. 9300, 138 F.T.C. 1024, 1027 n.4, 2005 FTC LEXIS 215, at *3 n.4 (Jan. 6, 2005). Under the Administrative Procedure Act ("APA"), an Administrative Law Judge may not issue an order "except on consideration of the whole record or those parts thereof cited by a party and supported by and in accordance with the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence." 5 U.S.C. § 556(d). All findings of fact in this Initial Decision are supported by reliable, probative, and substantial evidence.

D. Burden of Proof

The parties' burdens of proof are governed by Federal Trade Commission Rule 3.43(a), Section 556(d) of the Administrative Procedure Act ("APA"), and case law. Pursuant

to Commission Rule 3.43(a), "[c]ounsel representing the Commission . . . shall have the burden of proof, but the proponent of any factual proposition shall be required to sustain the burden of proof with respect thereto." 16 C.F.R. § 3.43(a). Under the APA, "[e]xcept as otherwise provided by statute, the proponent of a rule or order has the burden of proof." 5 U.S.C. § 556(d). The APA, "which is applicable to administrative adjudicatory proceedings unless otherwise provided by statute, 'establishes . . . [the] preponderance-of-the evidence standard." *In re Rambus Inc.*, 2006 FTC LEXIS 101, at *45 (Aug. 20, 2006) (quoting *Steadman v. SEC*, 450 U.S. 91, 95-102 (1981)), *rev'd on other grounds*, 522 F.3d 456 (D.C. Cir. 2008), *cert. denied*, 129 S. Ct. 1318 (2009). *See In re Automotive Breakthrough Sciences, Inc.*, No. 9275, 1998 FTC LEXIS 112, at *37 n.45 (Sept. 9, 1998) (holding that each finding must be supported by a preponderance of the evidence in the record); *In re Adventist Health System/West*, No. 9234, 1994 FTC LEXIS 54, at *28 (Apr. 1, 1994) ("Each element of the case must be established by a preponderance of the evidence.").

E. Summary of Initial Decision

The Commission, who issued the Complaint in this case, has determined in the State Action Opinion that the Respondent has no defense under the state action doctrine. Accordingly, in this Initial Decision, the Administrative Law Judge will conduct no analysis nor provide any Findings of Fact or Conclusions of Law regarding that issue, including whether or not teeth whitening services provided by non-dentists violates North Carolina law.

Complaint Counsel has demonstrated by a preponderance of the evidence that dentist members of the Board had a common scheme or design, and hence an agreement, to exclude non-dentists from the market for teeth whitening services and to deter potential providers of teeth whitening services from entering the market. To achieve this objective, dentist members of the Board agreed, expressly and/or implicitly, to cause the Board to: (a) send letters to nondentist teeth whitening providers, ordering them to cease and desist from offering teeth whitening services; (b) send letters to manufacturers of products and equipment used by nondentist providers, and other potential entrants, either ordering them to cease and desist from assisting clients offering teeth whitening services, or otherwise attempting to dissuade them from participating in the teeth whitening services market; (c) send letters to owners or

operators of malls to dissuade them from leasing to non-dentist providers of teeth whitening services; and (d) elicit the help of the North Carolina Board of Cosmetic Art Examiners to dissuade its licensees from providing teeth whitening services. The evidence further shows that dentists and non-dentists compete with one another in the relevant market for teeth whitening services in North Carolina, and that the Board's concerted action to exclude non-dentist provided teeth whitening services from the market constitutes an agreement to exclude rivals, which by its nature has the tendency to harm competition.

Complaint Counsel further proved by a preponderance of the evidence that the Board had the power to exclude non-dentists from the teeth whitening services market in North Carolina by using its apparent authority as a state agency to declare the practice illegal and direct non-dentists to stop that practice. The Board's power to exclude was also demonstrated by evidence that, as a result of the Board's conduct, non-dentist providers did, in fact, exit the market and mall owners and operators refused to lease space to non-dentist teeth whiteners.

Complaint Counsel also demonstrated by a preponderance of the evidence that the Board's concerted actions to exclude non-dentist teeth whitening in North Carolina resulted in anticompetitive effects, which include: (1) non-dentist teeth whitening providers exited the North Carolina market; (2) consumer choice was limited, by the exclusion of non-dentist teeth whitening providers; (3) manufacturers of products used by non-dentist providers of teeth whitening services lost sales in North Carolina; and (4) mall owners and operators stopped leasing to non-dentist providers.

Based on the foregoing, absent a valid procompetitive justification, the Board's conduct constitutes an unreasonable restraint of trade and an unfair method of competition, in violation of Section 5 of the FTC Act. None of the procompetitive justifications proffered by Respondent is valid under applicable antitrust law.

Respondent's proffered procompetitive justification that, in acting to restrict nondentist teeth whitening, the Board was acting as a state agency enforcing the North Carolina Dental Practice Act ("Dental Practice Act"), to protect the public interest, and not to promote economic self-interest, is essentially a reiteration of Respondent's claim that the Board's

conduct is exempt from antitrust liability by the state action doctrine, which has been decided against Respondent by the Commission. State Action Opinion, 2011 WL 549449, at *1, 17.

Respondent's proffered procompetitive justification that the Board's actions to exclude non-dentist provided teeth whitening services were intended to promote social welfare and/or public safety, *inter alia* by protecting consumers from dangerous or unsafe teeth whitening services, is also not a valid justification under applicable antitrust law. A restraint on competition cannot be justified solely on the basis of social welfare concerns, including concerns about health hazards. Accordingly, this Initial Decision will not analyze, or provide any Findings of Fact or Conclusions of Law regarding, whether or not non-dentist teeth whitening is harmful or unsafe for consumers.

Another of Respondent's proffered procompetitive justifications, that the restraints the Board placed upon non-dentist teeth whitening are procompetitive because they will ensure that teeth whitening services are offered at a cost that reflects the higher skills of dentistproviders, rather than at a cost reflecting the assertedly lower skills of non-dentists, is also rejected as invalid under applicable antitrust law. The risk that an inferior product will be marketed to, and chosen by, consumers is inherent in the nature of competition. To justify a restraint on the ground that competition itself is harmful contradicts the basic policy of the antitrust laws.

Finally, Respondent's proffered procompetitive justification that the Board's restraints on non-dentist provided teeth whitening services are procompetitive because they will promote legal competition between dentists in the teeth whitening services market, rather than the allegedly illegal practice of non-dentist teeth whitening services, is without merit. Respondent cites no case holding that non-dentist teeth whitening is a violation of North Carolina law, and this Initial Decision need not and does not decide that issue. Moreover, that a particular practice may be unlawful is not, in itself, a sufficient justification for collusion among competitors to prevent it.

Accordingly, because Respondent's proffered procompetitive justifications are invalid under applicable antitrust law, the Board's concerted action to exclude non-dentists from the

market for teeth whitening services in North Carolina, in which North Carolina dentists and dentist Board members compete, constitutes an unreasonable restraint of trade and an unfair method of competition in violation of Section 5 of the FTC Act. The Board's arguments that the relief sought in this case violates the Tenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and exceeds the federal government's Commerce Clause powers are rejected. Having found such violation, an order will be entered, the provisions of which are designed to ensure an end to the unlawful conduct, rectify past violations, and prevent reoccurrence, and are reasonably related to the violations found to exist.

II. FINDINGS OF FACT

A. The North Carolina State Board of Dental Examiners

1. The North Carolina State Board of Dental Examiners (the "Board") is an agency of the State of North Carolina and is charged with regulating the practice of dentistry in the interest of the public health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of North Carolina. The Board is organized, exists, and transacts business under and by virtue of the laws of the State of North Carolina. Its principal office and place of business is located at 507 Airport Blvd., Suite 105, Morrisville, NC 27560. (Joint Stipulations of Law and Fact ¶ 1).

1. Composition and election/selection of Board members

a. Composition of the Board

- The Board consists of eight members: six licensed dentists, one licensed dental hygienist, and one consumer member. The consumer member is neither a dentist nor a dental hygienist. (CX0019 at 001, N.C. Gen. Stat. § 90-22(b) (hereafter "Dental Practice Act § "); Joint Stipulations of Law and Fact ¶ 2; White, Tr. 2194).
- 3. The dental hygienist member of the Board is elected to the Board by the licensed dental hygienists of North Carolina. (CX0019 at 001, Dental Practice Act § 90-22(b); White, Tr. 2242-2243).
- 4. The consumer member of the Board is appointed by the Governor. (Joint Stipulations of Law and Fact ¶ 3; White, Tr. 2243).
- 5. The consumer member was added to the Board to look out for the welfare of the consumer and to ensure that dentist Board members act in the public interest, even when such action may be unpopular with dentists. (CX0449 at 005; CX0219 at 005; CX0242 at 005; CX028 at 005; CX0559 at 008 (Efird, Dep. at 23)).

b. Dentist members of the Board are practicing dentists

- 6. Each dentist elected to the Board must be licensed and actively engaged in the practice of dentistry while serving on the Board. (CX0019 at 001, Dental Practice Act § 90-22(b); CX0574 at 007 (White, IHT at 25)).
- 7. Since June 2002, all dentists serving on the Board have been full-time practicing dentists in North Carolina. (CX0563 at 003-004, 010 (Goode, IHT at 9-10, 34)). Board members Allen, Burnham, Brown, Feingold, Hardesty, Holland, Morgan, Owens, and Wester (more fully defined in Section II.B.1 *infra*) were actively practicing when they served on the Board. (CX0554 at 006 (Allen, Dep. at 17); CX0555 at 004 (Brown, Dep. at 8); CX0556 at 004 (Burnham, Dep. 9); CX0560 at 004 (Feingold, Dep. at 9); Hardesty, Tr. 2760-2761; CX0567 at 006 (Holland, Dep. at 14); CX0569 at 004 (Morgan, Dep. at 9); Owens, Tr. 1435; CX0572 at 004 (Wester, Dep. at 7)).
- 8. During their tenure as Board members, dentist Board members continue to provide for-profit dental services, including teeth whitening services. (CX0560 at 48 (Feingold, Dep. at 183-184); CX0567 at 017 (Holland, Dep. at 58); CX0572 at 009 (Wester, Dep. 26-28); CX0554 at 007 (Allen, Dep. at 18-19)).
- 9. Many of the dentist Board members provide teeth whitening services through their private practices and derive income from it. (CX0467 at 001 (Dr. Owens); CX0340 at 002 (Dr. Morgan); CX0606 at 005 (Dr. Burnham); CX0614 at 001 (Dr. Wester); CX0554 at 006 (Allen, Dep. at 18); CX0556 at 038 (Burnham, Dep. at 145-146); CX0560 at 004-005 (Feingold, Dep. at 9-10); CX0564 at 011 (Hall, Dep. at 33-34); CX0565 at 005 (Hardesty, Dep. at 15); CX0567 at 017 (Holland, Dep. at 56-58); CX0569 at 009 (Morgan, Dep. at 27-30); CX0572 at 009 (Wester, Dep. at 20-21, 26-27)).
- Dr. Owens and his partner earned over \$75,000 from teeth whitening services from 2005 through 2010. (CX0467 at 001; Owens, Tr. at 1589-1590). Dr. Owens earned revenue from teeth whitening during the period of time when he assigned teeth whitening investigations to himself, in his capacity as Secretary-Treasurer of the Board. (Owens, Tr. 1579). Dr. Owens is also the case officer on most of the teeth whitening cases. (White, Tr. 2224).
- 11. Dr. Hardesty earned over \$40,000 from teeth whitening services from 2005 through 2010. (CX0378 at 012).
- 12. Board members have a significant, nontrivial financial interest in the business of their profession, including teeth whitening. (F. 9-11; Kwoka, Tr. 1114; CX0826 at 029 (Baumer, Dep. at 106-107) (Board members "may well be influenced by the impact on the bottom line," including the financial interest of dentists, in deciding whether to ban non-dentist teeth whitening)). They are in a position to enhance their incomes and

their constituents' incomes. (Kwoka, Tr. 1115-1116; F. 13-15, 101-104, 108 (dentists earn income from teeth whitening services)).

c. The Board is funded by licensees

- 13. The Board is funded by the dues or fees paid by licensed dentists and dental hygienists in North Carolina. (CX0577 at 009 (Oyster, Dep. at 26); CX0556 at 061 (Burnham, Dep. at 237)).
- 14. The operating budget for the Board comes from license fees paid by North Carolina dentists and hygienists. (Joint Stipulations of Law and Fact ¶ 11).

d. Dentists elect dentists for positions on the Board

- 15. The six dentist members of the Board are elected to the Board directly by other licensed dentists in North Carolina. (CX0019 at 001, Dental Practice Act § 90-22(b), (c); Joint Stipulations of Law and Fact ¶ 6; White, Tr. 2242).
- 16. Only licensed dentists from North Carolina are eligible voters in Board elections of dentists. (Joint Stipulations of Law and Fact ¶ 4).
- 17. Board members seek support from other dentists when they run for a position on the Board. (CX0574 at 008 (White, IHT at 28-29); Hardesty, Tr. 2796-2798).
- 18. If an election is contested, candidates may distribute letters and make speeches that discuss the reasons they want to serve on the Board, including their positions on issues that may come before the Board. (Joint Stipulations of Law and Fact ¶ 9). An election is "contested" when there are more candidates running for election than there are available Board positions. (Joint Stipulations of Law and Fact ¶ 8).
- 19. Board member Dr. Hardesty's efforts to get elected included sending a letter to all the licensed dentists in the state and asking for their vote, and meeting and talking with dentists at local dental society meetings. (CX0566 at 009 (Hardesty, IHT at 32-33)).
- 20. Board member Dr. Feingold sent a letter to all licensed dentists in North Carolina expressing his desire to be elected to the Board and solicited support for his election to the Board at the three-day annual convention of the North Carolina Dental Society ("NCDS"). (CX0560 at 011 (Feingold, Dep. at 34-35)).
- 21. Board member Dr. Burnham sent letters to all of the licensed dentists in North Carolina each time that he ran for a Board position telling them that he would appreciate their vote. (CX0556 at 017-018 (Burnham, Dep. at 61-62)).
- 22. Board member Dr. Brown sent a letter to dentists in North Carolina stating that he was interested in continuing the Board's practice of dentists' governing themselves when he ran in his first contested election. (CX0555 at 037 (Brown, Dep. at 140-141)).

23. Board member Dr. Stanley Allen sent letters to North Carolina dentists during his campaigns for a Board position in which explained his qualifications and why he should be elected. (CX0554 at 017 (Allen, Dep. at 58-59)).

e. Board member terms

- 24. The dentist members of the Board are elected for three-year terms and can run for reelection, but no person shall be nominated, elected, or appointed to serve more than two consecutive terms on the Board. (CX0019 at 001, Dental Practice Act § 90-22(b); Joint Stipulations of Law and Fact ¶ 7).
- 25. Some of the dentist members of the Board have served two or more terms. Drs. Allen, Brown, Burnham, Hardesty, and Owens have served two terms on the Board. (CX0554 at 004 (Allen, Dep. at 7); CX0555 at 004 (Brown, Dep. at 9); CX0556 at 007 (Burnham, Dep. at 20); CX0565 at 007 (Hardesty, Dep. at 20-21); CX0570 at 005 (Owens, Dep. at 11-12)). Drs. Morgan and Holland have served three or more terms on the Board. (CX0569 at 004-005 (Morgan, Dep. at 9-12); CX0567 at 005 (Holland, Dep. at 10-11)).

f. Members of the Board from 2005 through 2010

- 26. The officers of the Board are elected by the Board members. (White, Tr. 2202).
- 27. For the Board term year starting in August 2005, the Board consisted of Stanley L. Allen (President), Benjamin W. Brown (Immediate Past President), Joseph S. Burnham, (Secretary-Treasurer), Neplus H. Hall (Dental Hygienist Member), Zannie Poplin Efird (Consumer Member), Clifford O. Feingold, W. Stan Hardesty, and Ronald K. Owens. (CX0086 at 002, Annual Report to the Governor 2006).
- 28. For the Board term year starting in August 2006, the Board consisted of Joseph S. Burnham (President), Stanley L. Allen (Immediate Past President), W. Stan Hardesty (Secretary-Treasurer), Neplus H. Hall (Dental Hygienist Member), Zannie Poplin Efird (Consumer Member), Clifford O. Feingold, C. Wayne Holland, and Ronald K. Owens. (CX0088 at 002, Annual Report to the Governor, 2007).
- 29. For the Board term year starting in August 2007, the Board consisted of W. Stan Hardesty (President), Joseph S. Burnham (Immediate Past President), Ronald K. Owens (Secretary-Treasurer), Neplus H. Hall (Dental Hygienist Member), Zannie Poplin Efird (Consumer Member), Clifford O. Feingold, C. Wayne Holland, and Brad C. Morgan. (CX0089 at 002, Annual Report to the Governor, 2008).
- 30. For the Board term year starting in August 2008, the Board consisted of Ronald K. Owens (President), W. Stan Hardesty (Immediate Past President), C. Wayne Holland (Secretary-Treasurer), Jennifer A. Sheppard (Dental Hygienist Member), Zannie

Poplin Efird (Consumer Member), Joseph S. Burnham, Brad C. Morgan, and Millard W. Wester. (CX0091 at 002, Annual Report to the Governor, 2009).

31. For the Board term year starting in August 2009 and ending in July 2010, the Board consisted of C. Wayne Holland (President), Ronald K. Owens (Immediate Past President), Brad C. Morgan (Secretary-Treasurer), Jennifer A. Sheppard (Dental Hygienist Member), James B. Hemby, Jr. (Consumer Member), W. Stan Hardesty, Kenneth M. Sadler, and Millard W. Wester. (CX0091 at 002-005, Annual Report to the Governor – 2009).

	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				
BOARD OF	Term	Term	Term	Term	Term
DENTAL	2005-06	2006-07	2007-08	2008-09	2009-10
EXAMINERS					
President	Allen	Burnham	Hardesty	Owens	Holland
Immediate Past	Brown	Allen	Burnham	Hardesty	Owens
President					
Secretary-	Burnham	Hardesty	Owens	Holland	Morgan
Treasurer					
Dentist	Feingold	Feingold	Feingold	Burnham	Hardesty
Members	Hardesty	Holland	Holland	Morgan	Wester
	Owens	Owens	Morgan	Wester	Sadler
Hygenist	Hall	Hall	Hall	Sheppard	Sheppard
Member					
Consumer	Efrid	Efird	Efird	Efrid	Hemby
Member					

32. The following chart shows the Board members from 2005 to July 2010. (F. 27-31).

2. The authority and duties of the Board

- 33. The Board is authorized and empowered by the Legislature of North Carolina to enforce the provisions of the Dental Practice Act. (Joint Stipulations of Law and Fact ¶ 12).
- 34. The Board generally meets once a month for three days. (White, Tr. 2194; CX0562 at 004 (Friddle, IHT at 12)).

a. The Board's authority over North Carolina dentists

35. The Board is the sole licensing authority for dentists in North Carolina. (CX0019 at 007, Dental Practice Act § 90-29(a)). The Board has the authority to issue licenses, renew licenses, and take disciplinary actions against dentists practicing in North Carolina. (CX0019 at 013, 015, 020, 021, Dental Practice Act §§ 90-30, 31, 34, 40, 40.1, 41).

- 36. The dental hygienist member and consumer member of the Board cannot participate or vote on Board matters concerning the issuance, renewal, or revocation of a dentist's license. The consumer member of the Board cannot participate or vote on Board matters concerning the issuance, renewal, or revocation of a dental hygienist's license. (CX0019 at 001, Dental Practice Act § 90-22(b)).
- 37. The Dental Practice Act provides that the consumer member and the dental hygienist member are excluded from participating or voting on matters involving the "issuance, renewal or revocation of the license to practice dentistry," and, in the case of the consumer member, the license to practice dental hygiene. (CX0019 at 001, Dental Practice Act § 90-22(b)).
- 38. The Dental Practice Act does not prohibit the consumer member or the hygienist member from serving as the case officer in a non-dentist teeth whitening investigation. (Hardesty, Tr. 2838).
- 39. The Dental Practice Act does not prohibit the consumer member or the hygienist member from participating in investigations of unlicensed practice of dentistry by non-dentist teeth whiteners. (Wester, Tr. 1334-1335).
- 40. Despite the facts set forth above in F. 37-39, the dental hygienist member and consumer member of the Board were excluded from participating in investigations of the unlicensed practice of dentistry, including investigations of non-dental teeth whitening. (Hardesty, Tr. 2838) (case officer assignments in teeth whitening investigations are reserved for dentists); CX0554 at 013 (Allen, Dep. at 44) (Dr. Allen never appointed the consumer member or the hygienist member to be on an investigative panel for an unauthorized practice of dentistry investigation); CX0559 at 008 (Efird, Dep. at 23) (consumer member of the Board did not participate in unauthorized practice of dentistry matters); CX0564 at 005 (Hall, Dep. at 12-13) (dental hygienist member did not participate in unlicensed practice of dentistry investigations).

b. The Board's authority relating to non-dentists

- 41. The Dental Practice Act provides that it is unlawful for an individual to practice dentistry in North Carolina without a current license to practice dentistry issued by the Board. (CX0019 at 007, 020, Dental Practice Act § 90-29(a), 40, 40.1(a)).
- 42. The Dental Practice Act sets forth practices that constitute the practice of dentistry. (CX0019 at 007-008, Dental Practice Act § 90-29(b)). Under the Dental Practice Act, a person shall be deemed to be practicing dentistry if that person "[r]emoves stains, accretions or deposits from the human teeth." (CX0019 at 007-008, Dental Practice Act § 90-29(b)(2)).

- 43. Under the Dental Practice Act, the North Carolina State Board of Dental Examiners may bring an action to enjoin the practice of dentistry by any person who has not been duly licensed in the superior court of any county in which the acts occurred or in which the defendant resides. (CX0019 at 020-021, Dental Practice Act § 90-40.1(c)).
- 44. The Dental Practice Act states that in the event of suspected instances of the unlicensed practice of dentistry: the Board may petition a state court for an injunction, (CX0019 at 020-021, Dental Practice Act § 90-40.1). The Board may not prosecute criminally for unlicensed practice of dentistry; however, it may refer matters to the District Attorney for criminal prosecution. (CX0581 at 021-022 (Bakewell, Dep. at 76-79)).
- 45. The Board has no authority over non-dentists, and its only authorized recourse against non-dentists engaged in what the Board believes to be the practice of dentistry is to go through the courts. (CX0554 at 034 (Allen, Dep. at 129); CX0019 at 006, 007, 020-021, Dental Practice Act § 90-27, 29, 40, 40.1).
- 46. The Board's authority to hold administrative hearings under the Dental Practice Act is limited to addressing conduct of its licensees or applicants for such a license. (CX0019 at 023, Dental Practice Act § 90-41.1(a)). The Board's authority to hold administrative hearings under the Dental Practice Act does not include claims that a non-licensee is engaging in the unlicensed practice of dentistry. (CX0019 at 023, Dental Practice Act § 90-41.1(a)).
- 47. The Board does not conduct hearings for unlicensed practice of dentistry matters. (CX0554 at 013 (Allen, Dep. at 43); CX0574 at 011 (White, IHT at 39)).
- 48. The Board does not have authority to discipline unlicensed individuals. (Owens, Tr. 1443, 1516).
- 49. The Board does not have the legal authority to order anyone to stop violating the Dental Practice Act. (White, Tr. 2284-2288).

B. The Witnesses

1. Fact witnesses

50. Set forth below, in alphabetical order, are the identities of the witnesses who testified either in person at the hearing or through deposition testimony:

Dentist Board members

51. Dr. Stanley L. Allen, Jr. served two three-year terms on the Board, from August 2001 through July 2007. Dr. Allen has also been a member of the NCDS since he arrived in North Carolina. (CX0554 at 004-006 (Allen, Dep. at 7-8, 13-14)).

- 52. Dr. Benjamin W. Brown served two terms on the Board and was President from 2005 through 2006. He has also held the position of Board Secretary/Treasurer twice and was the chair of the sedation and general anesthesia committee for the Board. Dr. Brown has been in practice since 1967 and has a specialty in endodontics. (CX0555 at 003-005 (Brown, Dep. at 7-12)).
- 53. Dr. Joseph S. Burnham, Jr., a general dentist who has been in practice for 42 years, was first elected to the Board in 2003 for a three-year term. Dr. Burnham ran for a second term on the Board in 2006, was reelected, and served another three-year term. (CX0556 at 004-005, 007, 009 (Burnham, Dep. at 9-10, 20-21, 28)). While he was a member of the Board, Dr. Burnham would give reports about what the Board was doing to the Second District Dental Society's executive meetings as an ex-officio member. Dr. Burnham has occasionally sat as a delegate in the house of representatives at the NCDS. (CX0556 at 005 (Burnham, Dep. at 12)).
- 54. Dr. Clifford Feingold is a general dentist who has been in practice for 34 years. Dr. Feingold became a Board member in August 2005 and served through August 2008. (CX0560 at 004-005 (Feingold, Dep. at 9, 12)).
- 55. Dr. Willis Stanton Hardesty, Jr. is a licensed dentist in Raleigh, North Carolina. He served two terms on the Board, from August 2004 through July 2010. He served as President of the Board from August 2007 through August 2008. (Hardesty, Tr. 2759, 2761-2762; CX0565 at 007 (Hardesty, Dep. at 20-21)). Dr. Hardesty was a member of the Academy of General Dentistry, the North Carolina Academy of General Dentistry, and the American Academy of Cosmetic Dentistry. At the North Carolina Academy of General Dentistry, Dr. Hardesty held "every office beginning with a delegate through presidency and on to the past presidency", and was a delegate to the House of Delegates of the Academy of General Dentistry. The North Carolina Academy of General Dentistry has as one of its purposes the furthering of interest of dentists in the dental profession. There was a multi-year overlap between Dr. Hardesty's service in officer positions at the North Carolina Academy of General Dentistry and a delegate to the House of Delegates of the House of Delegates of the Academy of Delegates of the Academy of General Dentistry has as one of its purposes the furthering of interest of dentists in the dental profession. There was a multi-year overlap between Dr. Hardesty's service in officer positions at the North Carolina Academy of General Dentistry and a delegate to the House of Delegates of the Academy of Delegates of the Academy of General Dentistry and Dr. Hardesty's service on the Board. (Hardesty, Tr. 2798-2800).
- 56. Dr. Bradley C. Morgan is currently serving on the Board and has had a general dentistry practice in Canton, North Carolina since December 1981. Dr. Morgan also has been a member of the American Dental Association and the NCDS. Dr. Morgan believes he served on the legislation committee and the dental education committee of the NCDS. (CX0569 at 004-007 (Morgan, Dep. at 9-10, 16-19, 21)).
- 57. Dr. Ronald K. Owens is a general dentist who has been licensed in the State of North Carolina since 1996. His dental practice is currently located in Winston-Salem, North Carolina. Dr. Owens has been a member of the Board since August 2005 and is the current President of the Board until his term expires on July 31, 2011. (Owens, Tr. 1434-1435, 1439-1440).

58. Dr. Millard W. Wester III is a general dentist practicing in Henderson, North Carolina. He became licensed to practice dentistry in North Carolina in August 1980. Dr. Wester has been a member of the Board since 2008, and became Secretary-Treasurer in August 2010. His first term will expire in July 2011. (Wester, Tr. 1276-1278, 1281, 1315-1316).

Non-dentist Board members

- 59. Ms. Zannie Poplin Efird was the Consumer Representative on the Board from August 2003 until August 2009, serving two terms. (CX0559 at 004 (Efird, Dep. at 7)). Although she was a voting member of the Board, she did not vote on disciplinary matters involving dentists and hygienists, did not participate in any Board matters relating to the unlicensed practice of dentistry, and did not participate in any votes on teeth whitening matters. (CX0559 at 004-008 (Efird, Dep. at 7, 16, 23)).
- 60. Ms. Neplus S. Hall was the dental hygiene representative of the Board from 2002 through 2008. Ms. Hall did not participate in any discussions relating to teeth whitening and was not involved in any manner with the Board's investigations of teeth whitening. (CX0564 at 005 (Hall, Dep. at 12-13)).

Other witnesses associated with the Board

- Ms. Carolin Bakewell has served as outside counsel to the Board through her own firm, Carolin Bakewell PLLC, since January 2010. Previously, from September 2006, Ms. Bakewell was in-house counsel for the Board. (CX0581 at 005 (Bakewell, Dep. at 10)).
- 62. Ms. Casie Smith Goode is the Assistant Director of Investigations for the Board, and has held this position since approximately 2004. She began working for the Board in June 2002 as an executive assistant. As Assistant Director of Investigations, Goode assists the director of investigations, Terry Friddle (F. 64), in overseeing investigations. Goode sets up files, drafts correspondence, makes copies, and communicates with case officers (*see* F. 178). (CX0563 at 003-004 (Goode, IHT at 9-10)). Goode and Friddle both work with three of the six dentist Board members in their roles as case officers. (CX0563 at 004, 027-028 (Goode, IHT at 10-11, 105-107)).
- 63. Mr. William Linebaugh Dempsey has been employed as an investigator with the Board since June 2003. Mr. Dempsey investigates teeth whitening complaints by observing the kiosk or salon at which the teeth whitening services are performed. (See F. 186, 188). He often takes pictures and may write notes on topics including, if chairs or LED lights were set up, or if providers were wearing lab coats. (CX0557 at 004, 009 (Dempsey, Dep. at 8, 28-29); CX0558 at 003 (Dempsey, IHT at 7)).
- 64. Ms. Terry W. Friddle is the Deputy Operations Officer for the Board and has worked for the Board for 29 years. As Deputy Operations Officer she is "second in

command" at the Board and considers herself the director of investigations. Ms. Friddle reports to both the Board's Chief Operating Officer ("COO") Bobby White and the individual Board members. She oversees the investigative process and makes preparations for the Board's meetings. (CX0561 at 004-005, 006 (Friddle, Dep. at 8-10, 15); CX0562 at 006 (Friddle, IHT at 18)).

- 65. Dr. Larry Tilley practices general dentistry in Raleigh, North Carolina. Dr. Tilley has worked as a paid consultant for the Board for about twenty years. Dr. Tilley evaluates complaints, examines complainants, and reports back to the Board. Dr. Tilley acts as a consultant for the Board two or three times a year, on issues such as dentures, decay, crowns, and general dental procedures. Dr. Tilley has consulted for the Board on one teeth whitening complaint. (Tilley, Tr. 1997, 2004-2007).
- 66. Mr. Bobby White is the Chief Operating Officer of the Board. He has had this position since February 2004. He is a licensed attorney in North Carolina. Mr. White's duties include human resources, payroll, insurance, contract negotiations, and advising the Board with regard to disciplinary and legal matters. As part of his duties, he has been designated as the media contact for the Board, and the Board's representative with the North Carolina legislature and serves as liaison with the NCDS. (White, Tr. 2189-2190, 2256-2257; CX0574 at 004, 020 (White IHT at 11-12, 77)).

Other dentists

- 67. Dr. William M. Litaker has practiced dentistry for 25 years. He is a member of the NCDS, and acts as an NCDS delegate to the American Dental Association and also is a member of the NCDS legislative committee. Dr. Litaker was a trustee of the NCDS from 1999 through 2005. Additionally, from 2006 through 2009, in successive one-year terms, he was Secretary/Treasurer, President-elect, President, and Past President of the NCDS. (CX0576 at 004-005 (Litaker, Dep. at 7, 11)).
- 68. Dr. Gary D. Oyster has practiced general dentistry for 37 years. Dr. Oyster's practice is located in Raleigh, North Carolina. Dr. Oyster has been the chairman of the legislative committee of the NCDS since approximately 1996. As chairman of the NCDS legislative committee, Dr. Oyster works with the committee to construct an agenda, which is for presentation to the NCDS board of trustees, and enlists the political priorities of the NCDS. (CX0577 at 004-006, 027 (Oyster, Dep. at 7-8, 13-15, 99)).
- 69. Dr. M. Alec Parker practiced general dentistry from 1979 through 2007. Dr. Parker ceased his dental practice in 2007 and became an employee of the NCDS. He initially acted in an associative or assistive position to the NCDS executive director until January 2008, when he became executive director. Dr. Parker remains the executive director of the NCDS. (CX0578 at 004-005 (Parker, Dep. at 9-13)).

Teeth whitening manufacturers or marketers

- 70. Mr. George Nelson is the President of WhiteScience, a teeth whitening manufacturing and marketing business located in Alpharetta, Georgia. WhiteScience manufactures and sells a teeth whitening system called SpaWhite. SpaWhite is principally marketed to spas, salons, fitness centers, trade shows, and mall locations. WhiteScience also sells a teeth whitening product to dentists called Artiste. (Nelson Tr. 721-722, 725-726, 729, 800).
- 71. Ms. Joyce Osborn is the president and founder of BEKS, Inc., which manufactures and distributes the BriteWhite Teeth Whitening System ("BriteWhite System"). BEKS, Inc., is located in Jasper, Alabama and has been in operation since 2004. Ms. Osborn is also the President of the Council for Cosmetic Teeth Whitening ("CCTW"), created in 2007 and incorporated in 2008, which is a trade association that promotes the cosmetic teeth whitening industry and provides a self-administered teeth whitening protocol for use by manufacturers and distributors of non-dentist teeth whitening systems. In addition, Ms. Osborn has operated a beauty salon and spa for more than 26 years. (Osborn, Tr. 646-647, 675, 687).
- 72. Mr. James Valentine is a co-founder of WhiteSmile USA, a manufacturer and marketer of teeth whitening products, founded in 2007. By 2008, WhiteSmile USA earned revenues of ten million dollars, had 125 to 130 employees, and operated in more than 60 Sam's Club stores across the United States. In its first three years of operation, WhiteSmile oversaw more than 100,000 in-store bleachings. (Valentine, Tr. 515, 546-548, 574-575).

Kiosk or salon operators

- 73. Mrs. Margie Hughes has been a licensed esthetician since 2005. Mrs. Hughes' training as an esthetician has included a 600-hour course at Central Carolina Community College in Sanford, North Carolina, and continuing education courses of at least eight hours per year. Mrs. Hughes operates her business as SheShe Skin, currently located within the Hair Republic Salon in Dunn, North Carolina. (Hughes, Tr. 928-933).
- 74. Mr. Brian Wyant opened a WhiteScience kiosk in 2007 after asking questions about the business over the phone and traveling to WhiteScience's headquarters in Atlanta for training. He received training on the protocol relating to teeth whitening, product information, issues relating to documentation, utilizing a consent form, and procedures for safety and cleanliness. (Wyant, Tr. 860, 864-866, 876-884, 892; CX0629 at 001-003).

Mall owner

75. Mr. John Gibson is a partner and Chief Operations Officer of Hull Storey Gibson Companies, L.L.C., also known as HSG. Mr. Gibson oversees the operations of HSG, a retail property management company that owns and operates 11.5 million square feet of retail space in seven states, including the management of five enclosed malls in North Carolina. (Gibson, Tr. 613-615).

Consumer

76. Mr. Brian Runsick is a consumer who underwent teeth bleaching at the BleachBright facility at Crabtree Valley Mall in February 2008. He testified regarding a complaint he filed with the Board in which he claimed injury as a result of the teeth bleaching. (Runsick, Tr. 2105-2106).

2. Expert witnesses

a. Complaint Counsel's expert witnesses

(i) Dr. John Kwoka, Ph.D.

- 77. Dr. John Kwoka is a Professor of Economics at Northeastern University. He has a bachelor's degree in economics from Brown University and a Ph.D. in economics from the University of Pennsylvania. Dr. Kwoka has taught economics, at various institutions, for over 30 years. (Kwoka, Tr. 969-972).
- 78. Dr. Kwoka worked for six years in the Bureau of Economics at the Federal Trade Commission, and one year each in the Antitrust Division of the Department of Justice and as a Special Assistant to the Director of the Common Carrier Bureau of the Federal Communications Commission. (Kwoka, Tr. 972-973).
- 79. Dr. Kwoka offered these opinions, in summary: that dentist and non-dentist providers of teeth whitening services compete with one another in the provision of teeth whitening services and are close substitutes for each other; that the Board represents licensed dentists in North Carolina and that such dentists have a material interest in prohibiting non-dentist teeth whitening; that the Board acted to prohibit non-dentist teeth whitening services in North Carolina; that exclusion of non-dentist teeth whitening service providers is harmful to consumers because it denies some consumers of options they prefer and likely increases the prices of the remaining options; that complete exclusion is not justified by any economic argument of the Board; that the Board's claims of harm from non-dentist teeth whitening have little evidentiary support; and that if such problems of harm do exist, they can be resolved through less restrictive remedies than exclusion of teeth whitening service providers. (CX0654 at 001; Kwoka, Tr. 982, 994, 996-997, 998, 1001-1002, 1114-1116).

(ii) Dr. Martin Giniger

80. Dr. Martin Giniger has been a licensed dentist since 1984. He also has a master's degree in oral medicine and a Ph.D. in biomedical science, specializing in oral

biology. (Giniger, Tr. 78-79). Dr. Giniger has also been a teacher and researcher. (CX0653 at 001-002).

- 81. Dr. Giniger has worked and consulted for numerous oral care companies, and has been involved in developing and/or testing the safety and effectiveness of a variety of oral care products, including teeth bleaching products. Dr. Giniger has been involved in the development of teeth bleaching products such as Colgate's Whitening Toothpastes and Systems, Discus' Dental NiteWhite with ACP at-home teeth whitening product, and Discus' Dental Zoom2 teeth whitening system for in-office use. (Giniger, Tr. 96-98; CX0653 at 002-003).
- 82. Dr. Giniger offered these opinions, in summary: that teeth bleaching, also commonly known as teeth whitening, is safe and effective regardless of whether it is provided by dentists or non-dentists; that teeth whitening is not the same thing as stain removal; that the Board's materials submitted as supporting exclusion of non-dentist teeth whitening service providers for reasons of actual or potential harm were not persuasive; that the operating protocols for non-dentist teeth whitening establishments that he reviewed indicated that there was no reason that appropriate sanitary conditions could not be maintained, even absent running water; that there is no evidence that non-dentist provided teeth whitening poses any greater risk than dentist provided teeth whitening; that consumers benefit from having a variety of safe alternatives for teeth whitening; and that the actions of the Board in excluding non-dentists from teeth whitening has needlessly harmed consumers. (CX0653 at 006-009).

b. Respondent's expert witnesses

(i) Dr. Van B. Haywood

- 83. Dr. Van B. Haywood has a D.M.D. from the Medical College of Georgia School of Dentistry, where he is now a professor of oral rehabilitation. He practiced dentistry for seven years in Georgia, and also taught at the University of North Carolina School of Dentistry before moving to the Medical College of Georgia. Dr. Haywood is also the director of continuing education at the Medical College of Georgia School of Dentistry. Dr. Haywood has researched and published on the safety and effects of tray bleaching, including the use of Nightguard Vital Bleaching at-home tray bleaching. (RX0077 at 002-003).
- 84. Dr. Haywood offered these opinions, in summary: that for safety reasons teeth whitening should always be preceded by a proper dental examination to determine the cause of discoloration or staining; that teeth whitening involves bleaching, which constitutes stain removal from teeth; that non-dentist teeth whiteners present themselves as health professionals with the requisite training and skill to diagnose and treat dental conditions; that the safety and quality of certain teeth whitening products is unknown; that teeth whitening without a prior dental exam may be wasteful, result in the masking of a clinical problem, or create an unsightly asthetic; and that teeth

whitening is the practice of dentistry, and is illegal under the North Carolina Dental Practice Act. (RX0077 at 004-006; Haywood, Tr. 2398, 2403-2404, 2545, 2571-2573).

(ii) Dr. David L. Baumer, Ph.D.

- 85. Dr. David L. Baumer has a Ph.D. in economics from the University of Virginia and a J.D. from the University of Miami. He is a Professor and Head of the Business Management Department at North Carolina State University, College of Management. He also has a consulting practice related to academics. Most of his work has been in the area of governmental regulation. Dr. Baumer was retained to review the expert report of Dr. John Kwoka. (RX0078 at 002, 005-006; Baumer, Tr. 1693-1694).
- Dr. Baumer offered these opinions, in summary: Dr. Kwoka's opinions that the Board 86. has a material interest in prohibiting non-dentist teeth whitening and that the Board's conduct has harmed consumers would apply to virtually every federal, state, or local professional and occupational licensing board; that a cartel model is an inappropriate method for evaluating governmental licensing boards; that the cartel model ignores evidence that licensing requirements curb fraud and protect public health and safety by preventing consumer harm at the hands of unqualified practitioners; and that Dr. Kwoka cites no evidence that prices charged by dentists for teeth whitening were or are being affected by the non-availability of non-dentist teeth whitening. Dr. Baumer also opined, in summary, that there is a rational basis for regulating the dental profession based on the health and safety of North Carolina citizens and for North Carolina law to require the majority of Board members to be practicing dentists; that restricting the unlicensed practice of dentistry is an obvious and desirable consequence of regulation; and that the Board is not a cartel, but rather excludes ungualified practitioners. (RX0078 at 002-005; Baumer, Tr. 1708; 1696-1697).

C. Jurisdictional Issues

- 87. The Board is an agency of the State of North Carolina, and is charged with regulating the practice of dentistry in the interest of the public health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of North Carolina. (Joint Stipulations of Law and Fact \P 1).
- 88. Manufacturers of teeth whitening equipment and products used by dentist and nondentist teeth whiteners are located outside the State of North Carolina. *See* Joint Stipulations of Law and Fact ¶ 21 (non-dentist teeth whiteners in North Carolina bought brand name products, including WhiteSmileUSA, BriteWhite, Beyond White Spa, Beyond Dental & Health, and SpaWhite) and ¶ 25 (dentist teeth whiteners in North Carolina used products by Zoom and Bright Smile); (F. 89-92).
- 89. WhiteSmile sells and licenses a teeth whitening system manufactured by DaVinci in California, and once operated in North Carolina. (Valentine, Tr. 520, 561, 567).

- 90. WhiteScience, a manufacturer of non-dentist teeth whitening systems located in Alpharetta, Georgia, sells its products nationally, and has sold some of its products into North Carolina. (Nelson, Tr. 733-734). WhiteScience operates in over 40 states. (Nelson, Tr. 800).
- 91. BriteWhite, a manufacturer of non-dentist teeth whitening systems located in Jasper, Alabama, sells its products nationally, and has sold some of its products into North Carolina. BriteWhite's products have been sold to customers in Florida, California, New York, Illinois, Ohio, Indiana, Texas, North Carolina and other states. (Osborn, Tr. 645, 668-670).
- 92. Board member Dr. Hardesty purchased the Zoom in-office teeth whitening system from Discus Dental, headquartered in Culver City, California, in 2002 or 2003, although he no longer uses this product in his office. (CX0535 at 001; CX0565 at 027 (Hardesty, Dep. at 98-100)).
- 93. Dentist and non-dentist teeth whiteners in North Carolina use instrumentalities of interstate communication in the conduct of their businesses, including without limitation, the telephone and the internet to communicate with manufacturers of teeth whitening equipment and products located outside the State of North Carolina. (*E.g.*, CX0268 at 001-002; CX0313 at 001-002; CX0605 at 003-004; CX0610 at 001-005; CX0036 at 003; CX0119 at 001-002; CX0620 at 001; CX0045 at 003; CX0054 at 006; CX0281 at 001; CX0312 at 001; Hughes, Tr. 934-936; Wyant, Tr. 861, 863-866).
- 94. Dentist and non-dentist teeth whiteners in North Carolina purchase and receive products and equipment that are shipped across state lines by manufacturers and suppliers located outside the State of North Carolina. (CX0050 at 001; CX0565 at 027 (Hardesty, Dep. at 98-100); Osborn, Tr. 668-670; Nelson, Tr. 733-734; Hughes, Tr. 934-936; CX0655 at 001-003; Wyant, Tr. 861, 863-864, 868-869, 891).
- 95. Dentist and non-dentist teeth whiteners in the State of North Carolina transfer money and other instruments of payment across state lines to pay for teeth whitening equipment and products received from manufacturers located outside the State of North Carolina. (CX0050 at 001; CX0565 at 027 (Hardesty, Dep. at 98-100); Osborn, Tr. 668-670; Nelson, Tr. 733-734; Wyant, Tr. 861, 863-864, 868-869, 891).
- 96. The Board sent at least 40 cease and desist letters to non-dentist teeth whiteners in North Carolina that contained various headings directing non-dentists to cease and desist offering teeth whitening services. (Joint Stipulations of Law and Fact ¶ 30; CX0042 at 001 to 041; Kwoka, Tr. 990; RX0078 at 008; CX0050 at 002-003; CX0069 at 001-002; CX0074 at 001-002; CX0077 at 001-002; CX0096 at 001-002; CX0097 at 001-002; CX0153; CX0155; CX0156; CX0386 at 001-002). Some recipients of cease and desist letters sent copies of those letters to their out-of-state suppliers of products, equipment, or facilities. (CX0119 at 001-002).

- 97. The Board sent at least eleven letters to third parties, including out-of-state property management companies that indicated that teeth whitening services offered at mall kiosks that are not supervised by a licensed North Carolina dentist is illegal. (Joint Stipulations of Law and Fact ¶ 31; CX0203 at 001; CX0204 at 001 (CBL & Associates, Chattanooga, Tennessee); CX0260 at 001 (General Growth Properties, Chicago, Illinois); CX0261 at 001 (Hendon Properties, Atlanta, Georgia); see also CX0205 at 001; CX0259 at 001; CX0260 at 001; CX0262 at 001; CX0263 at 001; CX0323 at 001; CX0324 at 001; CX0325 at 001).
- 98. The eleven letters referred to in F. 97 impacted out-of-state mall operators' decisions whether to rent kiosks or stores to non-dentist teeth whiteners in North Carolina. (Gibson, Tr. 627-628, 632-633; Wyant, Tr. 876-884; CX0629 at 001-002; CX0525 at 001).
- 99. The Board sent letters titled Notice to Cease and Desist to out-of-state manufacturers of teeth whitening products used by non-dentist teeth whiteners in North Carolina. (CX0100 at 001 (December 4, 2007, Notice to Cease and Desist to WhiteScience, Roswell, GA); CX0122 at 001-002 (October 7, 2008, Notice and Order to Cease and Desist to Florida WhiteSmile in Orlando, FL)).

D. The Relevant Market is Dentist Provided and Non-Dentist Provided Teeth Whitening Services

1. Teeth whitening services generally

- 100. Teeth whitening can be achieved in one of three methods: (1) bleaching or lightening, through the application of some form of peroxide hydrogen peroxide or carbamide peroxide; (2) through the use of aesthetic or prosthetic dental restorations, such as crowns, caps or veneers; and (3) through dental stain removal, either through the application of toothpaste or by going to the dentist to have stains scraped off, including by the use of rotary instruments to polish teeth. (Giniger, Tr. 128-132).⁷
- 101. A 1989 article publicized the discovery that the use of low level concentrations of hydrogen peroxide, if held against the teeth in a tray or other mechanism, could whiten teeth. A few years later, various companies started developing products for the purpose of whitening teeth and dentists began using this method to whiten patients' teeth. (Giniger, Tr. 149-150; CX0653 at 024; CX0550 at 002-003; CX0392 at 002).
- 102. The American Academy of Cosmetic Dentistry ("AACD") reported in 2004 and the American Dental Association's ("ADA") Counsel for Scientific Affairs reported in 2009 that teeth whitening or bleaching has become one of the most popular esthetic dental treatments over the past two decades. The AACD reported in 2004 that teeth

⁷ The Complaint challenges conduct relating only to the first method of teeth whitening. Complaint ¶¶ 8, 10. The term "teeth whitening" is used herein to refer to the first method of teeth whitening, bleaching or lightening through the application of some form of peroxide.

whitening or bleaching is the number one requested cosmetic dentistry procedure, and had increased more than 300% since 1996. (CX0397 at 001; CX0392 at 002).

- 103. A 2008 national Gallup Poll reported that over 80% of dentists nationwide engage in the practice of teeth whitening. (CX0513 at 007).
- 104. Some dentists in North Carolina earned thousands of dollars annually in revenue from the provision of teeth whitening procedures during the period from 2005 through August of 2010. (CX0599 at 003; CX0605 at 003; CX0616 at 021; CX0601 at 008; CX0608 at 002; CX0602 at 002; CX0600 at 003; CX0603 at 003).

2. Teeth whitening products and services methods

- 105. There are four categories of teeth whitening services or products available in North Carolina: (1) dentist in-office teeth whitening services; (2) dentist provided take-home teeth whitening products; (3) over-the-counter ("OTC") teeth whitening products; and (4) non-dentist teeth whitening services in salons, retail stores, and mall kiosks. (Kwoka, Tr. 981-984, 1168; Baumer, Tr. 1845; CX0392 at 002; CX0053 at 004-005; Osborn, Tr. 650; Valentine, Tr. 515).
- 106. The four alternative methods of teeth whitening (F.105) have a number of common characteristics. All of the methods use some form of peroxide hydrogen peroxide or carbamide peroxide and all involve application of that chemical in gel or strip form directly onto the teeth. All of the methods trigger the same chemical process that results in whiter teeth. (Kwoka, Tr. 997; Baumer, Tr. 1925-1926).
- 107. The four alternative methods of teeth whitening (F. 105) differ in ways that are important to consumers, including immediacy of results, ease of use, provider support, and price. (Giniger, Tr. 118-121; Haywood Tr. 2915-2917; Kwoka, Tr. 994-995; CX0653 at 005).

a. Dentist in-office teeth whitening services

- 108. Dentists offer and provide teeth whitening services in North Carolina. (CX0467 at 001; CX0578 at 007 (Parker Dep. at 12-14); CX0566 at 003 (Hardesty, IHT at 9); CX0576 at 005 (Litaker, Dep. at 11-12); CX0577 at 009 (Oyster, Dep. at 28); Wester, Tr. 1289; CX0554 at 007 (Allen, Dep. at 18-19); CX0641 at 001-067).
- 109. The teeth whitening products used by dentists for in-office teeth whitening generally have a higher concentration of the active ingredients hydrogen peroxide or carbamide peroxide than that typically available in non-dentist teeth whitening. Dentist provided in-office bleaching typically uses highly concentrated hydrogen peroxide (25% to 35%), applied multiple times during a single office visit. (Joint Stipulations of Law and Fact ¶ 24; Giniger, Tr. 169, 172; CX0653 at 021; RX0078 at 006).

- 110. Dental chair-side bleaching is performed by a dentist or supervised assistant in a dental chair at the dentist's office. The procedure includes a dental exam by the dentist to identify whether or not a patient is an appropriate candidate for teeth whitening services. (Giniger, Tr. 179-180; Haywood, Tr. 2472; CX0653 at 039).
- 111. During a preparatory time of up to 30 minutes, the patient's teeth are exposed using cheek retractors. Due to the high concentration of peroxide used in professional bleaching products (up to 38%), a protective barrier is applied to prevent the gums from burning. (Joint Stipulations of Law and Fact ¶ 24; Giniger, Tr. 168-169; Haywood Tr. 2692). The peroxide solution is thereafter painted directly on the teeth and a curing light is often placed in front of the teeth to activate the bleaching gel or expedite the whitening effect. After 30 minutes, the gel is usually suctioned off the teeth using a dental vacuum. The gel is reapplied, the light (if used) is set again, and the treatment is repeated up to two more times for a total of 60-120 minutes of actual bleaching time. (CX076 at 007 (Parker, Dep. at 21); CX0596 at 002; Giniger, Tr. 164-172; CX0653 at 040).
- 112. Dental chair-side bleaching can be done with or without the use of an accelerator light, which emits heat and ultra-violet radiation (UV) to accelerate whitening. (Giniger, Tr. 169; CX0653 at 021, 027).
- 113. To complement the accelerator light, dental chair-side formulations may also contain a photo or thermal activator, a chemical designed to interact with the light or heat to cause the peroxide to break down more quickly. (Giniger, Tr. 169, 172; CX0653 at 021; CX0809A; CX0809B).
- 114. Many dentists today use lights, such as light emitting diode (LED) lights, which generate neither appreciable UV nor heat, above the ambient temperature. (Giniger, Tr. 187-188; CX0632 at 011).
- 115. Patients having in-office teeth whitening wear protective glasses to prevent eye injury from the spatter of hydrogen peroxide as it is applied directly to the teeth or from UV in the event the dentist uses a UV-emitting light. (Giniger, Tr. 181-191).
- 116. Dentist in-office teeth whitening services provide results in one to three hours. (CX0601 at 026; CX0598 at 001; CX0641 at 040).
- 117. Dentist in-office teeth whitening services range widely in price, but charges between \$400 and \$500 are common. (Kwoka, Tr. 982; RX0078 at 006-007; CX0560 at 048 (Feingold Dep. at 183 (\$500)); CX0053 at 001-002 (\$400); CX0108 at 008 (\$400-\$900); CX0096 at 004 (\$400-\$600); Hardesty, Tr. at 2805-2806 (\$675-\$750); CX0578 at 005 (Parker, Dep. at 12-13 (\$350)); CX0601 at 009 (\$550); CX0609 at 002 (regularly \$350); CX0611 at 004 (\$400); CX0616 at 034 (averaged \$537 for in-office bleaching); CX0653 at 040 (\$500 to \$800); CX0570 at 043-044 (Owens, Dep. at 167-168) (approximately \$500)).

- 118. Dentist provided chair-side bleaching is the most costly bleaching alternative, of the four options described in F. 105, often costing between \$400 and \$700. (Giniger, Tr. 119-120).
- 119. The principal benefits of dentist in-office teeth whitening are that it is quick and effective, providing immediate results in one visit to the dentist. Additional benefits include professional service, guidance, and support. (Giniger, Tr. 180-181; Kwoka, Tr. 981-982).
- 120. The disadvantages to dentist in-office teeth whitening are that it is relatively expensive compared to the alternatives, and it requires making an appointment with the dentist that may not be at a convenient time for the consumer. (Kwoka, Tr. 981-982).

b. Take-home kits provided by dentists

- 121. Dentists in North Carolina also offer take-home teeth whitening kits that consumers self-administer after a consultation with the dentist. (Giniger, Tr. 119-121; CX0652 at 019-020; CX0571 at 006 (Owens, IHT at 20-21); CX0570 at 023 (Owens, Dep. at 84); CX0560 at 004-005, 048 (Feingold, Dep. at 9-10; 183); Hardesty, Tr. at 2775; CX0565 at 006 (Hardesty, Dep. at 15); CX0578 at 005 (Parker, Dep. at 11-12); CX0580 at 006-007 (Tilley, Dep. at 14-15, 19); CX0641 at 001-067).
- 122. Take-home kits provided by dentists include a custom-made whitening tray and whitening gel. The tray is created either by the dentist, hygienist or technician, and takes roughly 30 to 45 minutes to fabricate. (CX0580 at 006 (Tilley, Dep. at 14); CX0554 at 007 (Allen, Dep. at 18-19); CX0566 at 003 (Hardesty, IHT at 9); CX0566 at 019 (Hardesty, IHT at 72); Wester, Tr. 1289; Giniger, Tr. 200).
- 123. Take-home kits provided by dentists can either be used as a follow-up to in-office treatment or as the sole teeth whitening service. (Joint Stipulations of Law and Fact \P 26).
- 124. Take-home kits provided by dentists usually require at least two visits to the dentist. Typically, in the first visit, the dentist examines the patient and takes an impression used to make a customized teeth whitening tray. Usually, in the second visit, the dentist delivers the tray and whitening solution, and provides instructions for whitening to the patient. (Joint Stipulations of Law and Fact ¶ 28).
- 125. Take-home kits provided by dentists typically use low concentrations of hydrogen peroxide or carbamide peroxide and require the consumer to reapply the whitening solution to his or her own teeth multiple times over a period of weeks or months. (Joint Stipulations of Law and Fact ¶ 27; Giniger, Tr. 119-121; CX0571 at 006 (Owens, IHT at 20-21)).
- 126. Take-home kits provided by dentists typically cost hundreds of dollars, in part because the dentist performs a diagnostic examination, charges to fabricate the custom tray,

provides instruction on its use, and supplies the whitening product and kit. (CX0576 at 005-006 (Litaker, Dep. at 16-17 (\$380 per arch/\$760 for full mouth)); CX0577 at 009 (Oyster, Dep. at 29 (\$300)); CX0578 at 005 (Parker, Dep. at 12-13 (\$250))).

- 127. Take-home kits provided by dentists are usually more expensive than any non-dentist provided products. (Compare CX0653 at 043 (non-dentist take home product costs between \$40 and \$80) with Giniger, Tr. 201 (typical price of dentist provided take home kit is \$350 to \$500)).
- 128. Take-home kits provided by dentists are less expensive than the dentist in-office procedure and are also relatively effective at whitening teeth. On the other hand, the consumer is required to apply the product at home a number of times without assistance. (Kwoka, Tr. 982-983; CX0654 at 004).

c. Over-the-counter products

- 129. Manufacturers recently developed unique trayless methods for over-the-counter ("OTC") at-home bleaching. Available OTC products include gels, rinses, chewing gums, trays, and strips. In a 2006 report, NBC's *Today* correspondent Janice Liebennan reported that in 2005, the U.S. market for OTC products was \$41.4 billion. (CX0653 at 041; Joint Stipulations of Law and Fact ¶ 22).
- 130. OTC products typically use relatively low concentrations of hydrogen peroxide or carbamide peroxide, that are applied daily for an extended period of time. OTC products are sold in a variety of locations including pharmacies, groceries, over the internet, and even by dentists. (Giniger, Tr. 204-207).
- 131. Crest Whitestrips from Proctor and Gamble (P&G) was one of the first OTC teeth bleaching products on the market, and it remains the number one selling product today. When first made available to consumers in 2001, Whitestrips contained approximately 5% hydrogen peroxide. Now, the most popular Whitestrips contain a greater concentration of bleaching agents. Other manufacturers have also developed generic whitening strips as well, and the concentration of hydrogen peroxide in these strips has also increased significantly over the years. (CX0653 at 041; CX0566 at 016 (Hardesty, IHT at 58-59); CX0555 at 019 (Brown Dep.at 67); CX0560 at 030 (Feingold, Dep. 111-112); CX0570 at 020 (Owens, Dep. 71-72)).
- 132. Consumers self-apply the OTC strips directly to their teeth. (Kwoka, Tr. 983; CX0654 at 004).
- 133. In order to whiten teeth, OTC strips must be reapplied multiple times over multiple days. (Joint Stipulations of Law and Fact ¶ 29).
- 134. OTC strips and trays typically cost between \$15 and \$50, depending on brand, quantity, and concentration. (CX0382 at 001 (Crest 3D - \$43.97); CX0394 at 001 (Crest 3D White Strips Professional Effects - \$47.99, Plus White 5 Minute Speed

Whitening System - \$10.99, DenTek Complete White Professional Whitening - \$14.99)).

- 135. The whitening results with OTC strips are highly variable because user compliance is variable. A great many consumers will not complete the whitening regimen, which may require up to 30 days of daily use. (CX0653 at 041-042).
- 136. The OTC strips have the advantages of the convenience of at-home treatment as well as low cost compared to the other alternatives. The OTC strips are effective when used over a period of days or weeks. The disadvantage is that OTC strips require diligent and repeated application by the consumer. (Kwoka, Tr. 983; CX0654 at 004).

d. Non-dentist teeth whitening service providers

- Teeth whitening services are offered by non-dentists, including in North Carolina, and have been offered since approximately 2003 or 2004. (Hughes, Tr. 934-936; Nelson, Tr. 733-734; Osborn, Tr. 646-47, 668-670; Wyant Tr., 860-63, 870-871; Valentine, Tr. 567).
- Teeth whitening services by non-dentists are offered in kiosks, spas, retail stores, and salons. (Hughes, Tr. 934-936; Nelson, Tr. 733-734; Osborn, Tr. 668-670; Valentine, Tr. 519-520; Wyant Tr. 870-871).
- 139. Teeth whitening products used by non-dentists fall under many brand names, including WhiteSmile USA, BriteWhite, Beyond White Spa, Beyond Dental & Health, and SpaWhite. (Joint Stipulations of Law and Fact ¶ 21).
- 140. Non-dentist teeth whitening providers typically use a mid-level hydrogen peroxide or carbamide peroxide concentration, typically equating to 16% or less of hydrogen peroxide. The product is usually applied once during a single visit. (Giniger, Tr. 182-183; CX0653 at 021).
- 141. A gingival barrier is not required in a non-dentist bleaching procedure because the concentration of peroxide used is non-caustic, and often the delivery system, such as a sponge in the mouthpiece that is pre-impregnated with peroxide, prevents unwanted dispersal of peroxide into the oral cavity. (Giniger, Tr. 192; CX0653 at 020-021).
- 142. Typically, but not always, a non-dentist provider will follow a protocol provided by a teeth whitening manufacturer or distributor. While each protocol is slightly different, all require the operator to provide the customer with literature, and some require the customer to answer questions before the procedure begins. (CX0108 at 009; CX0049 at 056-067; Valentine, Tr. 545-546; Osborn, Tr. 653, 707; Nelson, Tr. 796-797).
- 143. In a typical non-dentist bleaching procedure, the operator generally will: (1) have the client sit in a chair; (2) put on protective gloves; (3) place a bib around the client's neck; (4) take a tray from a sealed package, which is either pre-filled with peroxide

solution or which the operator fills with the peroxide solution, and hand it to the customer, who places the tray into his or her mouth; (5) adjust the light, if used; and (6) start the timer. At the end of the procedure, the customer will remove the tray and hand it to the provider, who disposes of it. (Giniger, Tr. 188-189; CX0108 at 010-012; CX0049 at 056-067; Osborn, Tr. 653, 655, 707-708; Nelson, Tr. 750, 757, 770, 796-797; Valentine, Tr. 533-534).

- 144. Non-dentist bleaching centers may use lights during the procedure. However, unlike dentists, these facilities use LED lights, which produce no UV radiation and little heat above the ambient temperature. (Giniger, Tr. 182-183, 479; CX0653 at 021).
- 145. Most manufactures use a tray delivery system, which is often pre-impregnated with peroxide. (Giniger, Tr. 187, 385).
- 146. Teeth whitening services offered in kiosks, spas, retail stores, and salons typically take one hour or less to whiten the customer's teeth. (Nelson, Tr. 740 (whitening process took 20 minutes using SpaWhite); Osborn, Tr. 653-656 (whitening process took 20 minutes after placement of the BriteWhite whitening tray); Valentine, Tr. 532-533 (once a customer had a tray inside his mouth, the session with the light would last 15 minutes with WhiteSmile)).
- 147. The cost of non-dentist teeth whitening varies, but ranges between \$75 and \$150. (Kwoka, Tr. 984; CX0654 at 004).
- 148. Non-dentist teeth whitening services are typically priced below dentist provided services (\$400 to \$500 (F. 117)) and above OTC teeth whitening products (\$15 to \$50 (F. 134)). (Baumer, Tr. 1926; CX0826 at 034 (Baumer, Dep. at 128)).
- 149. Non-dentist chair-side bleaching is accessible, located most often in large shopping malls, and does not require an appointment. (CX0653 at 042; Valentine, Tr. 532; Tilley, Tr. 1973).
- 150. Non-dentist teeth whitening can be completed in a single bleaching session. It is effective at whitening teeth but with a significantly lower cost in comparison to inoffice dentist teeth whitening. (Kwoka, Tr. 983-984; CX0654 at 004).

3. Dentist and non-dentist provided teeth whitening services are a relevant market

a. Dentist and non-dentist provided teeth whitening services are reasonable substitutes for one another

151. Non-dentist and dentist teeth whitening services have common characteristics, including quick and efficient service, provision of instruction, provision of a tray, loading of the peroxide, and use of a light activator. (*Compare* F. 109-114 *with* F. 140-146).

- 152. If a consumer wants effective "one-shot" teeth whitening, the only ways to achieve such immediate results would be to go to a dentist or a non-dentist provider of teeth whitening services, such as those located in mall kiosks. (Kwoka, Tr. 982-984, 998; CX0560 at 048 (Feingold, Dep. at 184); Nelson, Tr. 766-767).
- 153. If a consumer wants teeth whitening within 24 hours, and has not previously made an appointment with a dentist, he or she would turn to a non-dentist provider of teeth whitening services because they have similar attributes as dentist provided services. (Baumer, Tr. 1975-1976; CX0826 at 034 (Baumer, Dep. at 126-27)).
- 154. Cross-elasticity is an economic term measuring the degree of substitution between alternative products, defined as the percentage change in quantity and demand of one product as the price of a different product changes. (Kwoka, Tr. 999-1000).
- 155. There is substantial cross-elasticity between dentist and non-dentist teeth whitening services. (Kwoka, Tr. 999; Baumer, Tr. 1842).
- 156. Dentist provided and non-dentist provided teeth whitening services are reasonable substitutes for one another. (F. 151-155).

b. Dentists and non-dentists compete with one another

- 157. Dentists are aware that there is commonality and substitution between the methods of teeth whitening. (Kwoka, Tr. 997-998; CX0392 at 002).
- 158. Dentists and non-dentist teeth whiteners in North Carolina compete to provide teeth whitening services to consumers in North Carolina. (Kwoka, Tr. 994-998; RX0078 at 010).
- 159. Dr. Burnham discussed with other Board members that consumers may choose to go to a kiosk teeth whitener to get their teeth whitened rather than to a dentist. (CX0556 at 040 (Burnham, Dep. at 152)).
- 160. A non-dentist teeth whitener operating within two miles of a dentist could affect the volume of teeth whitening services provided by the dentist. (CX0565 at 024 (Hardesty, Dep. at 87)).
- A dental practice that sought to perform teeth whitening as an important part of its revenue stream might react to the price charged by a nearby non-dentist teeth whitener by reducing its own prices for teeth whitening. (CX0565 at 024 (Hardesty, Dep. at 87-88)).
- 162. Dr. Baumer agrees that a reduction in supply of teeth whitening services will have an upward impact on price. (Baumer, Tr. 1700).

- 163. Dentists in North Carolina have made claims in advertisements that they practice "Cosmetic Dentistry," including the provision of teeth whitening services. (CX0641 at 001-002, 004, 013, 015-018, 020, 024-027, 029-032, 039, 043-044, 048-049, 052, 059-060, 063-067).
- 164. Non-dentist providers of teeth whitening services target advertisements to consumers who would or are considering going to the dentist for teeth whitening. The advertisements boast similar results as dentists but for a lower price, indicating a belief that consumers will substitute between these two alternatives. (Kwoka, Tr. 999).
- 165. Non-dentist providers of teeth whitening services in North Carolina have advertised that they charge lower prices for their services than dentists charge for their teeth whitening services. (Kwoka, Tr. 999; CX0556 at 040 (Burnham, Dep. at 151-152); *see also* CX0096 at 004; CX0103 at 014-015; CX0043 at 005; CX0108 at 009; CX0054 at 006; CX0198 at 002).
- 166. Non-dentist providers of teeth whitening services in North Carolina have compared their services to teeth whitening provided by dentists with respect to efficacy. (CX0041 at 006-007; CX0096 at 004; CX0108 at 008-009).
- 167. Non-dentist teeth whiteners in North Carolina have compared themselves to dentists in terms of time and convenience. (CX0108 at 009).
- 168. Non-dentist providers of teeth whitening services have advertised that they can whiten teeth in one hour or less. (CX0308 at 007; CX0043 at 002; CX0078 at 002; CX0108 at 008; CX0054 at 006; CX0103 at 009).
- 169. Discus Dental, the largest manufacturer of whitening products for dentists, maker of Zoom and BriteSmile, has included salon/mall operations in its consumer surveys, indicating industry recognition of non-dentist competition. The survey found that on several different attributes, including convenience, value, and pain, consumers rate these non-dentist teeth whitening operations between OTC products and dentist provided products. (CX0489 at 013, 031-032, 044-045, 050, 052).

4. The relevant market does not include self administered teeth whitening products

- 170. Take-home products do not contain as much hydrogen peroxide as contained in the products used by dentists and non-dentists providing teeth whitening services. (Giniger, Tr. 204-205; CX0653 at 020, 041).
- 171. Take-home products require numerous bleaching sessions over many days or weeks. By contrast, chair-side bleaching, whether provided by dentists or non-dentists, is usually limited to a single session. (Giniger, Tr. 118-119; CX0653 at 005).

- 172. The amount of time it takes to whiten the teeth is important to some consumers of teeth whitening services or products. (Hardesty, Tr. 2812-2813; Nelson, Tr. 766).
- 173. OTC products come only with instructions. By comparison, dentists provide professional service, support, and advice and non-dentists typically provide service based on training provided to them by the manufacturers of the bleaching products/services and their own experience. (Giniger, Tr. 119; CX0653 at 005).
- 174. OTC products (\$20-\$60) are the least expensive alternative for consumers. These products are good for cost-conscious consumers who are willing to self-apply bleaching products over several days or weeks aided only by written instructions. However, they are not a good substitute for chair-side teeth bleaching for those consumers intent on quick results or wary about self-application of OTC products without supervision or support. (Giniger, Tr. 120-121; CX0653 at 005-006).

E. The Board's Cease and Desist Letters⁸

1. Background

a. The Board's process for handling complaints and investigations of unauthorized practice of dentistry

- 175. The Board conducts investigations of allegations that persons are engaged in the unauthorized practice of dentistry. (CX0236 at 001-002; Owens, Tr. 1440-1441; 21 N.C.A.C. 16 U.0101; 21 N.C.A.C. 16 U.0102 (21 N.C.A.C. 16 *et seq.* contains the Board's Rules)).
- 176. The Board's process for handling complaints and investigations in non-licensee cases, including those regarding teeth whitening, is set forth in the Board's investigations manual. (CX0527 at 008-010, 029-031; White, Tr. 2220-2221).
- 177. The process for handling non-licensee cases includes the receipt of a complaint, an investigation, and a decision by the case officer about how to proceed after the investigation. (CX0556 at 064 (Burnham, Dep. at 247-248)).
- 178. All complaints to the Board initially go to the Board's Deputy Operations Officer, Terry Friddle. (CX0562 at 011 (Friddle, IHT at 38-39)). Ms. Friddle assigns case numbers to the complaints and forwards the complaints to the Secretary-Treasurer. (White, Tr. 2219).

⁸ The testimony and exhibits refer to communications sent by the Board interchangeably as "cease and desist orders" and "cease and desist letters." Findings as to whether these communications constituted "letters" or "orders" are set forth in F. 207-226. Based on these findings, except where the term "cease and desist order" is specifically used in the testimony or exhibit, the communications sent by the Board are referred to herein as "cease and desist letters."

- 179. The Board's Secretary-Treasurer, a dentist, receives all complaints filed with the Board and assigns them to a case officer. (White, Tr. 2202-2203; Wester, Tr. 1281).
- 180. The Secretary-Treasurer has discretion in assigning cases or investigations. (White, Tr. 2203). The Secretary-Treasurer may keep a case or assign the case to another Board member. The assigned Board member is referred to as the case officer for that investigation. (CX0562 at 011 (Friddle, IHT at 38-39); CX0556 at 007-008 (Burnham, Dep. at 21-22); Owens, Tr. 1440-1441).
- 181. The investigative panel conducts investigations of alleged instances of the unlawful practice of dentistry. (Owens, Tr. 1440-1441; CX0527 at 006, 009-010, 015; CX0234 at 001-011).
- 182. A Board investigative panel consists of the case officer, the Deputy Operations Officer or Board designee, and the Investigator assigned to the investigation. The Board's legal counsel may participate in the panel meetings as needed. (CX0527 at 006; Owens, Tr. 1441; CX0554 at 012 (Allen, Dep. at 39)).
- 183. The case officer is the Board member assigned by the Board President or Secretary-Treasurer whose duty it is to oversee an investigation. (CX0527 at 006). Deputy Operations Officer Friddle assigns an investigator (either Mr. Kurdys or Mr. Dempsey) and a case manager (either Ms. Friddle or Ms. Goode) to the case. (CX0562 at 011 (Friddle, IHT at 38-39)).
- 184. Only dentists serve as case officers for teeth whitening investigations. (Hardesty, Tr. 2838; CX0563 at 009-010 (Goode, IHT at 33-34); CX0571 at 016 (Owens, IHT at 62); CX0566 at 008 (Hardesty, IHT at 27-28); CX0555 at 031-032 (Brown, Dep. at 117-118) (hygienist Board member cannot be assigned as a case officer)).
- 185. The case officer directs the investigation of instances of teeth whitening services performed by non-dentists and is assisted by other Board staff members. (Owens, Tr. 1441-1442; CX0571 at 014 (Owens, IHT at 50-51)).
- 186. At the direction of the case officer, Board investigators perform undercover investigations in non-dentist teeth whitening cases posing as prospective clients. (CX0558 at 017 (Dempsey, IHT at 64); (CX0038 at 004) (Hardesty directed Friddle to do a "sting" of a non-dentist teeth whitener where Board investigators posed as clients to have impressions made); CX0070 at 001; CX0367 at 001; CX0284 at 001; CX0201 at 001).
- 187. Board investigators also perform investigations, at the direction of the case officer, where they identify themselves as Board employees and ask questions about the processes used by non-dentist teeth whiteners. (CX0367 at 001; CX0228 at 001-002; CX0247 at 001).

- 188. Board investigator Dempsey often takes pictures and may write notes indicating whether non-dentist teeth whiteners had [dental] chairs set up, whether there were LED lights set up and if the providers were wearing lab coats. (CX0557 at 009 (Dempsey, Dep. at 28-29)).
- 189. The case officer is authorized by the Board to make enforcement decisions and take enforcement actions on its behalf. (CX0570 at 011 (Owens, Dep. at 37); CX0571 at 014 (Owens, IHT at 50-51); White, Tr. 2224).
- 190. At the conclusion of the investigation in an unlicensed practice of dentistry case, the case officer has two options. The case officer can direct the Board attorney to take civil action or recommend a criminal prosecution to a local district attorney. If that happens, the Board would be informed at the next Board meeting. (White, Tr. 2224).
- 191. The case officer in an unlicensed practice of dentistry case may decide to authorize a cease and desist letter to the target of the investigation. (CX0556 at 064 (Burnham, Dep. at 248)).
- 192. Ms. Efird, the consumer member of the Board, was a voting member of the Board. However, she did not vote on disciplinary matters involving dentists and hygienists. She did not participate in any votes on teeth whitening matters. (F. 59; CX0559 at 006 (Efird, Dep. at 16)).
- 193. Ms. Hall, the hygienist member, was not involved in any manner with the Board's investigations of teeth whitening services. Ms. Hall did not participate in any discussions relating to teeth whitening while on the Board. (CX0564 at 006 (Hall, Dep. at 15-16)).

b. Complaints about non-dentist providers of teeth whitening services made by dentists

- 194. In or around 2003, the Board received its first complaints about non-dentist providers of teeth whitening services. (CX0562 at 006 (Friddle, IHT at 21)).
- 195. Dr. Benjamin Brown opened an investigation of Great White Smiles in September 2003 after Dr. Richard Yeager complained that his staff had informed him that Great White Smiles was selling teeth whitening gel and making impressions for bleach trays at the "Southern Women's Show" in Charlotte, North Carolina. (CX0033 at 001-005). Dr. Brown subsequently directed Ms. Friddle to close the investigation for "lack of evidence." (CX0032 at 001-005).
- 196. Between August and September 2, 2004, four North Carolina dentists complained to the Board about Edie's Salon Panache. The complaints noted that the salon advertised that it was the second "salon in North Carolina to offer teeth whitening" and that it offered a price of \$149, which was lower than the amount dentists charge. (CX0036 at 002-004).

- 197. On September 11, 2006, Dr. Luiz Arzola faxed the Board a complaint noting that "increasingly large number[s] of spas in the Hickory area are offering their clients dental bleaching." He inquired whether that procedure is legal when performed by unlicensed persons. (CX0619 at 001).
- 198. The Board met on February 9, 2007, and discussed the increasing number of complaints regarding non-dental teeth whitening services being provided in spas. (CX0056 at 005).
- 199. By February and March of 2008, Board employees Ms. Bakewell and Ms. Goode recognized that there were non-dentist teeth whitening service providers or "bleaching kiosks" and teeth whitening companies throughout the State of North Carolina. (CX0231 at 001; CX0092 at 001).
- 200. On November 19, 2007, Dr. Harald Heymann complained to the Board about a nondentist bleaching salon in Southpoint Mall in North Carolina, emphasizing that the salon operator stated that they use 44% carbamide peroxide administered in a gel tray and that they charge \$100. (CX0365 at 002).
- 201. After receiving a February 18, 2008 complaint from Dr. Mark Casey of Raleigh, North Carolina about a teeth whitening kiosk in Crabtree Valley Mall, Bobby White, the Board's COO, responded that the Crabtree Valley whitening kiosk "is one of many such 'bleaching kiosks' with which we are currently going forth to do battle," and that the Board had sent out "numerous cease and desist orders throughout the state." (CX0404 at 001-002).
- 202. In a letter dated February 27, 2008, Dr. Nicole LeCann complained to the Board about a bleaching kiosk in Crabtree Valley Mall. Dr. LeCann noted that the kiosk's prices started at \$99 and wrote that the presence of kiosks "cheapens and degrades the dental profession." Dr. LeCann requested that the Board investigate the matter "quickly." (CX0278 at 001; White, Tr. 2317-2319).
- 203. The tripartite meeting is a meeting held between the North Carolina State Board of Dental Examiners, the North Carolina Dental Society ("NCDS") and the UNC School of Dentistry. The meeting is held once every year and hosted by each one of these groups on a rotating basis. (Hardesty, Tr. 2866).
- 204. The NCDS is a professional association of North Carolina Dentists that promotes, among other things, the interests of North Carolina dentists. (CX0578 at 010 (Parker, Dep. 32); CX0577 at 006 (Oyster, Dep. at 15)).
- 205. At the April 4, 2008 tripartite meeting, the NCDS members in attendance complained about the proliferation of non-dentist teeth whitening kiosks and asked the Board what it was going to do about it. The Board assured the NCDS that it was investigating

complaints about non-dentist teeth whiteners. (CX0565 at 067 (Hardesty, Dep. at 259-261); CX0109 at 003).

206. At a general meeting of the Board attended by Ms. Hall, it was mentioned that the Board would be investigating complaints about teeth whitening services. (CX0564 at 006 (Hall, Dep. at 15-16)).

2. Origins and numbers of cease and desist letters

207. On September 30, 2005, Board Investigator Dempsey sent an e-mail to Board member Dr. Brown and several Board staff regarding an investigation into jewelry stores fabricating decorative gold teeth. In the email he noted that he and Casie Smith [Goode], had previously developed a cease and desist letter to "deal with dentists practicing without a license" and he believed it would be useful in the jewelry case. He noted that he was working on a similar jewelry case in another part of the state and that he had written to the case officer in that case:

In an email to the Case Officer, I stated: "I also must say that I really do like the Cease and Desist Letter . . . I think in the past, we have had several of these type of cases [person is allegedly treating patients without a license] that ended up getting closed because we didn't have evidence . . . at least now we can put them on notice that we know something is going on. This might work well with the "gold teeth" type cases as well. With them, they may not know that it is against the law to take impressions . . . this informs them and lets them know we are investigating them (or at least they think we are constantly watching them, sending in undercover agents, etc . . . when we aren't). Hopefully, it causes them to modify their behavior.

(CX0080 at 002 (alterations in original); White Tr. 2335-2336).

- 208. In 2006, the Board sent two cease and desist letters to non-dentist teeth whitening providers. (CX0038 at 001; CX0044 at 004-005). The first letter was to Serenity Day Spa, located at 814 C Old Spartanburg Highway, Hendersonville, North Carolina. (CX0038 at 001). The second letter was to Stephanie Keith of Star-Bright Whitening Systems at her place of business known as the Cutting Crib Hair Salon in Sanford, North Carolina. (CX0044 at 003-005).
- 209. In 2007, the Board sent at least 12 cease and desist letters to non-dentist teeth whitening providers. (CX0050 at 001-003; CX0069 at 001-002; CX0074 at 001-002; CX0077 at 001-002; CX0094 at 005-006; CX0096 at 001-002; CX0097 at 001-002; CX0279 at 001-002; CX0386 at 001-002). Of these 12 letters, several are addressed to the same establishment. (CX0065 and CX0097; CX0074 and CX0256).
- 210. Beginning in 2007, because the volume of complaints had increased, it became the policy of the Board to issue cease and desist letters on the basis of the complaint, without any investigation. (CX0070; CX0562 at 013 (Friddle, IHT at 43-44, 47)).

- 211. On March 22, 2007, Ms. Friddle sent an e-mail to Dr. Holland regarding the difficulty in getting the time to send staff to "perform these undercover spa deals." Ms. Friddle explained to Dr. Holland: "Dr. Hardesty has pretty much taken the stance that we write them a cease and desist letter the first go round." The Board would only "move in with the big guns," if the Board discovered that a cease and desist letter recipient persisted in providing non-dentist teeth whitening services. (CX0070 at 001; CX0561 at 022-023 (Friddle, Dep. at 81-83)).
- 212. When Dr. Hardesty directed Ms. Friddle around March 2007 to "write [non-dentist teeth whitening businesses] a cease and desist letter the first go round," Ms. Friddle understood that to mean to send a cease and desist letter when a complaint initially came in. On at least five occasions, she followed Dr. Hardesty's directions. (CX0070 at 001; CX0561at 022-023 (Friddle, Dep. at 81-84)).
- 213. In 2007 and 2008, cease and desist letters were sent "fairly quickly, like shortly after the case was set up." (CX0562 at 013 (Friddle, IHT at 47)). According to Ms. Friddle, "if it is unclear as to whether or not, or if it appears that there's a violation, then we would send a cease and desist." (CX0562 at 012 (Friddle, IHT at 43-44)).
- 214. Dr. Hardesty authorized sending a cease and desist letter to a business without having first sent an investigator to determine precisely what that business was doing. (Hardesty, Tr. 2856). Dr. Hardesty also authorized the sending of a cease and desist letter to a salon based solely on an e-mail from a dentist and his review of the website for the whitening product that the salon was considering using. (CX0565 at 043 (Hardesty, Dep. at 163-165); CX0293 at 001).
- 215. Dr. Owens sent out cease and desist letters within minutes or hours of receiving notice of a complaint, and at times without any investigation. (CX0297 at 001 (Dec. 1, 2008) (Dr. Owens authorized cease and desist 12 minutes after being assigned case); CX0311 at 001 (Dr. Owens authorized cease and desist letter same day as receiving assignment)).
- 216. In 2008, the Board sent at least 12 cease and desist letters to non-dentist teeth whitening providers. (CX0042 at 039-041; CX0059 at 001-002; CX0068 at 001-002; CX0079 at 001-002; CX0120 at 001-002; CX0122 at 001-002; CX0123 at 001-002; CX0387 at 001-002; CX0388 at 001-002; CX0389 at 001-002; CX0390 at 001-002; CX0391 at 001-002).
- 217. In 2009, the Board sent at least 22 cease and desist letters to non-dentist teeth whitening providers. (CX0042 at 001-002; CX0042 at 005-006; CX0042 at 008-009; CX0042 at 010-011; CX0042 at 012-013; CX0042 at 014-015; CX0042 at 016-017; CX0042 at 018-019; CX0042 at 020-021; CX0042 at 022-023; CX0042 at 024-025; CX0042 at 026-027; CX0042 at 028-029; CX0042 at 030-031; CX0042 at 032-033; CX0042 at 034-035; CX0058 at 001-002; CX0112 at 001-002; CX0153 at 001-002; CX0155 at 001-002; CX0156 at 001-002; CX0272 at 001-002). Several of these

letters were sent to the same recipients. (CX0042 at 001-002 and CX0042 at 039-041).

218. The Board has sent at least 47 cease and desist letters to non-dental teeth whitening manufacturers and providers since it began the practice in 2006. (CX0038 at 001; CX0042 at 001-002, 005-007, 008-009, 010-011, 012-013, 014-015, 016-017, 018-019, 020-021, 022-023, 024-025, 026-027, 028-029, 030-031, 032-033, 034-035; CX0044 at 004-005; CX0050 at 002-003; CX0058 at 001-002; CX0059 at 001-002; CX0065 at 001-002; CX0068 at 001-002; CX0069 at 001-002; CX0077 at 001-002; CX0079 at 001-002; CX0094 at 005; CX0096 at 001-002; CX0097 at 001-002; CX0100 at 001-002; CX0112 at 001-002; CX0120 at 001-002; CX0122 at 001-002; CX0123 at 001-002; CX0155 at 001-002; CX0156 at 001-002; CX0279 at 001-002; CX0386 at 001-002; CX0387 at 001-002; CX0388 at 001-002; CX0389 at 001-002; CX0390 at 001-002; CX0391 at 001-002; *see also* Joint Stipulations of Law and Fact ¶ 30 (stipulating to at least 40 cease and desist letters).

3. Content of cease and desist letters

- 219. The 47 cease and desist letters sent to non-dentist teeth whitening service providers or manufacturers were sent on the letterhead of the North Carolina State Board of Dental Examiners. The letterhead also contains each Board members name, the Past President of the Board and the name of the Chief Operations Officer. (CX0038 at 001; CX0042 at 001-002, 005-007, 008-009, 010-011, 012-013, 014-015, 016-017, 018-019, 020-021, 022-023, 024-025, 026-027, 028-029, 030-031, 032-033, 034-035; CX0044 at 004-005; CX0050 at 002-003; CX0058 at 001-002; CX0059 at 001-002; CX0065 at 001-002; CX0066 at 001-002; CX0069 at 001-002; CX0074 at 001-002; CX0077 at 001-002; CX0079 at 001-002; CX0094 at 005; CX0120 at 001-002; CX0122 at 001-002; CX0123 at 001-002; CX0112 at 001-002; CX0155 at 001-002; CX0156 at 001-002; CX0272 at 001-002; CX0279 at 001-002; CX0351 at 001-002; CX0386 at 001-002; CX0386 at 001-002; CX0386 at 001-002; CX0389 at 001-002; CX0390 at 001-002; CX0391 at 001-002; CX0391 at 001-002; CX0391 at 001-002;
- 220. At least 40 of the cease and desist letters sent to non-dentist teeth whitening service providers contain bold, capitalized headings that state: "NOTICE AND ORDER TO CEASE AND DESIST" or "NOTICE TO CEASE AND DESIST." (CX0038 at 001; CX0042 at 001-002, 005-007, 008-009, 010-011, 012-013, 014-015, 016-017, 018-019, 020-021, 022-023; 024-025, 026-027, 028-029, 030-031, 032-033; 034-035; CX0050 at 002-003; CX0058 at 001-002; CX0059 at 001-002; CX0065 at 001-002) or have a heading that states: "CEASE AND DESIST NOTICE." (CX0068 at 001-002; CX0069 at 001-002; CX0074 at 001-002; CX0077 at 001-002; CX0079 at 001-002; CX0094 at 005; CX0096 at 001-002; CX0097 at 001-002; CX0100 at 001-002; CX0112 at 001-002; CX0120 at 001-002; CX0122 at 001-002; CX0123 at 001-002; CX0272 at 001-002; CX0279 at 001-002; CX0351 at 001-002; CX0386 at 001-002; CX0387 at 001-002; CX0388 at 001-002; CX0389 at 001-002; CX0390 at 001-002;

CX0391 at 001-002; Joint Stipulations of Law and Fact \P 30 (stipulating to at least 40 cease and desist letters)).

221. In addition to cease and desist headings, the cease and desist letters sent to 39 nondentist teeth whitening service providers or manufacturers state:

> You are hereby ordered to CEASE AND DESIST any and all activity constituting the practice of dentistry or dental hygiene as defined by North Carolina General Statutes § 90-29 and § 90-233 and the Dental Board Rules promulgated thereunder.

Specifically, G.S. 90-29(b) states that "A person shall be deemed to be practicing dentistry in this State who does, undertakes or attempts to do, or claims the ability to do any one or more of the following acts or things which, for the purposes of this Article, constitute the practice of dentistry:"

"(2) Removes stains, accretions or deposits from the human teeth;"

"(7) Takes or makes an impression of the human teeth, gums or jaws:"

"(10) Performs or engages in any of the clinical practices included in the curricula of recognized dental schools or colleges."

(CX0042 at 001-002, 005-007, 008-009, 010-011, 012-013, 014-015, 016-017, 018-019, 020-021, 022-023, 024-025, 026-027, 028-029, 030-031, 032-033, 034-035; CX0050 at 002-003; CX0058 at 001-002; CX0059 at 001-002; CX0068 at 001-002; CX0069 at 001-002; CX0077 at 001-002; CX0079 at 001-002; CX0094 at 005; CX0096 at 001-002; CX0097 at 001-002; CX0112 at 001-002; CX0120 at 001-002; CX0122 at 001-002; CX0123 at 001-002; CX0272 at 001-002; CX0279 at 001-002; CX0351 at 001-002; CX0386 at 001-002; CX0387 at 001-002; CX0388 at 001-002; CX0389 at 001-002; CX0390 at 001-002; CX0391 at 001-002).

222. Three of the cease and desist letters contain a bold, capitalized heading that states: "NOTICE OF APPARENT VIOLATION AND DEMAND TO CEASE AND DESIST." These three letters also state:

The Dental Board hereby demands that you CEASE AND DESIST any and all activity constituting the practice of dentistry as defined by North Carolina General Statutes § 90-29 and the Dental Board Rules promulgated thereunder.

Specifically, G.S. 90-29(b) states that . . . "A person shall be deemed to be practicing dentistry in this State who does, undertakes or attempts to do, or claims the ability to do any one or more of the following acts or things which, for the purposes of this Article, constitute the practice of dentistry:"

"(2) Removes stains, accretions or deposits from the human teeth;"

"(7) Takes or makes an impression of the human teeth, gums or jaws:"

"(10) Performs or engages in any of the clinical practices included in the curricula of recognized dental schools or colleges."

(CX0153 at 001-002; CX0155 at 001-002; CX0156 at 001-002).

- 223. The last three cease and desist letters sent in 2009 contained slightly different language than the other cease and desist letters sent in 2009 and in 2008. (CX0153 at 001-002; CX0155 at 001-002; CX0156 at 001-002). These three cease and desist letters were captioned, "NOTICE OF APPARENT VIOLATION AND DEMAND TO CEASE AND DESIST" instead of being captioned "NOTICE AND ORDER TO CEASE AND DESIST." In addition, rather than stating "you are hereby ordered to CEASE AND DESIST any and all activity constituting the practice of dentistry ...," these three cease and desist letters stated that the Board "hereby demands that you CEASE AND DESIST any and all activity constituting the practice of dentistry ...," (CX0153 at 001-002; CX0155 at 001-002; CX0156 at 001-002).
- 224. All 47 of the cease and desist letters sent to non-dentist teeth whitening service providers or manufacturers were signed by the Board's Deputy Operations Officer Friddle, the Board's Attorney, or the Board's Assistant Director of Investigations. (CX0038-001; CX0042 at 001-002, 005-007, 008-009, 010-011, 012-013, 014-015, 016-017, 018-019, 020-021, 022-023, 024-025, 026-027, 028-029, 030-031, 032-033, 034-035; CX0044 at 004-005; CX0050 at 002-003; CX0058 at 001-002; CX0059 at 001-002; CX0065 at 001-002; CX0068 at 001-002; CX0069 at 001-002; CX0077 at 001-002; CX0079 at 001-002; CX0094 at 005; CX0096 at 001-002; CX0097 at 001-002; CX0100 at 001-002; CX0112 at 001-002; CX0120 at 001-002; CX0155 at 001-002; CX0156 at 001-002; CX0272 at 001-002; CX0279 at 001-002; CX0381 at 001-002; CX0386 at 001-002; CX0387 at 001-002; CX0388 at 001-002; CX0389 at 001-002; CX0390 at 001-002; CX0391 at 001-002).
- 225. All but 1 of the 47 cease and desist letters sent to non-dentist teeth whitening service providers or manufacturers indicate that the case officer and the Board's Attorney were copied on the letter. (CX0042 at 001-002, 005-007, 008-009, 010-011, 012-013, 014-015, 016-017, 018-019, 020-021, 022-023, 024-025, 026-027, 028-029, 030-031, 032-033, 034-035; CX0044 at 004-005; CX0050 at 002-003; CX0058 at 001-002; CX0059 at 001-002; CX0065 at 001-002; CX0068 at 001-002; CX0069 at 001-002; CX0074 at 001-002; CX0077 at 001-002; CX0079 at 001-002; CX0094 at 005; CX0096 at 001-002; CX0097 at 001-002; CX0100 at 001-002; CX0112 at 001-002; CX0120 at 001-002; CX0122 at 001-002; CX0123 at 001-002; CX0279 at 001-002; CX0351 at 001-002; CX0386 at 001-002; CX0387 at 001-002; CX0388 at 001-002; CX0389 at 001-002; CX0390 at 001-002; CX0391 at 001-002). Only the very first identified cease and desist letter, sent to Serenity Day Spa in Hendersonville, North

Carolina dated January 11, 2006, does not indicate that the case officer and the Board's Attorney were copied on the letter. (CX0038 at 001).

226. Cease and desist letters sent to non-dentist teeth whiteners were formally served either by return receipt mail (CX0042 at 001-002), by sheriff's service, (CX0095), by hand-delivery by a private investigator (CX0094 at 005) or personal service by a Board investigator. (CX0044 at 004-005).

4. Relationship between cease and desist letters and dentist complaints

- 227. Almost all of the complaints to the Board about non-dentist teeth whitening service providers have come from licensed North Carolina dentists or their employees. (CX0276 at 001; Owens Tr. 1576-1579 (approximately 90% of teeth whitening complaints are from dentists or employees of dentists)).
- 228. The Board admits that "only three investigations it opened included a report of harm or injury to an individual." (Response to RFA ¶ 22). Two of these stem from consumer complaints and one from a dentist on behalf of his patient. (RX0005 at 002-005; RX0017 at 001-021; RX0021 at 004-007; *see also* RPFF 100-237 (listing by case name 28 investigations the Board has taken in response to complaints and including in these proposed findings only 3 investigations based on complaints claiming harm from teeth whitening services by non-dentists)).
- 229. At least 47 individual dentists filed complaints with the Board about non-dentist teeth whitening operations. (CX0032 at 001-008; CX0035 at 001-002; CX0036 at 002-018; CX0043 at 001-013; CX0045 at 002-006; CX0054 at 002-006; CX0092 at 001; CX0102 at 001-003; CX0111 at 002-004; CX0198 at 001-002; CX0245 at 001; CX0251 at 001-002; CX0265 at 001; CX0276 at 001-002; CX0278 at 001; CX0281 at 001; CX0282 at 001; CX0293 at 001-002; CX0304 at 001; CX0365 at 001-022; CX0404 at 001-003; CX0411 at 001-004; CX0465 at 001; CX0477 at 003-005; CX0524 at 001-003; CX0619 at 001-002; CX0620 at 001).
- 230. At least 29 non-dentist teeth whitening providers were sent cease and desist letters by the Board in instances where a North Carolina dentist had filed a complaint with the Board.

Complaints: CX0043 at 001-013 (BleachBright); CX0092 at 001 (Port City Tanning); CX0245 at 001 (Celebrity Smiles); CX0251 at 001-002 (Inspire Skin & Body); CX0198 at 001-002 (Movie Star Smile); CX0276 at 001 (*various*); CX0278 at 001 (BleachBright); CX0281 at 001 (Champagne Taste/Lash Lady); CX0304 at 001-002 (Bailey's Lightening Whitening); CX0365 at 001-002 (Celebrity Smiles); CX0404 at 001-003 (BleachBright); CX0411 at 003 (Whitening on Wheels).

Cease and desist letters: CX0042 at 001-002 (BleachBright/James & Linda Holder); CX0042 at 005-007 (BleachBright/Skin Sense); CX0042 at 008-009

(BleachBright/Electric Beach Pleasant Valley); CX0042 at 010-011 (BleachBright/Exotic Tan); CX0042 at 012-013 (BleachBright/Skin Sense Apex); CX0042 at 014-015 (BleachBright/Cris Scott Hair Studio); CX0042 at 016-017 (BleachBright/Douglas Carroll Salon); CX0042 at 018-019 (BleachBright/Electric Beach Cary); CX0042 at 020-021 (BleachBright/Electric Beach Mission Valley); CX0042 at 022-023 (BleachBright/Electric Beach North Market Drive); CX0042 at 024-025 (BleachBright/Cary Massage Therapy Center); CX0042 at 026-027 (BleachBright/Skin Sense Falls of Neuse Road); CX0042 at 028-029 (BleachBright/Modern Enhancement); CX0042 at 030-031 (BleachBright/Life's Little Pleasures); CX0042 at 032-033 (BleachBright/La Therapie Spa); CX0042 at 034-035 (BleachBright/Electric Beach Six Forks); CX0059 at 001-002 (Port City Tanning); CX0077 at 001-002 (Champagne Taste/Lash Lady); CX0079 at 001-002 (Movie Star Smile); CX0112 at 001-002 (BleachBright/Jason & Shanon Rabon); CX0120 at 001-002 (Fantiaticians); CX0153 at 001-002 (Serenity Total Body Care/BleachBright); CX0272 at 001-002 (Inspire Skin & Body); CX0351 at 001-002 (Celebrity Smiles at The Street of Southpoint); CX0386 at 001-002 (Details, Inc); CX0387 at 001-002 (Bailey's Lightning Whitening); CX0389 at 001-002 (Triad Body Secrets); CX0390 at 001-002 (Whitening on Wheels); CX0391 at 001-002 (The Extra Smile, Inc.).

- With one exception, CX0477, dentists' complaints to the Board about non-dentist teeth whitening do not state that any consumer had been harmed by the procedure. (CX0032 at 001-002; CX0035 at 003; CX0036 at 001-002, 005-006, 007-018; CX0043 at 004-008, 009-010, 011-013; CX0054 at 002-006; CX0092 at 001-002; CX0111 at 001-004; CX0198 at 001-002; CX0245 at 001-002; CX0251 at 001-002; CX0278 at 001; CX0281 at 001; CX0293 at 001-002; CX0304 at 001; CX0365 at 001; CX0404 at 001-003; CX0411 at 001, 003; CX0465 at 001; CX0524 at 001-003; CX0619 at 001-002; CX0620 at 001-002).
- 232. Many of the dentists' complaints to the Board about non-dentist teeth whitening referenced, or attached advertisements, showing the prices charged by non-dentist teeth whitening service providers. (CX0035 at 003; CX0036 at 001-002, 005-006, 007-018; CX0043 at 004-008, 009-010, 011-013; CX0054 at 002-006; CX0198 at 001-002; CX0619 at 001-002).
- 233. North Carolina dentists who filed complaints or inquiries that led to Board investigations of the unauthorized practice of dentistry derived income from the provision of teeth whitening services in recent years. The following dentists, whose identities have been shielded from disclosure, were in dental practices that earned the following amounts of income from teeth whitening services from 2005 through 2010: Dentist A (CX0600 at 003; CX0304 at 001) (over \$150,000); Dentist B (CX0599 at 003; CX0524 at 001) (over \$100,000); Dentist C (CX0602 at 002; CX0035 at 001-002) (over \$100,000); Dentist D (CX0603 at 003; CX0092 at 001) (over \$100,000); Dentist E (CX0605 at 003; CX0245 at 001) (over \$50,000); Dentist F (CX0616 at 021; CX0043 at 011-013) (over \$50,000); Dentist G (CX0601 at 008; CX0276 at 001) (over \$50,000); Dr. H (CX0608 at 002; CX0276 at 001) (over \$50,000); Dentist I (CX0611 at 002, 004; CX0576 at 007-008 (Dep. at 20-22, 24-25)); (CX0054 at 003)

(over \$50,000); Dentist J (CX0617 at 001, 012; CX0111 at 001-006) (over (\$50,000); Dentist K (CX0610 at 002; CX0265 at 001) (over \$15,000); Dentist L (CX0607 at 001; CX0276 at 001) (over \$15,000); Dentist M (CX0609 at 001-002; CX0043 at 003-010) (over \$15,000); Dentist N (CX0613 at 004-005; CX0102 at 001-002) (over \$15,000).

5. Meaning and purpose of cease and desist letters

a. Testimony of Board members confirms the intent of the cease and desist letters was to make non-dentists stop providing teeth whitening services

- 234. Dr. Wester testified that the cease and desist letter was a message to the recipient that "they should stop" or "cease and desist" from engaging in teeth whitening activities. (CX0572 at 016 (Wester, Dep. at 57)).
- 235. Dr. Allen testified that through a cease and desist letter, the "[B]oard [is] saying that you not only are ordered but you have the responsibility to comply with this order." (CX0554 at 034 (Allen, Dep. at 126-127)).
- 236. Dr. Allen further testified that a cease and desist letter from the Board is "an order in the same sense that the board as the State's designee to regulate the practice of dentistry and protect the public is is telling you not to do this anymore I mean, the letter implies that if you continue to do it you'll either be fined or in prison if you continue." (CX0554 at 034 (Allen, Dep. at 127-128)).
- 237. Dr. Wester testified that he treats a cease and desist letter sent by a case officer as essentially the same thing as an injunction or a court order, because the expected impact of a cease and desist order is that the recipient will stop doing what the Board wants them to stop doing. (Wester, Tr. 1337-1338, 1352-1353).
- 238. Mr. White testified that a cease and desist letter issued by the Board is "ordering [the recipient] either to stop whatever that activity is or to demonstrate why what they're doing is not a violation of the Act." (CX0573 at 007 (White, Dep. 19-20)).
- 239. Mr. White testified that he understands that in common parlance, "an order is viewed as a command to stop." (CX0573 at 010 (White, Dep. at 31)).

b. Contemporaneous documents of the Board members and staff refer to the cease and desist letters as "orders"

240. Contemporaneous e-mails, letters, and reports drafted by Board members and Board staff confirm that while the documents sent to non-dentist teeth whiteners are sometimes referred to as "letters," they are also referred to by Board members and staff as "Cease and Desist Orders." (*E.g.*, CX0070 at 001; CX0254 at 001; CX0258 at

001-002; CX0347 at 001; CX0404 at 001-002; CX0462 at 003-005; RX0019 at 005; RX0028 at 001).

- 241. On November 26, 2007, Board Investigator Dempsey wrote in an e-mail to Dr. Owens, Terry Friddle, Carolin Bakewell, Bobby White and Casie Smith Goode, that he "was able to serve the Cease and Desist Order to Ms. Heather York" of Celebrity Smiles. The next day, on November 27, 2007, Ms. Bakewell wrote in an e-mail that the Board "has recently issued Cease and Desist Orders to an out of state company that has been providing bleaching services in a number of malls in the state." (CX0350 at 001; CX0254 at 001).
- 242. On January 18, 2007, Board Investigator Dempsey wrote that the Amazing Grace Spa was sent "a Cease and Desist Order." (CX0347 at 001).
- 243. On January 17, 2008, Board Investigator Dempsey wrote in an Investigative Memo regarding a kiosk teeth whitening vendor that "Mr. Cogan explained that ... he had not officially received a Cease & Desist Order. I explained that Mr. Nelson [the President of the company that manufactured Mr. Cogan's teeth whitening products] said that he had, and I was informing him verbally that he needed to cease and desist Before leaving, I explained, once again, that I was a representative of the North Carolina State Board of Dental Examiners and that he was practicing dentistry without a license and that he should cease and desist." (CX0258 at 001-002).
- 244. On February 20, 2008, Mr. Bobby White wrote in an e-mail in response to a dentist's complaint, "We've sent out numerous Cease and Desist Orders throughout the state." (CX0404 at 001).
- 245. Board members intended and understood that the cease and desist letters were intended to stop the recipients from providing teeth whitening services. (F. 234-244).

6. Effects of cease and desist letters

- 246. Some recipients of the cease and desist letters believed that the communication they received was an order from a state agency to stop teeth whitening activities. (F. 247-256).
- 247. In a letter from Tonya Norwood, received by the Board on February 9, 2009, the owner of Modern Enhancement Salon stated that she would "no longer perform this service as per your order to stop and will no longer perform teeth whitening services unless told otherwise by the North Carolina Board of Dental Examiners." (CX0162 at 001).
- 248. On March 27, 2007, Ms. Pamela Weaver of the Amazing Grace Spa responded to a cease and desist letter from the Board by stating that she had removed the teeth whitening machine from her salon. (CX0347 at 001; CX0050 at 001).

- 249. Mr. George Nelson of WhiteScience understood the cease and desist letters sent by the Board as "ordering businesses to close. [The Board] issue[s] a cease and desist and they order [non-dentist teeth whitening operations] to close and not to continue in the teeth whitening business with no other discussion or options . . . I personally haven't heard and been advised about any type of permitting or other type of option. I've only heard about ordering the close of the business." (Nelson, Tr. 850).
- 250. As a result of the Board's cease and desist letter, Triad Body Secret ceased offering teeth whitening services it had previously provided using the WhiteScience product. (Nelson, Tr. 785-786; CX0389 at 001-002).
- 251. After receiving a cease and desist letter from the Board dated February 8, 2007, the owner of Champagne Taste Salon, also known as "Lash Lady", wrote to the Board stating that "they have now stopped offering [teeth whitening] service[s]." (CX0622 at 003).
- 252. By February 29, 2008, according to a Memorandum to Members of the Board from Terry Friddle regarding Closed Investigative Files, after receiving a cease and desist letter from the Board, Savage Tan Salon no longer offered teeth whitening services at the location visited by the Board's investigator. (CX0623 at 003-004).
- 253. Margie Hughes of SheShe Studio Spa stopped offering teeth whitening services to the public after receiving the Board's cease and desist letter. (Hughes, Tr. 943, 946).
- 254. After receiving a cease and desist letter from the Board dated January 31, 2007, Details, Inc. notified the Board that it had sold its teeth whitening equipment and was no longer providing teeth whitening services. (CX0660 at 003).
- 255. After receiving a cease and desist letter from the Board dated July 17, 2008, the owner of Bailey's Lightning Whitening wrote to the Board that "due to [the Board's] letter[, she] had disposed of the [teeth whitening] product" and "would not be providing any teeth whitening services at her salon." (CX0658 at 005).
- 256. The Board's cease and desist letters were effective in causing non-dentists to cease providing teeth whitening services in North Carolina. (F. 247-255; Kwoka, Tr. 1007-1008; RX0078 at 008 (Respondent's expert stating, "[n]ot surprisingly, the actions of the State Board were effective and many kiosk and spa operators complied with state law by ceasing their actions that were clearly in violation of state law.").
- 257. When non-dentists ceased providing teeth whitening services in North Carolina, consumers were denied the ability to choose a non-dentist teeth whitening service provider. (Kwoka, Tr. 1136-1137, 1219; CX0654 at 005-006). *See also* CX0826 (Baumer, Dep. at 122-123 ("Yes, there's no doubt that, you know, if you reduce products, other things being equal, that there's a loss in consumer welfare or consumer surplus.")).

7. Board alternatives

- 258. Bobby White does not believe that the Board's ability to enforce the Dental Practice Act would be impacted if the letters that the Board sent out to non-dentist teeth whitening businesses stated that the Board believes that the recipient violated the law and may take the recipient to court to get an injunction or other relief, instead of stating "you are hereby ordered to cease and desist." (CX0573 at 010 (White, Dep. at 30)).
- 259. In October 2000, a letter sent to Ortho Depot regarding alleged unauthorized practice of dentistry had no heading stating "Cease and Desist," nor did the body of the letter state "You are hereby ordered to cease and desist." Instead, the Board letter stated "This is to advise you that the North Carolina State Board of Dental Examiners is considering initiating a civil suit to enjoin you from the unlawful practice of dentistry." (CX0136 at 001 (October 3, 2000).
- 260. A December 2001 letter notified the recipient that "[i]t has come to the attention of the North Carolina State Board of Dental Examiners that you may be setting up a dental practice in conjunction with the Dowd Central YMCA. This is to advise you that the Board is conducting an inquiry based on this knowledge." This letter neither had a heading stating "Cease and Desist," nor did the body of the letter state "You are hereby ordered to cease and desist." (CX0139 at 001 (December 10, 2001)). When the Board did not receive a response to its letter, it sent a follow-up letter, which is similarly void of any "cease and desist" language, and simply reiterates the request for the recipient to respond. (CX0138 at 001 (February 12, 2002)).

F. The Board and Teeth Whitening Manufacturers and Distributors, and Potential Entrants

- 261. The Board communicated to manufacturers and distributors of teeth whitening products and equipment that the provision of teeth whitening services by non-dentists is, constitutes, or may constitute, the unauthorized practice of dentistry in North Carolina, which is a misdemeanor. (CX0100 at 001; CX0122 at 001; Nelson, Tr. 850; CX0371 at 001; CX0110 at 001; CX0066 at 001).
- 262. Of the 47 cease and desist letters sent by the Board (F. 219), two were sent to manufacturers of teeth whitening products used by non-dentists. (CX0100 at 001 (WhiteScience); CX0122 at 001-002 (Florida WhiteSmile)).
- 263. On February 13, 2007, Ms. Bakewell wrote WhiteScience, regarding its present and future sales of non-dentist teeth whitening systems in North Carolina. On behalf of the Board, Ms. Bakewell represented to WhiteScience that those who purchased and provided WhiteScience's systems to the public may be practicing unlicensed dentistry, which is a misdemeanor, and that WhiteScience should "accurately inform current and potential customers of the limitations on the provision of teeth whitening services in North Carolina." (CX0110 at 001).

- 264. During the August 10 and 11, 2007 Board meeting, the Board discussed an inquiry by Frank Recker, an attorney representing WhiteScience, into whether WhiteScience could market its teeth whitening product to spas and salons operated by non-dentists. The Board's meeting minutes state with respect to WhiteScience's inquiry: "Upon review of the literature, it was determined that the application of bleaching gels or similar materials to human teeth and the use of a light to speed the curing process constituted the practice of dentistry.... Staff was directed to respond." (CX0106 at 005; CX0206 at 005).
- 265. The Board issued a "Notice to Cease and Desist" letter to WhiteScience on December 4, 2007 advising that "assisting clients to accelerate the whitening process with an LED light . . . constitutes the unauthorized practice of dentistry. This is a misdemeanor. The Board hereby directs your company to cease its activities unless they are performed or supervised by a properly licensed North Carolina dentist." The letter was signed by Ms. Bakewell as Board counsel. (CX0100 at 001).
- 266. George Nelson of WhiteScience understood from the letter he received from the Board, described in F. 265, that the people WhiteScience was selling to in North Carolina would be committing a misdemeanor. (Nelson, Tr. 775; CX0110).
- 267. Mr. Nelson of WhiteScience understood from his salon operators in North Carolina that the Board was ordering the salons to close their teeth whitening businesses. (Nelson, Tr. 776-777, 786, 789). "They issue a cease and desist and they order them to close and not to continue on the teeth whitening business with no other discussion or options . . . I personally haven't heard and been advised about any type of permitting or other type of option. I've only heard about ordering the closing of the business." (Nelson, Tr. 850).
- 268. Before being what Mr. Nelson described as "shut down" by the Board, WhiteScience was making close to \$200,000 a year in sales of teeth whitening products in North Carolina. After the Board's actions with respect to WhiteScience, WhiteScience retail sales in North Carolina evaporated to nothing, from over a million dollars yearly. (Nelson, Tr. 734-736.)
- 269. As a result of WhiteScience's salon clients receiving cease and desist letters from the Board, the salon clients severed their relationships with WhiteScience. (Nelson, Tr. 785-786; CX0389 at 001-002).
- 270. Pam Helmendollar, with Savvy Salon and Spa in North Carolina informed WhiteScience that she stopped providing teeth whitening services at her business because she believed that the North Carolina Board of Cosmetic Arts Examiners deemed it unlawful for salons to provide teeth whitening services. She offered to give her remaining two whitening systems back to WhiteScience. (Nelson, Tr. 786-787; CX0814 at 001).

- 271. WhiteSmile first marketed its products and services in North Carolina in the spring of 2007 through a trade show in Raleigh and Charlotte, North Carolina. Jim Valentine, co-founder of WhiteSmile considered these trade show experiences to be very successful. (Valentine, Tr. 561).
- 272. WhiteSmile chose not to pursue locating within Sam's Clubs in North Carolina in late 2007, even though North Carolina would have been a good market with a large number of Sam's Clubs. This was because both WhiteSmile and Sam's Club were aware of the actions taken by the Board in North Carolina against non-dentist teeth whiteners. (Valentine, Tr. 562-563).
- 273. WhiteSmile became aware of the Board's position regarding non-dentist teeth whitening through his contacts with potential investors in North Carolina. WhiteSmile learned of the Board's use of cease and desist letters, and counsel for the investors was told by the Board that WhiteSmile's operations would be considered the practice of dentistry, even though providers would not touch their customers' mouths. (Valentine, Tr. 562-564).
- 274. On October 7, 2008, the Board issued a "Notice and Order to Cease and Desist," to Florida WhiteSmile, Orlando, Florida, stating that it was "investigating a report that you are engaged in the unlicensed practice of dentistry. Practicing dentistry without a license in North Carolina is a crime. . . . You are hereby ordered to CEASE AND DESIST any and all activity constituting the practice of dentistry" (CX0122 at 001-002).
- 275. When Mr. Valentine contacted the Board to inquire as to whether WhiteSmile could market its self-applied system to non-dentists in North Carolina, the Board advised him that the Board considered WhiteSmile's product and procedures to be the practice of dentistry, which must be performed by a licensed dentist. (Valentine, Tr. 564-567; CX0108; CX0206 at 004-005).
- 276. Mr. Valentine's inquiry (F. 275) was discussed in the Board's minutes of its meeting on August 10 and 11, 2007. The minutes state with regard to WhiteSmile: "Upon review of the literature, it was determined that the application of this product constituted the practice of dentistry and must be provided by a licensed dentist . . . Only dentists and properly licensed and supervised auxiliaries may assist in the removal of stains, accretions or deposits from the teeth of other humans. This would include the application of bleaching gels or similar materials to a customer's teeth and using curing lights or similar methods to speed the process." Staff was directed to respond to Mr. Valentine's request. (CX0206 at 004-005; Valentine, Tr. 564-567; see also CX0106 at 005).
- 277. WhiteSmile's negotiations with potential investors in North Carolina fell apart due to the investors' and their attorneys' concerns over whether the Board would allow non-dentist teeth whitening. (Valentine, Tr. 563-564).

- 278. WhiteSmile eventually entered the North Carolina market in 2009 inside Sam's Clubs, after The News & Observer newspaper reported that North Carolina was going to look at teeth whitening on a case by case basis. This report satisfied Sam's Clubs that WhiteSmile could use their space. (Valentine, Tr. 567; CX0158).
- 279. WhiteSmile delayed its entry into the North Carolina market as a result of the Board's opposition, described in F. 276. WhiteSmile would have entered the North Carolina market in January 2008 had it not been for the Board's opposition to non-dentist provided teeth whitening services. As a result of the one and one-half year delay in entering the market, WhiteSmile estimates a loss of a one and one-half million dollars. (Valentine, Tr. 567-570).
- 280. On February 13, 2007, Ms. Bakewell, as counsel to the Board, wrote Enhanced Light Technologies stating that it had come to the attention of the Board that representatives of the firm "have sold and/or attempted to sell teeth whitening systems to non-dental professionals in North Carolina, such as spa and salon owners" and advising that "[i]ndividuals who use your products to provide teeth whitening services to the public may be engaging in the unauthorized practice of dentistry, which is a misdemeanor." The letter further stated that Enhanced Light Technologies should "accurately inform current and potential customers of the limitations on the provision of teeth whitening services in North Carolina." (CX0371 at 001).
- 281. As a result of the Dental Board's actions, including the issuance of cease and desist letters to non-dentist teeth whitening service providers in North Carolina, manufacturers of teeth whitening products used by non-dentist teeth whiteners have lost sales in North Carolina. (Nelson, Tr. 734-736, 774-778, 785-786; CX0814 at 001; CX0389 at 001-002 (WhiteScience); Valentine, Tr. 562-564, 567-570, 575 (WhiteSmile USA); Osborn, Tr. 671-675 (BriteWhite)).
- 282. Ms. Joyce Osborn of BEKS, Inc., which sells the BriteWhite System, stopped selling her products in North Carolina in 2008, because she was afraid of the risk of getting a cease and desist letter. Ms. Osborn was aware of the Board's cease and desist letters, and that one of her purchasers, Signature Spas, had been sued by the Board and went out of business. (Osborn, Tr. 670-674).
- 283. BriteWhite products have not been sold in North Carolina since 2008, even though there have been requests for its product from people in North Carolina, and even though Ms. Osborn would like to be selling in North Carolina. (Osborn, Tr. 671-675).
- 284. In an e-mail dated January 17, 2008, Board counsel Carolin Bakewell informed a nondentist teeth whitener – in response to the teeth whitener's inquiries into the legality of teeth whitening in North Carolina – that the Dental Practice Act defines the practice of dentistry to include the "removal of stains and accretions." Ms. Bakewell informed the inquiring teeth whitener that his or her whitening business, which provides customers with a personal tray with a whitening solution and use of a whitening light, violated the statute because it was designed to remove stains from human teeth. Ms.

Bakewell further told the inquiring teeth whitener that the statute is not limited to situations where the non-dentist touches the customer's mouth. (CX0291 at 002-003).

- 285. On February 12, 2008, Board counsel Carolin Bakewell responded to an e-mail from Craig Francis inquiring about what he needed to do in order to lawfully operate a mall whitening kiosk. Ms. Bakewell informed Mr. Francis he "may not operate a whitening kiosk except under the direct supervision of a licensed North Carolina dentist. The prohibition remains the same even if the customer inserts the whitening tray themselves." (CX0523 at 001).
- 286. The purpose and effect of the communications described in F. 261-265, 274-276 was to discourage or prevent manufacturers and distributors of teeth whitening products and equipment from providing products and equipment to non-dentist teeth whitening service providers in North Carolina. (F. 266-273, 277-279, 281-283).
- 287. The purpose of the communications described in F. 284-285 was to dissuade the recipients from entering the teeth whitening market in North Carolina.

G. The Board and Property Owners and Mall Operators

1. Letters to mall operators regarding non-dentist teeth whitening service providers

288. On November 21, 2007, the Board sent 11 nearly identical letters to third parties, including mall management and out-of-state mall property management companies. These letters stated:

The N.C. State Board of Dental Examiners is the agency created by the North Carolina legislature to enforce the dental laws in this state. The Dental Board has learned that an out of state company has leased kiosks in a number of shopping malls in North Carolina for the purpose of offering tooth whitening services to the public.

North Carolina law specifically provides that the removal of stains from human teeth constitutes the practice of dentistry. See N.C. Gen. Stat. 90-29(b)(2), a copy of which is enclosed. The unauthorized practice of dentistry is a misdemeanor. See N.C. Gen. Stat. 90-40, a copy of which is also enclosed.

It is our information that the teeth whitening services offered at these kiosks are not supervised by a licensed North Carolina dentist. Consequently, this activity is illegal.

The Dental Board would be most grateful if your company would assist us in ensuring that the property owned or managed by your company is not being used for improper activity that could create a risk to the public health and safety. (CX0203 at 001; CX0204 at 001-002; CX0205 at 001-002; CX0259 at 001-002; CX0260 at 001-002; CX0261 at 001-002; CX0262 at 001-002; CX0263 at 001-002; CX0323 at 001-002; CX0324 at 001-002; CX0325 at 001-002; CX0326 at 001-002; (Joint Stipulations of Law and Fact ¶ 31; CX0560 at 051 (Feingold, Dep. at 195-196)).

- 289. The Board members unanimously approved sending the November 21, 2007 letters to mall operators described in F. 288. (Hardesty, Tr. 2864; CX0565 at 054-055 (Hardesty, Dep. at 206-208, 210)).
- 290. It was the Board's intention to send "quite a number" of letters to mall operators warning them that kiosk teeth whiteners were violating the Dental Practice Act by offering teeth whitening services. (CX0565 at 055 (Hardesty, Dep. at 210); CX0203 at 001).
- 291. In separate letters, dated January 23, 2008, Board counsel Carolin Bakewell informed Dr. Kyle Taylor and Dr. Michael Catanese dentists who each had alerted the Board of a teeth whitening kiosk in Carolina Place Mall of the actions that the Board had taken in regard to teeth whitening kiosks in Carolina Place Mall. Ms. Bakewell enclosed in each letter a copy of the November 21, 2007 letter that the Board had sent to General Growth Properties the company that owned Carolina Place Mall informing them that the Board viewed the teeth whitening services being performed in Carolina Place Mall to be illegal. (CX0102 at 001-003; CX0524 at 001-003).
- 292. The purpose of the November 21, 2007 letter sent by the Board to mall operators (F. 288) was to induce the malls to refuse to rent space to non-dentist teeth whiteners, because they were "breaking the law." (CX0560 at 052 (Feingold, Dep. at 199-200); *see also* CX0581 at 067-071 (Bakewell, Dep. at 262-263 (one purpose was to let mall operators know that non-dentist teeth whiteners were breaking the law, and if the Board took action against the kiosk owner, the kiosk owner might leave the mall and lessor would be left with a bad lease)).
- 293. The Board sent the letters to malls and mall property management groups in response to the complaints the Board had received and "in hopes of trying to prevent further expansion" of non-dentist teeth whitening kiosks in malls. (CX0562 at 019-020 (Friddle, IHT at 71-72, 75-76 ("So not to have them there")).

2. Effects of the letters to mall operators

294. As a result of the Board's November 21, 2007 letters to malls, mall companies, and mall management companies, (F. 288) mall operators were reluctant to lease space to non-dentist teeth whitening service providers in North Carolina and some companies refused to lease space and cancelled existing leases. (Wyant, Tr. 876-884; Gibson, Tr. 627-628, 632-633; CX0255 at 001; CX0525 at 001; CX0629 at 001-002; CX0647 at 002). See also RX0078 at 008 (Respondent's expert stating, "Mall operators

cooperated [with the Board's actions to enforce state law] by refusing to renew leases or rent to operators of teeth whitening services.").

a. Hull Storey Gibson Companies

- 295. John Gibson is a partner and Chief Operating Officer ("COO") of Hull Storey Gibson Companies, L.L.C. ("HSG"). HSG is a retail property management company that owns 11.5 million square feet of retail space in seven states, including North Carolina. Mr. Gibson became the COO of HSG in 1999. (Gibson, Tr. 613, 615).
- 296. Cathy Mosley is the Specialty Leasing Manager and Leasing Representative of HSG. She reports to Mr. Gibson indirectly through the Vice President for Leasing. Because Mr. Gibson signs all the leases, he has frequent direct contact with Ms. Mosley. (Gibson, Tr. 616).
- 297. HSG operates five malls in North Carolina, including the Blue Ridge Mall in Hendersonville, North Carolina; the Cleveland Mall in Shelby, North Carolina; the Carolina Mall in Concord, North Carolina; the New Bern Mall in New Bern, North Carolina; and the Wilson Mall in Wilson, North Carolina. (Gibson, Tr. 613-614).
- 298. HSG held a non-dentist teeth whitening event at its Lake City Mall. (Gibson, Tr. 625).
- 299. HSG's Blue Ridge Mall received a letter dated November 21, 2007, "Re: Tooth Whitening Kiosks," that was brought to Mr. Gibson's attention by Ms. Mosley. HSG's Cleveland Mall received a virtually identical letter. (Gibson, Tr. 626-627; CX0203 at 001-002; CX0259 at 001-002).
- 300. The content of the November 21, 2007 letters received by HSG is set forth in F. 288.
- 301. Mr. Gibson understood from these letters that the Board took the position that the person operating the kiosks and providing non-dentist teeth whitening services would be violating North Carolina law. (Gibson, Tr. 629; CX0203 at 001-002; CX0259 at 001-002).
- 302. On March 21, 2008, Lisa Schaak of HSG sent an e-mail to Ms. Mosley indicating that Mr. Craig of BleachBright of Carolina wanted to talk to her about space for teeth whitening. On March 21, 2008, Ms. Mosley replied to Ms. Schaak stating "Mr. Craig will need to provide us with proof that the Board of Dental Examiners will approve this. I have had feedback from several Developers letting me know that this use is illegal in several states and that their operations have been shut down in their malls." (CX0255 at 001-002).
- 303. Ms. Mosley brought the mall letter (F. 288; CX0203 at 001-002) to Mr. Gibson's attention because she had been told that a prospective kiosk tenant insisted that the Board had approved its teeth whitening procedure. (Gibson, Tr. 627-631; CX0525 at 001).

- 304. On March 21, 2008, Ms. Mosley e-mailed Ms. Bakewell to confirm representations that she had received from BleachBright of Carolina to the effect that its teeth bleaching process had been approved by the Board. (Gibson, Tr. 629-631; CX0525 at 001).
- 305. Ms. Bakewell's March 24, 2008 response told Ms. Mosley that the Board had not issued an approval for the operation of teeth whitening kiosks by BleachBright. (CX0525 at 001; Gibson, Tr. 631-632).
- 306. HSG would have leased retail space to non-dentist teeth whiteners in North Carolina had they not received the Board's letter to the mall operators and Ms. Bakewell's e-mail to Ms. Mosley. (Gibson, Tr. 622-623, 632-633).
- 307. HSG would be willing to rent in-line or specialty space in its North Carolina malls today, if the Board withdrew its letters to HSG. (Gibson, Tr. 624).
- 308. HSG has continued to receive inquiries from non-dentist teeth whiteners, but it has declined to consider leasing space to them. (Gibson, Tr. 633).

b. General Growth Properties and Simon Group Properties

- 309. On December 7, 2007, Angela Wyant signed a license agreement to rent kiosk space for Brian Wyant's business, a non-dental teeth whitening service using the WhiteScience system, in Carolina Place Mall with General Growth Properties, owner of the mall. (Wyant, Tr. 871-872, 875-876; CX0665; CX0668).
- 310. In late January 2008, General Growth Properties' leasing agent informed Mr. Wyant that his month-to-month licensing agreement would not be renewed and that his teeth whitening business would have to leave Carolina Place Mall by February 1, 2008. Mr. Wyant was told that the North Carolina State Board of Dental Examiners had sent a letter stating that the business was the illegal practice of dentistry. In a subsequent meeting with Carolina Place Mall General Manager Michael Payton, Mr. Wyant was shown the Board's letter to General Growth Properties and was told that General Growth Properties' legal team had advised them not to allow Mr. Wyant to stay in business at the mall. (Wyant, Tr. 876-880, 884; CX0260; CX0629).
- 311. On January 28, 2008, Mr. Wyant called Concord Mills Mall in Concord, North Carolina, a Simon Group Properties Mall, to inquire about the possibility of locating his business there. Mr. Wyant was told by Ms. Christy Sparks that the Concord Mills Mall would not rent to non-dentist teeth whiteners due to the North Carolina State Board of Dental Examiners' letter (F. 288). Mr. Wyant also contacted SouthPark Mall, another Simon mall, about relocating his business there, and was advised by Ada Nosowicz that moving to a Simon mall was not an option. (Wyant, Tr. 881-884; CX0629).

c. Southpoint Mall

- 312. On February 11, 2008, Craig Francis e-mailed Bobby White at the Board inquiring about what approvals he would need from the Board to lawfully open up a teeth whitening kiosk. Mr. Francis was intending to sell the BleachBright teeth whitening system. He stated he was seeking information from the Board because the leasing office at Southpoint Mall "mentioned something about the board and the laws associated with the kiosk." (CX0542 at 001). See F. 285 for the Board's response.
- 313. In an e-mail dated February 13, 2008, Alissa Neal told Board investigator Line Dempsey that she wanted to talk to him "about the teeth whitening businesses that are growing in malls and salons in our area." Ms. Neal related that she had spoken to The Streets at Southpoint Mall, which had informed her that the previous teeth whitening business at that location had been "shut down very quickly" and she wanted to know why that business had been ordered to leave. (CX0354 at 001).

H. The Board⁹ and the North Carolina Board of Cosmetic Art Examiners

- 314. Dr. Hardesty came to the realization that many of the non-dentist teeth whitening complaints were against salons and spas regulated by the North Carolina Board of Cosmetic Art Examiners ("Cosmetology Board"). (CX0565 at 060, 062 (Hardesty, Dep. at 233, 238)).
- 315. Dr. Hardesty believed that because a lot of the non-dentist teeth whitening providers were licensees of the Cosmetology Board, it was logical that the Cosmetology Board might be willing to assist the Board in its efforts regarding non-dentist teeth whitening services. (CX0565 at 060-061 (Hardesty, Dep. at 231-233, 236)).
- 316. Dr. Hardesty instructed Board counsel Carolin Bakewell to prepare an article for the Cosmetology Board to post regarding teeth whitening after discussing the issue with the other Board members at a Board meeting. (Hardesty, Tr. 2861-2862).
- 317. At the next Board meeting after Dr. Hardesty's realization referred in F. 315, Dr. Hardesty asked to go into closed session, and the Board had a general discussion regarding enlisting the assistance of the Cosmetology Board by allowing the Board to publish a letter to them. The Board, upon motion, formally approved the idea of having Ms. Bakewell write a letter to the Cosmetology Board. (CX0565 at 062 (Hardesty, Dep. at 238-240)).
- 318. At the Board's February 2007 meeting, the Board discussed the increase in complaints involving spas that are offering teeth whitening procedures. The Board also discussed advising the Cosmetology Board to let their licensees know that they should not engage in any unlawful teeth whitening procedures. (CX0566 at 030 (Hardesty, IHT at 115-116); CX0056 at 005).

⁹ As defined in F. 1, "the Board" refers to the North Carolina State Board and not the Cosmetology Board.

- 319. In February 2007, Ms. Bakewell forwarded a draft article for the Cosmetology Board's newsletter. The text of the draft would have been reviewed by at least Mr. Bobby White before it was sent out. (CX0067 at 001, 003; CX0581 at 079-081 (Bakewell, Dep. at 308-310, 311-316)).
- 320. In February 2007, the Board contacted the Cosmetology Board about the subject of non-dentist teeth whitening services and approved providing the Cosmetology Board with a notice that, consistent with the draft forwarded by Ms. Bakewell, stated:

Cosmetologists should be aware that any device or process that "removes stains, accretions or deposits from the human teeth" constitutes the practice of dentistry as defined by North Carolina General Statutes 90-29(b)(2). Taking impressions for bleaching trays also constitutes the practice of dentistry as defined by North Carolina General Statutes 90-29(b)(7).

Only a licensed dentist or dental hygienist acting under the supervision of a licensed dentist may provide these services. The unlicensed practice of dentistry in our state is a misdemeanor.

(Joint Stipulations of Law and Fact ¶ 33; CX0067 at 001, 003; CX0565 at 060 (Hardesty, Dep. at 231-232)).

- 321. The Board approved sending the letter to the Cosmetology Board regarding unlicensed teeth whitening by consensus after a five minute discussion with Board counsel. (CX0565 at 062 (Hardesty, Dep. at 238-240)).
- 322. In February 2007, the Cosmetology Board posted the Dental Board's notice on the Cosmetology Board's website. (Hughes, Tr. 940-941).
- 323. The purpose of the notice referred to in F. 320, posted on the Cosmetology Board's website, was to encourage the Cosmetology Board's licensees to cease providing teeth whitening services. (F. 314-321).
- 324. In March 2007, a cosmetologist advised the Board that they had ceased providing teeth whitening services, after learning from the Cosmetology Board on February 15, 2007 that it was not legal to do so. (CX0050 at 001 (letter from Ms. Pamela Weaver, dated March 27, 2007: "I found out . . . that it was not legal to use [a teeth whitening machine] from the state board of cosmetology and immediately removed it from the salon where I rent and have not used it since that time"); CX0347 (January 16, 2008 e-mail from Mr. Dempsey to Board members confirming that he made an on-site visit to confirm that Ms. Weaver no longer offered teeth whitening services)).
- 325. Other Cosmetology Board licensees also saw the statement against non-dentists performing teeth whitening services on the Cosmetology Board's website. (Hughes Tr. 940-943).

- 326. In an e-mail dated August 31, 2010, Pat Helmandollar notified WhiteScience that her salon "will no longer be doing teeth whitening in our salon/spa as the North Carolina board of cosmetic arts has deemed it unlawful to perform this service in a salon." (CX0814; Nelson, Tr. 786-787).
- 327. A direct result of the Board's actions with respect to the Cosmetology Board was to cause non-dentists to stop providing teeth whitening services. (F. 324-326; Hughes Tr. 941-943).

III. ANALYSIS

Complaint Counsel asserts that dentists and non-dentists compete with one another in the teeth whitening market. CCB at 70. Complaint Counsel states that salons, spas, and kiosks in shopping malls ("non-dentist providers") offer teeth whitening services to consumers, as do dentists, and that non-dentist teeth whitening services are a less costly alternative to going to a dentist to have one's teeth whitened quickly and efficiently. CCB at 70. Complaint Counsel argues that because the Board is a combination of competitors, its concerted actions to prevent non-dentists from offering teeth whitening services constitute an unreasonable restraint of trade. CCB at 72-74. Complaint Counsel further contends that the Board embarked upon a campaign to exclude non-dentist teeth whitening service providers from the market, using a variety of methods, including issuing cease and desist orders to nondentist providers; issuing cease and desist orders to manufacturers of products and equipment used by non-dentist providers; dissuading mall owners from leasing to non-dentist providers; dissuading potential entrants from starting non-dentist teeth whitening businesses; and enlisting the North Carolina Board of Cosmetic Art Examiners also to discourage non-dentist providers. Complaint ¶ 20-22; CCB at 70 (hereafter referred to collectively, as the "challenged conduct"). Complaint Counsel further asserts that this conduct was likely to, and did in fact, result in anticompetitive effects, and that there is no procompetitive justification for the Board's conduct. CCB at 89-102. Therefore, Complaint Counsel concludes, the Board's conduct constitutes a combination, contract or conspiracy in restraint of trade, in violation of Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission ("FTC") Act. As a remedy, Complaint Counsel requests an order enjoining Respondent from ordering non-dentists to discontinue providing teeth whitening goods and services, and from engaging in other conduct

and communications to prevent or discourage non-dentists from providing teeth whitening services, and teeth whitening goods provided in conjunction with those services.

The North Carolina Dental Practice Act, N.C. Gen. Stat. § 90-22, et seg. ("Dental Practice Act") provides that certain activities, including "remov[ing] stains, accretions or deposits from human teeth," constitute the practice of dentistry, and must be performed or supervised by a licensed dentist. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 90-29(b); F. 41-42. Respondent asserts that the provision of teeth whitening services by non-dentists equates to the "remov[al of] stains, accretions or deposits from human teeth," and thereby constitutes the illegal practice of dentistry without a license. RB at 9, 28-29. According to Respondent, the Board was therefore authorized, as an agent of the state enforcing the Dental Practice Act, to take steps to prevent non-dentists from providing teeth whitening services. RB at 3. Accordingly, Respondent argues, because the Board was acting in the public interest, as an agent of the state enforcing the Dental Practice Act, its conduct cannot be deemed unlawful under the rule of reason. RB at 9-11; see also RRB at 28-30, 37-43. In addition, Respondent argues that its actions were intended to promote social welfare, by ensuring that teeth whitening services are supervised by licensed dentists and by protecting consumers from dangerous or unsafe teeth whitening services. RB at 1, 12-14. Further, Respondent argues that the restraints on nondentist teeth whitening providers are procompetitive because they will serve to "protect legal competition within the marketplace," RB at 1; "promote competition between qualified, legal teeth whitening service providers," RB at 13; and will ensure that teeth whitening services are offered at a cost that reflects the higher skills of dentist providers, rather than at the lower cost alternative offered by assertedly lesser skilled, non-dentist teeth whitening service providers. RRB at 6, 12.

Before evaluating whether the conduct challenged in the Complaint is a violation of the FTC Act, the jurisdiction of the Commission must first be established. (Section III.A). The Initial Decision next provides an overview of the applicable legal standards for cases brought under Section 5 of the FTC Act. (Section III.B). Then, the analysis turns to a determination of the relevant market in which to evaluate the challenged conduct (Section III.C) and whether the challenged conduct constitutes "concerted action." (Section III.D). The analysis then examines whether the challenged conduct constitutes an unreasonable

restraint of trade (Section III.E) and analyzes Respondent's proffered procompetitive justifications and defenses. (Section III.F). Finally, the nature and extent of an appropriate remedy is addressed. (Section III.G).

A. Jurisdiction

1. The Board is a "person" within the meaning of the FTC Act

The Complaint charges Respondent with violating Section 5 of the FTC Act. Section 5(a)(2) of the FTC Act gives the Commission jurisdiction "to prevent persons, partnerships, or corporations . . . from using unfair methods of competition in or affecting commerce" 15 U.S.C. § 45(a)(2); *Kaiser Aluminum & Chem. Corp. v. FTC*, 652 F.2d 1324, 1327 n.2 (7th Cir. 1981). Complaint Counsel asserts that the Board is a "person" within the meaning of Section 5 of the FTC Act. CCFF 404. Respondent, at this stage of the proceeding, does not dispute that it is a "person" within the meaning of Section 5 of the FTC Act.

The Commission, in its decision denying Respondent's Motion to Dismiss, rejected the Board's argument that it was not subject to the Commission's jurisdiction and held that the Commission has many times exercised jurisdiction over state boards as "persons" under the FTC Act. *In re North Carolina Board of Dental Examiners*, Docket 9343, 2011 WL 549449, at *5 (Feb. 8, 2011) (hereinafter "State Action Opinion") (citing *Va. Bd. of Funeral Dirs. & Embalmers*, 138 F.T.C. 645 (2004); *In re South Carolina State Bd. of Dentistry*, 138 F.T.C. 229 (2004); *In re Mass. Board of Registration in Optometry*, 110 F.T.C. 549, 1988 FTC LEXIS 34 (1988)). In *Mass. Board*, the Commission reasoned that because the Supreme Court had held local governments, as agents of the state, to be persons within the meaning of the Sherman Act and the Clayton Act, they should also be considered persons under the FTC Act. 1988 FTC LEXIS 34, at *25. Consistent with this precedent, Respondent is a "person" within the meaning of Section 5 of the FTC Act.

2. The Board's acts are in or affecting commerce

To establish jurisdiction, Complaint Counsel must also demonstrate that the acts of Respondent are in or affect commerce. 15 U.S.C. § 45(a)(1) (prohibiting unfair methods of

competition "in or affecting commerce"); *McLain v. Real Estate Board*, 444 U.S. 232, 242 (1980). The Commission utilizes cases interpreting jurisdiction under the Sherman Act in analyzing its jurisdiction under Section 5 of the FTC Act. *In re North Texas Specialty Physicians*, 140 F.T.C. 715, 726-27 & n.9 (2005). Such approach was upheld in *North Texas Specialty Physicians v. FTC*, 528 F.3d 346, 354-55 (5th Cir. 2008).

"The Supreme Court on numerous occasions has emphasized the breadth of federal antitrust jurisdiction, even when wholly intrastate conduct of local actors is challenged." *In re North Texas Specialty Physicians*, 140 F.T.C. at 727 (citing *Summit Health, Ltd. v. Pinhas*, 500 U.S. 322, 328-31 (1991); *McLain v. Real Estate Bd. of New Orleans, Inc.*, 444 U.S. 232, 241 (1980); *Hosp. Bldg. Co. v. Trs. of Rex Hosp.*, 425 U.S. 738, 743-45 (1976); *Goldfarb v. Virginia State Bar*, 421 U.S. 773, 784-85 (1975)). "Wholly local business restraints can produce the effects condemned by the Sherman Act." *Rex Hosp.*, 425 U.S. at 743 (citation omitted). Indeed, the jurisdictional reach of the Sherman Act (and, thus, the FTC Act), "is coextensive with the broad-ranging power of Congress under the Commerce Clause." *Chatham Condo. Ass 'n v. Century Village, Inc.*, 597 F.2d 1002, 1007 (5th Cir. 1979) (citing *Burke v. Ford*, 389 U.S. 320, 321-22 (1967) ("When competition is reduced, prices increase and unit sales decrease Thus, the state-wide wholesalers' market division inevitably affected interstate commerce.")).

Purchases by a defendant of out-of-state goods are a factor in evaluating whether an activity substantially affects interstate commerce. *E.g., Rex Hosp.*, 425 U.S. at 744 (petitioner's purchases of out-of-state medicines and supplies considered in determining "substantial effect" on interstate commerce); *Miller v. Indiana Hosp.*, 843 F.2d 139, 144 n.5 (3rd Cir. 1988) (defendant hospital's treatment of out-of-state patients, purchase of medical supplies from out-of-state, and receipt of money from out-of-state, including federal funds, satisfies the requirement of affecting interstate commerce); *Oksanen v. Page Mem. Hosp.*, 945 F.2d 696, 702 (4th Cir. 1991) (same). *See also United States v. Robertson*, 514 U.S. 669, 672 (1995) ("[A] corporation is generally 'engaged "in commerce" when it is itself 'directly engaged in the production, distribution, or acquisition of goods or services in interstate commerce."") (per curiam) (quoting *United States v. Am. Bldg. Maint. Indust.*, 422 U.S. 271, 283 (1975)).

The Supreme Court has explained with regard to jurisdiction under the Sherman Act that the plaintiff "need not allege, or prove, an actual effect on interstate commerce to support federal jurisdiction." *Summit Health*, 500 U.S. at 330 (citations omitted). "Nor is jurisdiction defeated in a case relying on anticompetitive effects by plaintiff's failure to quantify the adverse impact of defendant's conduct." *McLain*, 444 U.S. at 243.

The evidence in this case establishes that manufacturers of teeth whitening equipment and products used by dentist and non-dentist teeth whiteners are located outside the State of North Carolina. F. 88-92. Dentist and non-dentist teeth whiteners in North Carolina use instrumentalities of interstate commerce and communication in the conduct of their businesses, including without limitation, the telephone and the internet to communicate with manufacturers of teeth whitening equipment and products located outside the State of North Carolina. F. 93. Dentist and non-dentist teeth whiteners in North Carolina purchase and receive products and equipment that are shipped across state lines by manufacturers and suppliers located outside the State of North Carolina. F. 94. Dentist and non-dentist teeth whiteners in the State of North Carolina transfer money and other instruments of payment across state lines to pay for teeth whitening equipment and products received from manufacturers located outside the State of North Carolina. F. 95.

In addition, the Board sent at least 40 letters to non-dentist teeth whiteners in North Carolina ordering them to cease and desist from providing teeth whitening services (discussed *infra* Section III.E.2) and some recipients of these letters sent copies of those letters to their out-of-state suppliers of products, equipment, or facilities. F. 96. The Board also sent at least 11 letters to third parties, including out-of-state property management companies (discussed *infra* Section III E.2) which impacted some of those recipients' decisions whether to rent to non-dentist teeth whitening service providers in North Carolina. F. 97-98. Two of the cease and desist letters were sent to out-of-state manufactures of teeth whitening products used by non-dentist teeth whiteners in North Carolina. F. 99.

Respondent argues that jurisdiction does not exist because the interstate commerce allegedly affected is the "illegal" interstate commerce of non-dentist teeth whitening. RB at 15. Respondent cites no authority for this argument. Moreover, the argument assumes that non-dentist teeth whitening has been held illegal, although Respondent cites no case that has interpreted the North Carolina Dental Practice Act in this way. Accordingly, Respondent's jurisdiction argument is without merit.

Under the broad jurisdictional scope of "a substantial effect on interstate commerce," the activities of Respondent are in or affect commerce. Thus, the Commission has jurisdiction over the Board, and the conduct challenged in the Complaint, under Sections 4 and 5 of the FTC Act. 15 U.S.C. §§ 44, 45.

B. Overview of Applicable Legal Standards

The FTC Act's prohibition of unfair methods of competition encompasses violations of Section 1 of the Sherman Act. *See, e.g., Cal. Dental Ass'n v. FTC*, 526 U.S. 756, 762 & n.3 (1999); *FTC v. Cement Inst.*, 333 U.S. 683, 694 (1948). "[T]he analysis under § 5 of the FTC Act is the same . . . as it would be under § 1 of the Sherman Act." *Polygram Holding, Inc. v. FTC*, 416 F.3d 29, 32 (D.C. Cir. 2005); *see also FTC v. Indiana Fed'n of Dentists*, 476 U.S. 447, 451-52 (1986). Accordingly, it is appropriate to rely upon Sherman Act jurisprudence in determining whether the challenged conduct violated Section 5 of the FTC Act. *Cal. Dental Ass'n*, 526 U.S. at 762 n.3; *see Indiana Federation*, 476 U.S. at 454-55 (noting that the same analysis applies to both violations of Section 1 of the Sherman Act and Section 5 of the FTC Act); *Realcomp II, Ltd. v. FTC*, 635 F.3d 815, 824 (6th Cir. 2011) (same).

Section 1 of the Sherman Act prohibits "every contract, combination in the form of trust or otherwise, or conspiracy, in restraint of trade or commerce among the several States" 15 U.S.C. § 1. Despite its broad language, the ban on contracts in restraint of trade extends only to unreasonable restraints of trade, i.e., restraints that impair competition. *State Oil Co. v. Khan*, 522 U.S. 3, 10 (1997). Thus, a Section 1 violation requires a determination of "(1) whether there was a contract, combination, or conspiracy -- or, more simply, an agreement; and, if so, (2) whether the contract, combination, or conspiracy 'unreasonably restrained trade in the relevant market." *Realcomp*, 635 F.2d at 824 (citations omitted); *Law v. NCAA*, 134 F.3d 1010, 1016 (10th Cir. 1998).

The analysis, thus, turns first to a determination of the relevant market that the challenged conduct is alleged to have affected. Next, whether there was a contract, combination or conspiracy is evaluated. Following that determination is an evaluation of whether the restraint unreasonably restrained trade and, then, an evaluation of the procompetitive justifications offered by Respondent.

C. Relevant Market

1. Framework

An antitrust violation requires proof that defendants (1) participated in an agreement that (2) unreasonably restrained trade in the relevant market. *Wampler v. Southwestern Bell Tel. Co.*, 597 F.3d 741, 744 (5th Cir. 2010); *NHL Players' Ass'n v. Plymouth Whalers Hockey Club*, 325 F.3d 712, 718-19 (6th Cir. 2003). "The first step in this analysis is determining the relevant market, which itself is a function of the relevant product market and the relevant geographic market." *Wampler*, 597 F.3d at 744.

The Complaint alleges that "the relevant market in which to evaluate the conduct of the Dental Board is the provision of teeth whitening services in North Carolina" and that "[t]eeth whitening services are offered by dentists and non-dentists." Complaint ¶ 7. The Complaint does not include in the relevant market "[t]eeth whitening products (such as toothpaste and OTC whitening strips)." Complaint ¶ 12.

Respondent argues that Complaint Counsel failed to establish the relevant market because "the teeth whitening market should include over-the-counter products – which are not regulated by the State Board – and should exclude illegal non-dentist provided services." RB at 16.

In its Reply Brief, Complaint Counsel asserts "market definition is not a prerequisite to establishing liability under the rule of reason." CCRB at 10. This assertion is contrary to established law. *E.g.*, *Ark. Carpenters Health & Welfare Fund v. Bayer AG (In re Ciprofloxacin Hydrochloride Antitrust Litig.*), 544 F.3d 1323, 1331-32 (Fed. Cir. 2008) (The first step in rule of reason analysis is for plaintiff to show that the challenged action has had an actual adverse effect on competition as a whole in the relevant market.); Geneva Pharms.

Tech. Corp. v. Barr Labs., Inc., 386 F.3d 485, 506-07 (2d Cir. 2004) ("Under the rule of reason, the plaintiffs bear an initial burden to demonstrate the defendants' challenged behavior 'had an actual adverse effect on competition as a whole in the relevant market.'"); *Worldwide Basketball & Sport Tours, Inc. v. NCAA*, 388 F.3d 955, 959 (6th Cir. 2004) ("Under the rule of reason analysis, the plaintiff bears the burden of establishing that the conduct complained of 'produces significant anticompetitive effects within the relevant product and geographic markets.""). Although in some circumstances no "elaborate industry analysis" is necessary to find an unreasonable restraint of trade (see discussion *infra* Section III.E.1 on legal framework; *Cal. Dental Ass 'n*, 526 U.S. at 770), the market in which competition has been allegedly affected must nevertheless be defined. *See Queen City Pizza, Inc. v. Domino 's Pizza, Inc.*, 124 F.3d 430, 436 (3d Cir. 1997) (affirming dismissal of complaint for failure to sufficiently allege relevant market, stating "[p]laintiffs have the burden of defining the relevant market").

The relevant market has two components, a geographic market and a product market. *H.J., Inc. v. Int'l Tel. & Tel.*, 867 F.2d 1531, 1537 (8th Cir. 1989). The relevant geographic market is the region "in which the seller operates, and to which the purchaser can practicably turn for supplies." *Tampa Elec. Co. v. Nashville Coal Co.*, 365 U.S. 320, 327 (1961). That North Carolina is the relevant geographic market in which to assess the challenged conduct is not disputed. *See* RB at 15-19.

The relevant product or service market is "composed of products [or services] that have reasonable interchangeability for the purposes for which they are produced – price, use and qualities considered." *United States v. E.I. du Pont de Nemours & Co.*, 351 U.S. 377, 404 (1956); *Eastman Kodak Co. v. Image Technical Services, Inc.*, 504 U.S. 451, 481-82 (1992) (noting that relevant market is determined by the choices of products or services available to consumers). Relying on *du Pont*, courts have found the "reasonable interchangeability" standard to be the essential test for ascertaining the relevant product market. *Worldwide Basketball & Sport Tours*, 388 F.3d at 961; *Hornsby Oil Co. v. Champion Spark Plug Co.*, 714 F.2d 1384, 1393 (5th Cir. 1983). "Reasonable interchangeability 'may be gauged by (1) the product uses, i.e., whether the substitute products or services can perform the same function, and/or (2) consumer response (cross-elasticity); that is, consumer sensitivity to price

levels at which they elect substitutes for the defendant's product or service." *Worldwide Basketball & Sport Tours*, 388 F.3d at 961 (citation omitted).

The evidence shows that there are four methods of teeth whitening, but that only dentist provided teeth whitening services and non-dentist teeth whitening services are reasonably interchangeable. Before discussing the four methods and their interchangeability, a brief overview of teeth whitening is provided below.

2. Overview of the methods for teeth whitening

There are three methods of whitening teeth: (1) the use of aesthetic or prosthetic dental restorations, such as crowns, caps or veneers; (2) dental stain removal, either through the application of toothpaste or by going to the dentist to have stains scraped off, including by the use of rotary instruments to polish teeth; and (3) bleaching, using peroxide-containing gels or serums that are applied to the teeth using a variety of delivery systems. F. 100. The challenged conduct in this case relates only to the third method of whitening, the use of peroxide-containing gels or serums. F. 100. The terms bleaching and whitening are used synonymously in this opinion.

Regarding whitening through the use of peroxide containing gels or serums, four methods are or were available in North Carolina: (1) dentist in-office teeth whitening services; (2) dentist provided take-home teeth whitening products; (3) over-the-counter ("OTC") teeth whitening products; and (4) non-dentist teeth whitening services in salons, retail stores, and mall kiosks. F. 105. Each of these methods uses some form of peroxide, either hydrogen peroxide or carbamide peroxide, and each involves application of that chemical in gel or strip form directly onto the teeth. F. 106. These four alternatives for obtaining teeth whitening differ in ways that are important to consumers, including immediacy of results, ease of use, provider support, and price, and are discussed below. F. 107.

Dentists began offering an in-office process of bleaching living teeth in the early 1990s. F. 101. This in-office process, also known as dental chairside bleaching, uses highly concentrated hydrogen peroxide (25% to 35%). F. 109. Around 2001, Proctor & Gamble introduced Crest White Strips: clear, thin, flexible pieces of plastic (polyethylene) that are

coated on one side with a thin film of a low level of hydrogen peroxide bleaching agent. F. 131. This and similar products can be purchased by consumers over-the-counter ("OTC") and are self-applied by the consumer, but, as discussed below, do not achieve teeth whitening results quickly. F. 131-32, 135.

Beginning around 2003, non-dentists began offering teeth whitening services, operating primarily in beauty salons, spas, warehouse clubs, fitness centers and kiosks at malls. F. 137-38. These non-dental providers of teeth whitening services use concentrations typically equivalent to 16% or less of hydrogen peroxide. F. 140. As further explained below, teeth whitening services provided by non-dentists achieve teeth whitening results in one visit, and, in this way, are similar to the teeth whitening services provided by dentists. F. 146, 150.

a. Dentist in-office teeth whitening services

Dentists in North Carolina provide teeth whitening services. F. 108. Dentist provided services typically use highly concentrated hydrogen peroxide, applied multiple times during a single office visit. F. 109. Dentists use protective barriers to prevent the gums from burning, paint the peroxide solution onto the teeth, and often use a curing light to activate the bleaching gel or expedite the process. F. 111-12. Dentist in-office teeth whitening provides results in one to three hours. F. 111. This service ranges widely in price, often costing between \$400 and \$700. F. 117-18. The principal benefits of dentist in-office teeth whitening services are that it is applied by a professional dentist, after an examination and determination that it is medically appropriate, and that it is quick and effective, providing immediate results in one visit to the dentist. F. 119. The disadvantages to dentist in-office teeth whitening are that it is relatively expensive compared to the alternatives, and it requires making an appointment with the dentist that may not be at a convenient time for the consumer. F. 120.

b. Take-home teeth whitening kits provided by dentists

Dentists in North Carolina also offer take-home teeth whitening kits that patients selfadminister after a consultation with the dentist. F. 121. Take-home kits provided by dentists include a custom-made whitening tray and whitening gel. F. 122. Take-home kits provided

by dentists typically use low concentrations of hydrogen peroxide or carbamide peroxide and require the consumer to reapply the whitening solution to his or her own teeth multiple times over a period of weeks or months. F. 125. Dentist provided take-home kits typically cost hundreds of dollars, in part, because the dentist performs a diagnostic examination, charges to fabricate the custom tray, provides instruction on its use, and supplies the whitening product and kit. F. 126. Take-home kits provided by dentists are usually more expensive than over-the-counter kits, discussed below. F. 127. Take-home kits provided by dentists are less expensive than the dentist in-office procedure and are also relatively effective at whitening teeth. F. 128. However, the consumer is required to apply the product at home a number of times without assistance. F. 128.

c. Over-the-counter products

Over-the-counter ("OTC") products include tray-less methods, such as gels, rinses, chewing gums, trays, and strips, for at-home bleaching. F. 129. These products typically use relatively low concentrations of hydrogen peroxide or carbamide peroxide and must be applied daily for an extended period of time. F. 130. OTC products are sold in a variety of locations including pharmacies, groceries, and over the internet. F. 130. Consumers self-apply the OTC strips directly to their teeth and must reapply them multiple times over multiple days. F. 132-33. OTC strips and trays typically cost between \$15 and \$50, depending on brand, quantity, and concentration. F. 134. The whitening results with OTC strips are highly variable because user compliance is variable; a great many consumers will not complete the whitening regimen, which may require as much as 30 days of daily use. F. 135. OTC strips have the advantages of the convenience of at-home treatment and low cost compared to the other alternatives. F. 136. The disadvantage is that OTC strips require diligent and repeated application by the consumer. F. 136.

d. Non-dentist teeth whitening services

Non-dentists offer teeth whitening services in mall kiosks, spas, retail stores, and salons. F. 138. Non-dentist teeth whitening typically uses a mid-level hydrogen peroxide/carbamide peroxide concentration, which is usually applied once during a single visit. F. 140. In a typical non-dentist bleaching procedure, the operator generally will: (1)

have the client sit in a chair; (2) put on protective gloves; (3) place a bib around the client's neck; (4) take a tray from a sealed package, which is either pre-filled with peroxide solution or which the operator fills with the peroxide solution, and hand it to the customer, who places the tray into his or her mouth; (5) adjust the light, if used; and (6) start the timer. F. 143. At the end of the procedure, the customer will remove the tray and hand it to the provider, who disposes of it. F. 143. Teeth whitening services offered in mall kiosks, spas, retail stores, and salons typically take one hour or less to whiten the customer's teeth. F. 146. The cost of non-dentist teeth whitening services varies, but ranges between \$75 and \$150. F. 147. Non-dentist chair-side bleaching is accessible, located most often in large shopping malls, and does not require an appointment. F. 149. Importantly, non-dentist whitening teeth whitening services can be completed in a single session. F. 150.

3. Interchangeability of the methods for teeth whitening

a. Interchangeability of products and services

Take-home products do not contain as much hydrogen peroxide as is contained in the products used by dentists and non-dentists in providing teeth whitening services. F. 170. Therefore, take-home products, whether provided by a dentist, non-dentist, or purchased over-the-counter, require numerous bleaching sessions over many days or weeks. F. 171. By contrast, chair-side bleaching, whether provided by dentists or non-dentists, is usually limited to a single bleaching session. F. 171.

The amount of time it takes to whiten teeth is important to some consumers of teeth whitening services or products. F. 172. If consumers want teeth whitening within 24 hours because, for example, they have a special event the next day, their choices are to go either to a dentist or to a non-dentist kiosk or salon for whitening. F. 153. OTC products do not achieve the same whitening results that quickly. F. 133, 136, 171.

OTC products are the least expensive alternative for consumers who are willing to self-apply bleaching products over several days or weeks, aided only by written instructions. F. 133, 136, 171. However, they are not a good substitute for chair-side teeth bleaching for consumers who want quick results or are concerned about self-application of OTC products.

F. 174. Therefore, teeth whitening products, whether sold by dentists or OTC, are not reasonable substitutes for teeth whitening services. *See* F. 170-74.

b. Interchangeability of services offered by dentists and non-dentists

If a consumer wants same day teeth whitening, the only ways to achieve that are to go to a dentist or to a non-dentist provider of teeth whitening services, such as those located in mall kiosks. F. 152-53. Dentists and non-dentist providers of teeth whitening services use higher peroxide concentrations than used in typical OTC products available in drug stores and supermarkets and, thus, work faster. F. 109, 140, 170-71. Non-dentist and dentist teeth whitening services have common characteristics, including higher concentrations of peroxide, provision of instruction, provision of a tray, loading of the peroxide, use of a light activator, and convenience of achieving results in one session. F. 151.

Cross-elasticity measures the degree of substitution between alternative products, defined as the percentage change in quantity and demand of one product as the price of a different product changes. *FTC v. Swedish Match*, 131 F. Supp. 2d 151, 157 (D.D.C. 2000) ("Interchangeability of use and cross-elasticity of demand look to the availability of products that are similar in character or use to the product in question and the degree to which buyers are willing to substitute those similar products for the product."); *see also* F. 154.

The expert testimony in this case establishes that there is substantial cross-elasticity of demand between dentist and non-dentist teeth whitening services, as testified to by Complaint Counsel's economic expert, Dr. John Kwoka, and agreed to by Respondent's expert, Dr. David Baumer. F. 155 (Dr. Kwoka concluding there is substantial cross-elasticity of demand between dentist and non-dentist teeth-whitening services and Dr. Baumer agreeing that there is a high cross-elasticity between dentist and non-dentist teeth-whitening services and Dr. Baumer agreeing that there is a high cross-elasticity between dentist and non-dentist teeth-whitening services). Respondent's expert further agreed that a reduction in the supply of teeth whitening services would have an upward impact on price. F. 162.

Dentists are aware that there is commonality between the services they provide and the services non-dentists provide. F. 157. Dentists have acknowledged that consumers may

choose to go to a kiosk teeth whitener to get their teeth whitened rather than to a dentist and that a non-dentist teeth whitener operating within two miles of a dentist could affect the volume of teeth whitening services provided by the dentist. F. 159-60. The fact that complaints sent to the Board about non-dentist teeth whitening services focus on the amount being charged by non-dentists also indicates a concern by dentists about competition from non-dentists. F. 196-97, 228, 231-32.

Non-dentist providers of teeth whitening services target advertisements to consumers who would or are considering going to the dentist for teeth whitening. F. 164. The advertisements boast similar results as dentists, but for a lower price. F. 164-65. In addition, Discus Dental, the largest manufacturer of whitening products for dentists, maker of Zoom and BriteSmile, has included salon/mall operations in its consumer surveys, showing industry recognition of interchangeability between dentists and non-dentist providers of teeth whitening services. F. 169.

4. Analysis

The geographic market is the State of North Carolina, because North Carolina is the region in which the dentists who comprise the North Carolina State Board of Dental Examiners operate (F. 7) and where consumers in North Carolina turn for teeth whitening services.

The product market is the provision of teeth whitening services by dentists and nondentists and does not include self-administered teeth whitening products. The evidence, set forth at F. 151-53 and summarized above, establishes that dentists and non-dentist teeth whitening services are viewed by consumers as performing the same function – effective teeth whitening performed in one session – and, thus, are reasonably interchangeable. Dentists and non-dentist providers also view themselves as offering comparable services. F. 157-68. Expert testimony confirms the cross-elasticity of demand between dentist and non-dentist teeth whitening services. F. 154-55. The evidence also establishes that self-administered teeth whitening products are not reasonably interchangeable with dentist and non-dentist providers of teeth whitening services because the products do not achieve the same results

sought by consumers. F. 170-74. Accordingly, the relevant market in which to assess the challenged restraint of trade is the provision of teeth whitening services in North Carolina.

D. Concerted Action

The first element of a Sherman Act Section 1 violation requires proof of a contract, combination, or conspiracy among two or more separate entities. *Valuepest.com of Charlotte, Inc. v. Bayer Corp.*, 561 F.3d 282, 286 (4th Cir. 2009); *Law v. NCAA*, 134 F.3d at 1016. "Independent action is not proscribed." *Monsanto Co. v. Spray-Rite Service Co.*, 465 U.S. 752, 761 (1984). "The fundamental prerequisite is unlawful conduct by two or more parties pursuant to an agreement, explicit or implied. Solely unilateral conduct, regardless of its anticompetitive effects, is not prohibited by Section 1. Rather, to establish an unlawful combination or conspiracy, there must be evidence that two or more parties have knowingly participated in a common scheme or design." *Mass. Board*, 1988 FTC LEXIS 34, at *28 (quoting *Contractor Utility Sales Co. v. Certain-Teed Products Corp.*, 638 F.2d 1061, 1074 (7th Cir. 1981)). "The term 'concerted action' is often used as shorthand for any form of activity meeting the section 1 'contract, combination or conspiracy' requirement." *Alvord-Polk v. F. Schumacher & Co.*, 37 F.3d 996, 999 n.1 (3rd Cir. 1994). *See, e.g., Viazis v. Am. Ass'n of Orthodontists*, 314 F.3d 758, 761 (5th Cir. 2002) ("[t]o establish a § 1 violation, a plaintiff must demonstrate concerted action").

In the instant case, Complaint Counsel alleges that the Board's efforts to prevent or eliminate non-dentist teeth whitening services, through issuing cease and desist letters and other communications to providers, manufacturers, potential entrants, and mall operators (collectively, the "challenged conduct"), constituted concerted actions of the Board. Complaint ¶¶ 18-22, 26. Complaint Counsel argues that it has established the element of concerted action, as a matter of law, because the Board, although ostensibly a single legal entity, is controlled by six independent dentist members, each with a distinct and independent economic interest, who compete in the industry they regulate. CCB at 72-73; CCRB at 27-28.

In support of this argument, Complaint Counsel notes that courts and the Commission have treated contracts and other agreements made by professional organizations and trade groups as "concerted action" of the controlling members, for purposes of Section 1, despite

such a group's organization as single, distinct legal entity. CCB at 72-72, citing, e.g., American Needle, Inc. v. NFL, 130 S. Ct. 2201 (2010) and Mass. Board, 110 F.T.C. 549 (1988). However, in both of the foregoing cases, there was no factual issue as to whether there had been "a contract or other agreement" made by the organization. In American *Needle*, the member teams of the NFL voted to cause its licensing entity, which the NFL had formed, to enter into an exclusive license agreement with one company and to terminate a previous license agreement with American Needle. In Mass. Board, the respondent's members collectively voted to promulgate regulations that restricted advertising by optometrists. See also FTC v. Indiana Federation of Dentists, 476 U.S. 447 (1986) (defendant dentists' union promulgated a work rule requiring member dentists to withhold xrays requested by dental insurers); Arizona v. Maricopa County Med. Soc., 457 U.S. 332 (1982) (medical fees were set by majority vote of medical foundation members, and contracts were made that bound members to abide by set fees); National Soc'y of Professional Engineers v. United States, 435 U.S. 679 (1978) (professional society adopted code of ethics prohibiting engineers from engaging in competitive bidding). The issue in both American *Needle* and *Mass. Board* was whether, given the membership composition of each organization, the organization was legally "capable of engaging in a 'contract, combination ..., or conspiracy' as defined by § 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1, or, ... whether the alleged activity . . . 'must be viewed as that of a single enterprise for purposes of § 1."" American Needle, 103 S. Ct. at 2208 (emphasis added); see also Mass. Board, 1988 FTC LEXIS 34, at *28-30.

Contrary to Complaint Counsel's argument, case law does not hold that the membership composition of a group, by itself, establishes the element of "concerted action" for a Section 1 violation. As the Commission stated in *Mass. Board*, Section 1 requires proof that that the members comprising the group "*agree* to a common design . . . The fundamental prerequisite of [Section 1] is unlawful conduct by two or more parties pursuant to *an agreement, explicit or implied*. . . . [T]o establish an unlawful combination or conspiracy, there must be evidence that two or more parties have knowingly participated in a *common scheme or design*." 1988 FTC LEXIS 34, at *28 (quoting in part *Contractor Utility Sales Co. v. Certain-Teed Products Corp.*, 638 F.2d 1061, 1074 (7th Cir. 1981)) (emphasis added). *See*

Copperweld Corp. v. Indep. Tube Corp., 467 U.S. 752, 771 (1984) (holding that agreement under Section 1 of the Sherman Act may be found from "a unity of purpose or a common design and understanding, or a meeting of minds"). Accordingly, a finding of a legal capacity to conspire does not resolve the issue of whether a conspiracy actually occurred. "The mere opportunity to conspire does not by itself support the inference that such an illegal combination actually occurred." *Capital Imaging v. Mohawk Valley Medical Associates, Inc.*, 996 F.2d 537, 545 (2d Cir. 1993).

Consistent with the foregoing authorities, it must first be determined whether the Board is legally capable of concerted action. Following that determination, the analysis next examines whether the Board's conduct with regard to non-dentist teeth whitening service providers was, in fact, concerted action, under the law.

1. The Board's capacity for concerted action

Complaint Counsel contends that the Board is controlled by six independent dentist members, who are practicing dentists with distinct and independent economic interests, and who compete in the industry they regulate. CCB at 72. Respondent claims that the Board's dentist members, although practicing dentists, have little, if any, economic interest in the challenged conduct of non-dentist teeth whitening services; are in any event ethically bound not to let their economic interests interfere with their work on the Board; and, in taking action with regard to non-dentist teeth whitening services, were pursuing the common business purpose of enforcing North Carolina law. RB at 24-26; RRB at 3-4. Accordingly, Respondent claims, the evidence indicates that the Board is not composed of competing economic actors, but rather constitutes a "unitary business enterprise" within the rule of *Copperweld Corp. v. Indep. Tube Corp.* 467 U.S. 752 (1984) (holding that parent company and wholly owned subsidiary were a "single aggregation of economic power" that could not conspire within the meaning of Sherman Act § 1).

"[S]ubstance, not form, should determine whether a[n] . . . entity is capable of conspiring under § 1." *Copperweld*, 467 U.S. at 773 n.21; *American Needle*, 130 S. Ct. at 2211. The relevant inquiry is not whether the defendant is a single legal entity, but whether the entity's decision-makers consist of "separate economic actors" with "separate economic

interests," whose joint decision could deprive the marketplace of actual or potential competition. American Needle, 130 S. Ct. at 2212-13. Accordingly, both the courts and the Commission have held that "when an organization is controlled by a group of competitors, the organization is viewed as a combination of its members, and their concerted actions will violate the antitrust laws if [those actions constitute] an unreasonable restraint of trade." North Texas Specialty Physicians, 140 F.T.C. at 738 (citing In re Michigan State Med. Soc'y, 101 F.T.C. 191, 286 (1983)). See, e.g., American Needle, 130 S. Ct. at 2212-13 (holding that NFL was capable of conspiracy where it was controlled by competing member teams that were each independently owned and managed); United States v. Sealy, Inc., 388 U.S. 350, 353-54 (1967) (holding that licensing entity operated and controlled by group of manufacturer-licensees was not a single actor for purposes of Sherman Act Section 1); Capital Imaging, 996 F.2d at 544 (holding that multi-member association of competing doctors, all of whom were in private practice for themselves, was capable of conspiring); Mass. Board, 110 F.T.C. 549, 1988 FTC LEXIS 34, at *29-30 (1988) (rejecting argument that Board conduct was unilateral action, where member optometrists were each principally engaged in private practice, and had separate economic identities). The rationale for such "jurisprudence is sound. Without it, any group of competitors could avoid antitrust liability ... by acting through single organizations that they control...." North Texas Specialty Physicians, 140 F.T.C. at 738. Indeed, antitrust law "has been particularly watchful of organizations of the various trades or professions. See, e.g., National Soc'y of Professional Engineers v. United States, 435 U.S. 679, 98 S. Ct. 1355, 55 L. Ed. 2d 637 (1978); Goldfarb v. Virginia State Bar, 421 U.S. 773, 95 S. Ct. 2004, 44 L. Ed. 2d 572 (1975)...." Virginia Academy of Clinical Psychologists v. Blue Shield of Virginia, 624 F.2d 476, 481 (4th Cir. 1980) (other citations omitted).

In the instant case, the evidence shows that the Board is controlled by member dentists, who hold six of the eight seats on the Board. F. 2, 15; *see also* F. 184 (only dentist members serve as case officers in non-dentist teeth whitening investigations). The remaining two seats, held by the consumer and hygienist members, have only limited authority, and virtually no role in or power over the Board activities affecting non-dentist teeth whitening. F. 36-40, 59-60, 192-93. Moreover, at all relevant times, each dentist Board member has been

engaged in the full-time practice of dentistry while serving on the Board. F. 6-7. Thus, the evidence shows that the Board is controlled by dentist members who are each "separate economic entities." *See Capital Imaging Associates*, 996 F.2d at 544 (holding that where each doctor in independent practice association practiced medicine in his or her own individual capacity, each was a separate economic entity); *Mass. Board*, 1988 FTC LEXIS 34, at *29 (affirming Administrative Law Judge's ruling that, where Optometry Board members were practicing optometrists, they had separate economic identities).

Respondent's claim that the dentists controlling the Board did not have competing economic interests with respect to non-dentist teeth whitening services is not borne out by the evidence. Many of the Board members provide teeth whitening services through their private practices and derive income from it. F. 8-11. Some dentists in North Carolina earned thousands of dollars annually in revenue from the provision of teeth whitening procedures during the period from 2005 until August of 2010. F. 104, 233. In addition, dentist members of the Board are elected by fellow dentists in North Carolina, and they campaign for their Board positions. F. 15-23. Moreover, the Board is funded by fees paid by dentists. F. 13-14. These facts support an inference that Board members have a financial interest in the business of teeth whitening. F. 12 (Board members "may well be influenced by the impact on the bottom line," including the financial interest of dentists, in deciding whether to ban nondentist teeth whitening). Board members are in a position to enhance their incomes and those of their constituents by preventing or eliminating non-dentist teeth whitening services. F. 12. The Board's assertion that it is subject to ethical rules against conflicts of interest on the part of its dentist members, RB at 31, and the fact that the members are obliged to enforce North Carolina law (F. 1, 33), do not transform the dentists' separate economic interests into a unity of economic interest as would negate the legal capacity to engage in concerted action.

Respondent's reliance on *Oksanen v. Page Mem'l Hosp.*, 945 F.2d 696 (4th Cir. 1991) and *Amer. Chiropractic v. Trigon Healthcare*, 367 F.3d 212 (4th Cir. 2004) (RB at 24-26) is misplaced. In *Oksanen*, the court held that a hospital and its peer review committee were not legally capable of conspiring with one another, due to the hospital's management structure and authority to overrule the committee's recommendations. 945 F. 2d at 702-05. *See also Trigon Healthcare*, 367 F.3d at 224-25 (holding that insurance company and managed care

advisory panel were not separate entities capable of conspiring together). In the instant case, unlike both *Oksanen* and *Trigon*, the claim is that the Board *itself* engaged in concerted action.¹⁰ In this regard, it is significant that the court in *Oksanen*, in evaluating the claim that the members of the peer review committee conspired among themselves, specifically recognized that when "physicians with independent and at times competing economic interests . . . join together to take action among themselves, they are unlike a single entity and therefore they have the capacity to conspire as a matter of law." *Oksanen*, 945 F.2d at 706. ¹¹

Consistent with the foregoing authorities, and based on the evidence, the Board is indeed legally capable of concerted action.

2. The Board's concerted action with regard to non-dentist teeth whitening services in North Carolina

Complaint Counsel argues that the Board can only act through its agents, that the dentist members are agents of the Board, and that the dentist members' actions against nondentist teeth whitening service providers, such as sending out cease and desist letters on behalf of the Board, were taken with the actual or apparent authority of the Board. CCRB 30-32. Therefore, Complaint Counsel concludes, it has proven the element of "concerted action" in this case because the conduct of the individual dentist members is attributable to the Board. CCRB at 31-32 (citing *Am. Soc'y of Mechanical Eng'rs v. Hydrolevel*, 456 U.S. 556 (1982); *NAACP v. Claiborne Hardware Co.*, 458 U.S. 886 (1982); and *Viazis v. American Ass'n of Orthodontists*, 314 F.3d 758 (5th Cir. 2002)). Complaint Counsel's theory is inapposite.

¹⁰ Although the introduction to the Complaint states that "[d]entists in North Carolina, acting through the instrument of" the Board "are colluding to exclude non-dentists from competing with dentists" in the teeth whitening services market, Complaint, p. 1, Complaint Counsel has apparently abandoned that claim in favor of the theory that the Board *itself* engaged in unlawful concerted action. CCB at 72-73 (stating that the conduct of the Board constitutes concerted action within the meaning of antitrust law and that because the Board's conduct constitutes concerted action, whether the Board conspired with non-Board dentists is immaterial).

¹¹ Moreover, the facts underlying the holdings in *Oksanen* and *Trigon* are readily distinguishable. In *Oksanen*, the peer review committee had been specifically tasked by the hospital's Board of Trustees to conduct a peer review and make recommendations. In addition, the Board of Trustees could modify the committee's recommendations at any time and, pursuant to by-laws, retained ultimate responsibilities for all credentialing decisions. Because of the committee's limited role as an agent of the hospital, with the hospital exercising control and authority over the committee, the court concluded that the peer review committee was akin to a corporation's officers, or members of an autonomous corporate unit, and was not a separate entity capable of conspiring with the hospital. 945 F.2d at 702-05. In *Trigon*, the insurer created the panel, held 6 of its 15 seats, including the chair, and the recommendations of the panel were not binding on the insurer. *Trigon*, 367 F.3d at 224-25. The facts of these cases are simply not analogous to the facts of this case.

In Hydrolevel, the issue was whether the American Society of Mechanical Engineers (ASME) could be held liable under Sherman Act Section 1 for conspiring with two other entities to interpret and apply a certain influential ASME code in a way that competitively disadvantaged Hydrolevel's product. Am. Soc'y of Mechanical Eng'rs v. Hydrolevel, 456 U.S. 556 (1982). The Supreme Court held that ASME could be held liable as a participant in the conspiracy with the other entities because the ASME members that participated in the challenged conduct were agents of ASME, acting with the apparent authority of ASME, and that it was not necessary to show that ASME ratified its agents' conduct. Id. at 573. In the instant case, however, Complaint Counsel contends that the Board itself conspired to remove non-dentist teeth whitening service providers from the market, not that the Board conspired with other persons or entities. See fn.10, supra. Compare NAACP v. Claiborne Hardware Co. (addressing whether NAACP, by a vote of its members, conspired with other organizations and non-member individuals in a boycott of white merchants); Viazis v. American Ass'n of Orthodontists (deciding, inter alia, whether the American Association of Orthodontists, through the conduct of some of its members, conspired with three other entities and one individual to keep Viazis' orthodontic appliance out of the market). Thus, whether the Board can be held liable as a participant in a conspiracy with other entities, because of the acts of its member-agents, is immaterial to determining whether the Board's conduct constitutes the concerted action of its members.

As explained above, to establish the element of concerted action, Complaint Counsel must show that the dentist members of the Board had an express or implied agreement to exclude non-dentist teeth whitening services from the market. An agreement results from two or more parties knowingly participating in a common scheme or design. *Mass. Board*, 1988 FTC LEXIS 34, at *28. *See Copperweld*, 467 U.S. at 771 (holding that agreement under Section 1 of the Sherman Act may be found from "a unity of purpose or a common design and understanding, or a meeting of minds"). Moreover, contrary to Respondent's argument, RB at 20-21, RRB at 4-6, "it is settled that 'no formal agreement is necessary to constitute an unlawful conspiracy,' *American Tobacco Co. v. United States*, 328 U.S. 781, 809, and that 'business behavior is admissible circumstantial evidence from which the fact finder may infer agreement." *Norfolk Monument Co. v. Woodlawn Memorial Gardens, Inc.*, 394 U.S. 700,

703-04 (1969) (quoting *Theatre Enterprises, Inc. v. Paramount Film Distributing Corp.*, 346 U.S. 537, 540). *See Alvord-Polk*, 37 F.3d at 1000 ("An agreement need not be explicit to result in section 1 liability . . . direct evidence of concerted action is not required.") (citations omitted). Thus, in *Realcomp*, the court held that the defendant's website policy, adopted by its governing members, constituted an agreement of its governing members. 635 F.3d at 824-25. In *Mass. Board*, 1988 FTC LEXIS 34, at *32, the Board's promulgation of regulations, after discussion and vote of the Board's members, was sufficient to demonstrate concerted action of the Board's members.

Applying the foregoing legal principles, the evidence in this case shows that the Board had a common scheme or design, and therefore an agreement, to prevent or eliminate nondentist teeth whitening services in North Carolina. This agreement is readily inferable from the Board's course of conduct in issuing cease and desist letters and similar Board communications designed to discourage non-dentist teeth whitening. *See* F. 207-45 (providers and manufacturers), 261-80 (manufacturers and entrants), 288-93 (mall owners and operators), 314-23 (North Carolina Board of Cosmetic Art Examiners). The consistency and frequency of the Board's message regarding non-dentist teeth whitening, over the course of several years and across the tenures of varying Board members, is highly probative circumstantial evidence of an agreement among Board members as to the content and purpose of that message. *Id.*; *see also* F. 32 (Board members from 2005 to 2010). Indeed, with respect to some of the Board's communications targeting non-dentist teeth whitening, there is direct evidence of advance discussion and formal approval by Board members. F. 264, 276, 289, 317, 321.

The Board's form letter issued to various mall operators stating that non-dentist teeth whitening was illegal was designed to prevent the expansion of mall-based teeth whitening kiosks, by inducing malls to refuse to rent space to non-dentist providers. F. 288, 290-93. The Board members discussed and unanimously approved this letter in advance. F. 289. In addition, the Board members expressly agreed to request the North Carolina Board of Cosmetic Art Examiners ("Cosmetology Board") to post a notice of the Board's position against non-dentist teeth whitening, in order to encourage the Cosmetology Board's licensees to stop providing teeth-whitening services. F. 317, 321. As with the mall letters, it is also

significant that the content of the notice, as well as its purpose, was discussed and unanimously approved by Board members in advance. *See id.* A similar message of the Board's position against non-dentist teeth whitening service providers was also sent to manufacturers of teeth whitening systems, after discussion and approval at a Board meeting. F. 264, 276.

The Board members' common design, and hence agreement, to prevent or eliminate the provision of non-dentist teeth whitening services in North Carolina is further demonstrated by the Board's issuance of cease and desist letters to non-dentist teeth whitening service providers. The cease and desist letters contained nearly identical messages and were issued over the course of multiple years and across the tenures of varying Board members, including at times upon receipt of a complaint without any additional investigation. F. 32, 210-26. These facts support the inference that the Board's issuance of these letters was an agreed policy of the Board's members, in response to complaints from dentists (F.194-206), in furtherance of the dentist members' common purpose to eliminate non-dentist teeth whitening. See also F. 201 (The Board's executive director responding to a complainant in February of 2008, referred to the Board's "going forth to do battle" with mall "bleaching kiosks" and its issuing "numerous cease and desist orders throughout the state"). Moreover, the cease and desist letters sent to teeth whitening product manufacturers and distributors were virtually identical to those sent to non-dentist teeth whitening service providers. F. 220, 262. This fact further supports the inference that the use of such letters was an agreed policy, in furtherance of the Board members' common purpose of discouraging the expansion of nondentist teeth-whitening services.

Respondent argues that Complaint Counsel has failed to produce evidence to exclude the possibility that, in issuing the cease and desist letters, the Board members were acting independently. RRB at 7. *See Toys "R" Us v. FTC*, 221 F.3d 928, 934 (7th Cir. 2000) ("When circumstantial evidence is used, there must be some evidence that 'tends to exclude the possibility' that the alleged conspirators acted independently." (quoting *Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Corp.*, 475 U.S. 574, 588 (1986))). For example, according to Respondent, evidence that the Board approached investigations into allegations of unlawful teeth whitening services in the same manner as it approached its other investigations into the

unauthorized practice of dentistry supports an inference of independent conduct, rather than conspiracy. RRB at 23, relying on *Merck-Medco Managed Care, LLC v. Rite Aid Corp.*, 1999 U.S. App. LEXIS 21487, at *25-27, 30 (4th Cir. 1999). While *Medco* notes that evidence of departure from normal business practices can be valuable proof of conspiracy, 1999 U.S. App. LEXIS 21487, at *30, *Medco* does not stand for the proposition that such proof is required to prove conspiracy.

Moreover, unlike Medco, the evidence in this case shows more than mere parallel conduct among Board members that could just as well be independent action, as contended by Respondent. RB at 27. Rather, as set forth above, the evidence shows a consistent, and persistent, course of conduct, using virtually identical language, over an extended period of time, during which the dentist Board members shifted and changed. See F. 27-32. Such facts tend to negate the possibility that the Board members were acting independently, "in parallel." In any event, the law does not require that the evidence exclude all possibility that the alleged conspirators acted independently of one another. Toys "R" Us, 221 F.3d at 934-35. Furthermore, it is not necessary to demonstrate that every Board member participated in the conspiracy. See In re Mich. State Med. Soc'y, No. 9129, 101 F.T.C. 191, 1983 FTC LEXIS 113, at *222 (Feb. 17, 1983) (holding that even if less than all members of an organization or association agree to participate, that fact does not negate the presence of a conspiracy or combination as to those who do participate). Similarly, proof of concerted action does not require a showing of simultaneous agreement by the alleged conspirators. *Interstate Circuit*, Inc. v. United States, 306 U.S. 208, 227 (1939) ("It is elementary that an unlawful conspiracy may be and often is formed without simultaneous action or agreement on the part of the conspirators.").

Finally, Respondent contends that, even if the Board is capable of concerted action, and even if it took concerted action with regard to the challenged conduct, such concerted action is not unlawful because the dentist Board members were acting to enforce the Dental Practice Act, and not to suppress competition. RB at 27-29; RRB at 7-8. Because this argument is not material to whether or not the Board's conduct was "concerted action," but

rather to whether that conduct constitutes an unreasonable restraint of trade, it is addressed in Section III.E below.

E. Restraint of Trade

Complaint Counsel alleges that the Board's campaign to exclude non-dentist teeth whitening providers from offering teeth whitening services constitutes an unreasonable restraint of trade. CCRB at 6. Complaint Counsel charges that the "methods of exclusion employed by the Board include issuing cease and desist orders to non-dentist providers; issuing cease and desist orders to manufacturers of products and equipment used by non-dentist providers; dissuading mall owners from leasing to non-dentist providers; and enlisting the Cosmetology Board also to threaten non-dentist providers." CCB at 70.

The Dental Practice Act provides that certain activities, including "remov[ing] stains, accretions or deposits from human teeth," constitute the practice of dentistry, and must be performed or supervised by a licensed dentist. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 90-29(b); F. 41-42. Respondent asserts that the Dental Practice Act limits the offering and provision of stain removal services to licensed dentists and authorizes the Board to take action to enforce this limitation. RB at 3. Because it is enforcing the Dental Practice Act, Respondent argues, the Board's actions against non-dentist teeth whitening service providers cannot properly be deemed an "unreasonable" restraint of trade. RB at 3.

The Commission has decided in this case that the Board, although an agency of the State, is not entitled to state action immunity for its alleged anticompetitive conduct. State Action Opinion, 2011 WL 549449, at *1. The Commission reasoned: "[T]he Board has presented no evidence to suggest that its decision to classify teeth whitening as the practice of dentistry and to enforce this decision with cease and desist orders was subject to any state supervision, let alone sufficient supervision to convert the Board's conduct into the conduct of the state of North Carolina." State Action Opinion, 2011 WL 549449, at *17. Respondent's contention, summarized above, that its conduct cannot be deemed an antitrust violation because it acted as a state agency enforcing state law, is logically indistinguishable from its argument to the Commission that, as a state agency enforcing state law, the Board is immune from antitrust liability. *See, e.g.*, Answer, pp. 8-17; Respondent's Motion to Dismiss, Nov. 3,

2010. Accordingly, the Commission's decision that the Board's actions are not protected from antitrust liability based on the state action doctrine effectively precludes the Administrative Law Judge from considering that issue, and forecloses Respondent from defending its conduct on the ground that the Board is a state agency enforcing state law. Similarly, the Commission's holding that the Board's conduct is not immunized as state action renders immaterial whether or not non-dentist teeth whitening services constitute a violation of the Dental Practice Act. Thus, whether non-dentist teeth whitening constitutes the "remov[al of] stains, accretions or deposits from human teeth," and, thereby, constitutes the illegal unlicensed practice of dentistry, need not and will not be addressed.

With that background, the analysis turns to whether the concerted actions of the Board constitute an unreasonable restraint of trade. The legal framework for such analysis is set forth below.

1. Legal framework

In analyzing whether an agreement unreasonably restrains trade, the Supreme Court has explained that "a restraint may be adjudged unreasonable either because it fits within a class of restraints that has been held to be '*per se*' unreasonable, or because it violates what has come to be known as the 'Rule of Reason.'" *Indiana Federation*, 476 U.S. at 457-58; *Realcomp*, 635 F.3d at 825. Complaint Counsel does not contend that the challenged conduct of the Board is unreasonable *per se*. Accordingly, the challenged conduct is analyzed pursuant to a rule of reason inquiry.

The conventional rule of reason approach requires courts to engage in a thorough analysis of the relevant market and the effects of the restraint in that market. *Realcomp*, 635 F.3d at 825 (citing *Indiana Federation*, 476 U.S. at 461). As the court in *Realcomp* explained:

A full rule-of-reason inquiry "may extend to a 'plenary market examination," *Continental Airlines, Inc. v. United Airlines, Inc.*, 277 F.3d 499, 509 (4th Cir. 2002) (quoting *Cal. Dental Ass'n*, 526 U.S. at 779), which may include the analysis of "the facts peculiar to the business, the history of the restraint, and the reasons why it was imposed," *id.* (quoting *Nat'l Soc'y of Prof'l Eng'rs v.*

United States, 435 U.S. 679 (1978)), "as well as the availability of reasonable, less restrictive alternatives," *id*.

Realcomp, 635 F.3d at 825. If the challenged restraint is shown to have actual anticompetitive effects, then the burden shifts to the proponent of the challenged restraint to provide procompetitive justifications for it. *Id.* In addition, "[m]arket power and the anticompetitive nature of the restraint are sufficient to show the potential for anticompetitive effects under a rule-of-reason analysis, and once this showing has been made, [the proponent of the policies] must offer procompetitive justifications." *Id.* at 827. However, proof of actual detrimental effects can obviate the need for an inquiry into market power, which is but a "surrogate for detrimental effects." *Indiana Federation*, 476 U.S. at 460-61, quoting 7 P. Areeda, Antitrust Law P1511, at 429 (1986).

A "quick look," or abbreviated rule of reason analysis applies to those arrangements that "an observer with even a rudimentary understanding of economics could conclude . . . would have an anticompetitive effect on customers and markets." *Cal. Dental Ass'n*, 526 U.S. at 770. In such cases, the nature of the restraint is such that the likelihood of anticompetitive effects "can easily be ascertained," or is "comparably obvious" and no elaborate or detailed market analysis is necessary. *See id.* at 769-71. If the nature of the restraint is deemed facially anticompetitive pursuant to this "quick-look," "the proponent of the restraint must provide 'some competitive justification' for it, 'even in the absence of a detailed market analysis' showing market power or market effects." *Realcomp*, 635 F.3d at 825 (quoting *Cal. Dental Ass'n*, 526 U.S. at 769-71).

The Commission has held that an abbreviated rule of reason analysis is appropriate in cases where "the conduct at issue is inherently suspect owing to its likely tendency to suppress competition. Such conduct ordinarily encompasses behavior that past judicial experience and current economic learning have shown to warrant summary condemnation. If the plaintiff makes such an initial showing, and the defendant makes no effort to advance any competitive justification for its practices, then the case is at an end and the practices are condemned." *In re Polygram Holding, Inc.*, 136 F.T.C. 310, 344-45 (2003), *aff'd Polygram Holding, Inc.*, 136 F.T.C. 310, 344-45 (2003), *aff'd Polygram Holding, Inc.*, 140 F.T.C. at 733-36; *In re Realcomp II Ltd.*, No. 9320, 2009 FTC LEXIS 250, at

*52-55 (Oct. 30, 2009). The Commission's "inherently suspect" framework is essentially a "quick-look' rule-of-reason analysis." *North Texas Specialty Physicians*, 528 F.3d at 360-61; *see also Polygram*, 416 F.3d at 36-37 ("Although the Commission uses the term 'inherently suspect' to describe those restraints that judicial experience and economic learning have shown to be likely to harm consumers, . . . the rebuttable presumption of illegality arises . . . from the close family resemblance between the suspect practice and another practice that already stands convicted in the court of consumer welfare.").

While there are varying modes of inquiry, the ultimate test of legality "is whether the restraint imposed is such as merely regulates and perhaps thereby promotes competition or whether it is such as may suppress or even destroy competition." *Polygram*, 136 F.T.C. at 327 n.14, quoting *Chicago Board of Trade v. United States*, 246 U.S. 231, 238 (1918). As the court explained in *Realcomp*:

Despite these different methods, "no categorical line" separates those "restraints that give rise to an intuitively obvious inference of anticompetitive effect and those that call for more detailed treatment." Cal. Dental Ass'n, 526 U.S. at 780-81. Rather, the Supreme Court has emphasized that "whether the ultimate finding is the product of a presumption or actual market analysis, the essential inquiry remains the same -- whether or not the challenged restraint enhances competition." Id. at 779-80 (quoting NCAA v. Bd. of Regents of Univ. of Okla., 468 U.S. 85, 104 (1984)). Accordingly, the Court has moved "away from . . . reliance upon fixed categories and toward a continuum," Polygram Holding, Inc. v. FTC, 416 F.3d 29, 35 (D.C. Cir. 2005), within which "the extent of the inquiry is tailored to the suspect conduct in each particular case," id. at 34; see also 7 Phillip E. Areeda & Herbert Hovenkamp, Antitrust Law ¶ 1507 (3d ed. 2010) . . . ("[T]he quality of proof required should vary with the circumstances."). Therefore, we must make "an enquiry meet for the case, looking to the circumstances, details, and logic of a restraint." Cal. Dental Ass'n, 526 U.S. at 781.

635 F.3d at 826.

Applying a rule of reason analysis, the challenged conduct of the Board constitutes concerted action which, absent a valid procompetitive justification, unreasonably restrains trade. As fully explained in detail below, the evidence shows that the challenged conduct is, by its nature, anticompetitive. (Section III.E.2.a). The evidence further shows that Respondent has market power. (Section III.E.2.b). The evidence additionally shows that the

challenged conduct has had actual anticompetitive effects. (Section III.E.3). Respondent's asserted procompetitive justifications and defenses are analyzed in Section III.F.

2. Potential adverse effects

a. Anticompetitive nature

The challenged conduct has been addressed in a summary fashion above, in the context of showing that the actions of Respondent constituted concerted action. Additional details of this course of conduct are described here in order to assess the anticompetitive nature of Respondent's conduct. "[T]he facts peculiar to the business, the history of the restraint, and the reasons why it was imposed," *National Soc'y of Professional Engineers*, 435 U.S. at 692, are reviewed first, however, to put the anticompetitive nature of the challenged conduct in context.

(i) Context for the challenged conduct

A. Teeth whitening popularity

Teeth whitening or bleaching has become one of the most popular esthetic dental treatments over the past two decades. *See* F. 102-03. In 2004, the American Academy of Cosmetic Dentistry reported that teeth whitening services had increased more than 300% since 1996. F. 102. A 2008 national Gallup Poll reported that over 80% of dentists nationwide engage in the practice of teeth whitening. F. 103.

Realizing the popularity of teeth whitening, non-denists began offering teeth whitening services to consumers in salons, spas, or kiosks at malls, in North Carolina in approximately 2003 or 2004. F. 137. Non-dentist providers of teeth whitening services have advertised that: they are comparable to dentists in terms of time and convenience; they can whiten teeth in one hour or less; and they charge lower prices than dentists for their services. F. 164-68. And indeed, the evidence shows that these services are a less costly alternative to going to a dentist to have one's teeth whitened quickly and efficiently. F. 148. Whereas dentist provided teeth whitening services commonly cost between \$75 and \$150. F. 117, 147; *see also* F. 150. For consumers who want their teeth whitened quickly, teeth whitening services

provided at salons, spas or kiosks at malls are the only reasonable substitute for teeth whitening services provided by dentists. F. 151-53.

B. Dentists' responses to non-dentist provided teeth whitening services

Dentists became aware that individuals who sought quick and inexpensive teeth whitening services saw salons, spas or mall kiosks as an alternative to going to the dentist. F. 157; *see also* F. 194-206. For example, Board member Dr. Burnham discussed with other Board members that individuals may choose to go to a kiosk teeth whitener rather than to a dentist to get their teeth whitened, and Board member Dr. Hardesty acknowledged that a nondentist teeth whitener operating within two miles of a dentist could affect the volume of teeth whitening services provided by the dentist. F. 159-61.

In or around 2003, the Board received its first complaints about non-dentists providing teeth whitening services. F. 194. Between August and September 2, 2004, four North Carolina dentists complained to the Board about Edie's Salon Panache. The complaints noted that the salon advertised that it was the second "salon in North Carolina to offer teeth whitening" and that it offered a price of \$149, which was lower than the amount dentists charge. F. 196. On September 11, 2006, another dentist faxed the Board a complaint noting that "increasingly large number[s] of spas in the Hickory area are offering their clients dental bleaching." F. 197.

At least 47 individual dentists filed complaints with the Board about non-dentist teeth whitening operations. F. 229. At least 29 non-dentist teeth whitening providers were sent cease and desist letters by the Board in instances where a North Carolina dentist had filed a complaint with the Board. F. 230. With one exception, dentists' complaints to the Board about non-dentist teeth whitening do not state that any individual had been harmed by the procedure. F. 231. The Board admits that "only three investigations it opened included a report of harm or injury to an individual." F. 228. Two of these investigations stem from consumer complaints and one stems from a dentist on behalf of his patient. F. 228; *see also* RFF 100-237 (listing by case name 28 investigations the Board has taken in response to

complaints and including in these proposed findings only three investigations based on complaints claiming harm from teeth whitening services by non-dentists).

Many of the dentists' complaints to the Board about non-dentist teeth whitening referenced the price being charged by, or attached advertisements showing the prices charged by, non-dentist teeth whitening service providers. F. 232. *See also* F. 196, 200, 202. Moreover, many of the dentists who filed complaints or inquiries that led to the Board investigations of non-dentist teeth whitening service providers derived income from the provision of teeth whitening services in recent years. F. 233. Some dentists in North Carolina earned thousands of dollars annually in revenue from the provision of teeth whitening the period of 2005 until August of 2010. F. 104, 233. Furthermore, many of the Board members provide teeth whitening services through their private practices and derive income from it. F. 9-11.

C. Summary of context

The evidence shows that non-dentists began to offer teeth whitening services at mall kiosks, salons and spas in approximately 2003 and, thus, recently entered the market for teeth whitening services. The evidence further shows that the overwhelming number of complaints to the Board from dentists reference the price charged by non-dentists, rather than the harm caused by this procedure.

In addition, the evidence shows that dentists and some Board members had an economic interest in preventing non-dentists from offering teeth whitening services. The expert testimony, from both Complaint Counsel's and Respondent's experts, confirms that Board members have a significant, nontrivial financial interest in the business of their profession, including teeth whitening. F. 12.

As stated in *Realcomp* by the Commission: "The circumstances surrounding the establishment of the policies, and Realcomp's evident aim of retarding the emergence of a new business model, underscore the exclusionary impact of those policies." 2009 FTC LEXIS 250, at *64. Here too, the circumstances of non-dentists recently entering the teeth whitening services market, and the Board's evident aim to prevent non-dentists from offering

teeth whitening services (discussed below) underscore the exclusionary impact of the challenged conduct. It is from this backdrop that the challenged conduct is assessed below.

(ii) The challenged conduct

The evidence shows that Respondent engaged in a concerted effort to exclude nondentists from the market for teeth whitening services and to deter potential providers of teeth whitening services from entering the market. Respondent pursued its objective through the following course of conduct: (a) sending letters to non-dentist teeth whitening providers, ordering them to cease and desist from offering teeth whitening services; (b) sending letters to manufacturers of products and equipment used by non-dentist providers, and other potential entrants, either ordering them to cease and desist from assisting clients offering teeth whitening services, or otherwise attempting to dissuade them from participating in the teeth whitening services market; (c) sending letters to owners or operators of malls to dissuade them from leasing to non-dentist providers of teeth whitening services; and (d) eliciting the help of the North Carolina Board of Cosmetic Art Examiners ("Cosmetology Board") to dissuade its licensees from providing teeth whitening services.

A. Letters to non-dentist providers

The Board has sent at least 47 cease and desist letters to non-dental teeth whitening providers and manufacturers since it began the practice in 2006. F. 218. These 47 cease and desist letters were sent on the letterhead of the North Carolina State Board of Dental Examiners. F. 219. At least 40 of the cease and desist letters sent to non-dentist teeth whiteners contain bold, capitalized headings that state: "NOTICE AND ORDER TO CEASE AND DESIST" or "NOTICE TO CEASE AND DESIST" or a heading that states: "CEASE AND DESIST NOTICE." F. 220. The text of the majority (39 of 47) of these letters states:

You are hereby ordered to CEASE AND DESIST any and all activity constituting the practice of dentistry or dental hygiene as defined by North Carolina General Statutes § 90-29 and § 90-233 and the Dental Board Rules promulgated thereunder.

Specifically, G.S. 90-29(b) states that . . . "A person shall be deemed to be practicing dentistry in this State who does, undertakes or attempts to do, or

claims the ability to do any one or more of the following acts or things which, for the purposes of this Article, constitute the practice of dentistry:"

- "(2) Removes stains, accretions or deposits from the human teeth;"
- "(7) Takes or makes an impression of the human teeth, gums or jaws:"
- "(10) Performs or engages in any of the clinical practices included in the curricula of recognized dental schools or colleges."

F. 221.

The Board's objective in sending the cease and desist letters was to order the recipients to stop providing teeth whitening services. *See* F. 234-45. This is borne out by testimony of Board members and staff and by contemporaneous Board documents. *Id.* For example, Dr. Allen testified that through a cease and desist letter, the "[B]oard [is] saying that you not only are ordered but you have the responsibility to comply with this order." F. 235. Mr. White, the Board's Chief Operating Officer, testified that through a cease and desist letter "the Board is ordering [the recipient] either to stop whatever that activity is or to demonstrate why what they're doing is not a violation of the Act." F. 238.

Contemporaneous e-mails, letters, and reports drafted by Board members and Board staff confirm that while the documents sent to non-dentist teeth whitening service providers are sometimes referred to as "letters," they are also referred to by Board members and staff as "Cease and Desist Orders." F. 240. For example, on November 26, 2007, Board Investigator Dempsey wrote in an e-mail to Dr. Owens, Terry Friddle, Carolin Bakewell, Bobby White and Casie Smith Goode, that he "was able to serve the Cease and Desist Order to Ms. Heather York" of Celebrity Smiles. F. 241. The next day, on November 27, 2007, Ms. Bakewell, Board counsel, wrote in an e-mail that the Board "has recently issued Cease and Desist Orders to an out of state company that has been providing bleaching services in a number of malls in the state." F. 241. On February 20, 2008, Mr. White wrote in an e-mail in response to a dentist's complaint, "We've sent out numerous Cease and Desist Orders throughout the state." F. 244.

B. Letters to manufacturers and potential entrants

Two of the 47 cease and desist letters discussed above were sent to teeth whitening product manufacturers. F. 262. On December 4, 2007, the Board issued a "Notice to Cease and Desist" to WhiteScience, advising it that assisting clients to accelerate the teeth whitening process with an LED light constitutes the unauthorized practice of dentistry, which is a misdemeanor. F. 265. The Board further directed WhiteScience to "cease its activities unless they are performed or supervised by a properly licensed North Carolina dentist." F. 265. On October 7, 2008, the Board issued a "Notice and Order to Cease and Desist," to Florida WhiteSmile, stating it was "investigating a report that you are engaged in the unlicensed practice of dentistry. Practicing dentistry without a license in North Carolina is a crime.... You are hereby ordered to CEASE AND DESIST any and all activity constituting the practice of dentistry ... " F. 274. In addition, on February 13, 2007, Ms. Bakewell wrote Enhanced Light Technologies, stating that it had come to the attention of the Board that representatives of the firm "have sold and/or attempted to sell teeth whitening systems to non-dental professionals in North Carolina, such as spa and salon owners" and advising that "[i]ndividuals who use your products to provide teeth whitening services to the public may be engaging in the unauthorized practice of dentistry, which is a misdemeanor." F. 280. The letter further directed that Enhanced Light Technologies should "accurately inform current and potential customers of the limitations on the provision of teeth whitening services in North Carolina." F. 280.

Moreover, the Board took action to dissuade potential non-dentist providers of teeth whitening services from entering the teeth whitening services market. In an e-mail dated January 17, 2008, Board counsel Carolin Bakewell informed a non-dentist teeth whitener – in response to the teeth whitener's inquiries into the legality of teeth whitening in North Carolina – that the Dental Practice Act defines the practice of dentistry to include the "removal of stains and accretions." F. 284. Ms. Bakewell informed the inquiring teeth whitener that his or her whitening business, which provides customers with a personal tray with a whitening solution and use of a whitening light, violated the statute because it was designed to remove stains from human teeth. F. 284. Ms. Bakewell further told the inquiring teeth whitener that

the statute is not limited to situations where the non-dentist touches the customer's mouth. F. 284. In another instance, on February 12, 2008, Carolin Bakewell responded to an e-mail from Craig Francis inquiring about what he needed to do in order to lawfully operate a mall whitening kiosk. F. 285. Ms. Bakewell informed Mr. Francis that he "may not operate a whitening kiosk except under the direct supervision of a licensed North Carolina dentist. The prohibition remains the same even if the customer inserts the whitening tray themselves." F. 285.

C. Letters to owners and operators of malls

On November 21, 2007, the Board sent 11 nearly identical letters to third parties, including mall management and out-of-state mall property management companies. F. 288. These letters stated:

The N.C. State Board of Dental Examiners is the agency created by the North Carolina legislature to enforce the dental laws in this state. The Dental Board has learned that an out of state company has leased kiosks in a number of shopping malls in North Carolina for the purpose of offering tooth whitening services to the public.

North Carolina law specifically provides that the removal of stains from human teeth constitutes the practice of dentistry. See N.C. Gen. Stat. 90-29(b)(2), a copy of which is enclosed. The unauthorized practice of dentistry is a misdemeanor. See N.C. Gen. Stat. 90-40, a copy of which is also enclosed.

It is our information that the teeth whitening services offered at these kiosks are not supervised by a licensed North Carolina dentist. Consequently, this activity is illegal.

The Dental Board would be most grateful if your company would assist us in ensuring that the property owned or managed by your company is not being used for improper activity that could create a risk to the public health and safety.

F. 288. As noted in Section III.D.2, the Board members unanimously approved sending the November 21, 2007 letters to mall operators. F. 289. The objective of the November 21, 2007 letter sent by the Board to mall operators was to induce the malls to refuse to rent space to non-dentist teeth whitening service providers. F. 290-93.

D. Notice to Cosmetology Board

Many of the complaints about non-dentist teeth whitening service providers were against salons and spas regulated by the North Carolina Board of Cosmetic Art Examiners. F. 314. Dr. Hardesty believed that because many of the non-dentist teeth whitening service providers were licensees of the Cosmetology Board, it was logical that the Cosmetology Board might be willing to assist the Board in its efforts regarding non-dentist teeth whitening services. F. 315.

In February 2007, the Board provided the Cosmetology Board with a notice that stated:

Cosmetologists should be aware that any device or process that "removes stains, accretions or deposits from the human teeth" constitutes the practice of dentistry as defined by North Carolina General Statutes 90-29(b)(2). Taking impressions for bleaching trays also constitutes the practice of dentistry as defined by North Carolina General Statutes 90-29(b)(7).

Only a licensed dentist or dental hygienist acting under the supervision of a licensed dentist may provide these services. The unlicensed practice of dentistry in our state is a misdemeanor.

F. 320. Shortly thereafter, the Cosmetology Board posted the Dental Board's notice on the Cosmetology Board's website. F. 322. The Board's objective in providing that notice was to encourage the Cosmetology Board's licensees to cease providing teeth-whitening services. F. 323.

(iii) Tendency to harm competition

As summarized above, the evidence shows that the nature of the challenged conduct was to prevent non-dentists from offering teeth whitening services and thereby to exclude these competitors from the market. Agreements to exclude competitors from the market have long been held to violate antitrust laws. In *Fashion Originators' Guild v. FTC*, 312 U.S. 457 (1941), a combination of manufacturers of women's garments and manufacturers of textiles used in their making who claimed that the designs of their products, though not protected by patent or copyright, were original and distinctive, took actions aimed at preventing manufacturers who copied their designs from selling garments. The Supreme Court found

that "the aim of petitioners' combination was the intentional destruction of one type of manufacturer and sale which competed with Guild members. The purpose and object of this combination, its potential power, its tendency to monopoly, the coercion it could and did practice upon a rival method of competition, all brought it within the policy of the prohibition declared by the Sherman and Clayton Acts." *Fashion Originators' Guild*, 312 U.S. at 467-68. In the instant case as well, the aim of the Board was to eliminate non-dentist teeth whitening service providers that competed with Board dentist members and the Board's constituents, and, therefore, the Board's conduct is well within the policy of the prohibition declared by the Sherman Act.

The Supreme Court in *Fashion Originators' Guild* further stated, "even if copying were an acknowledged tort under the law of every state, that situation would not justify petitioners in combining together to regulate and restrain interstate commerce in violation of federal law." 312 U.S. at 468. Similarly here, even if teeth whitening is the unauthorized practice of dentistry, that does not justify Respondent's concerted action to restrain commerce if, as the Commission has decided in this case, the Board's actions are not protected by state action immunity.

Other Supreme Court cases confirm the serious competitive harm from agreements to exclude competitors. *E.g., Radiant Burners, Inc. v. Peoples Gas Light & Coke Co.*, 364 U.S. 656, 658, 660 (1961) (concerted refusal by a trade association to provide certification with result that plaintiff was "effectively excluded from the market," "clearly has, by its 'nature' and 'character,' a 'monopolistic tendency,'" and hence was per se unlawful); *Allied Tube & Conduit Corp. v. Indian Head*, 486 U.S. 492, 496, 500, 501 n.5 (1988) (where association of manufacturers of building materials that developed a model code for electrical wiring systems "collectively agreed to exclude respondent's product" from the code, Supreme Court recognized the "serious potential for anticompetitive harm" of industry standard setting, including that "it might deprive some consumers of a desired product . . . [or] exclude rival producers.") (quoting 7 P. Areeda, Antitrust Law ¶ 1503, p. 373 (1986)).

The anticompetitive nature of concerted action to exclude rivals from the market was recently addressed in the Sixth Circuit's opinion in *Realcomp*. There, the evidence showed

that the respondent, an association of full service real estate brokers, implemented policies that significantly curtailed the ability of limited-service brokers to access websites controlled by the association and utilized by consumers looking to purchase real estate. *Realcomp*, 635 F.3d at 830. The court of appeals held that this evidence revealed "'a concerted refusal to deal with [limited-service brokers] on substantially equal terms' and establishe[d] that the [challenged practice was] likely to protect its [members] from competitive pricing pressure." *Id.* (quoting *Northwest Wholesale Stationers, Inc. v. Pacific Stationery & Printing Co.*, 472 U.S. 284, 295 n.6 (1985)). The Sixth Circuit then stated, "[c]ombining these findings with Realcomp's substantial market power, the Commission reasonably concluded that Realcomp's website policy is likely to be anticompetitive." *Id.* at 830.

The evidence in this case, summarized above, also shows that the stated objective of the Board – to stop unlicensed persons from providing teeth whitening services – had the tendency to prevent consumers from getting a particular service they desire: teeth whitening in a quick, one-time session. The Supreme Court, in *Indiana Federation* held, "[a]bsent some countervailing procompetitive virtue . . . an agreement limiting consumer choice by impeding the 'ordinary give and take of the market place,' *National Society of Professional Engineers, supra*, at 692, cannot be sustained under the Rule of Reason." 476 U.S. at 459. There, a group of dentists agreed to withhold x-rays from dental insurance companies that requested their use in benefits determinations. The Supreme Court condemned the restraint as "a horizontal agreement among the participating dentists to withhold from their customers a particular service that they desire." *Id.* at 459. Here, the concerted action of the Board is to prevent non-dentists from offering teeth whitening services, which thereby withholds from consumers the choice of where they can go to get their teeth whitened quickly and less expensively than a dentist. F. 257.

The context in which Respondent's course of conduct arose and the nature of the challenged conduct reveals a tendency to harm competition. In summary, the Board has an interest in serving the interests of dentists, including dentists' financial interests. Dentists and some Board members engage in teeth whitening, in competition with non-dentists. Dentists and some Board members perceived that non-dentists were offering teeth whitening services at cheaper prices than dentists. The Board engaged in a course of conduct to prevent non-

dentists from offering teeth whitening services. The Board used its status as a state agency to direct non-dentists to cease and desist from offering teeth whitening services and to direct manufacturers of products used for teeth whitening services to cease and desist from selling such products to non-dentists. The Board also used its status as a state agency to inform owners or operators of malls that it viewed the practice of non-dentist teeth whitening as an illegal practice, in order to dissuade them from leasing to non-dentist teeth whitening providers. Although in *Indiana Federation* the challenged restraint was condemned without an analysis of market power, 476 U.S. at 460-61, an assessment of the Board's market power in this case follows. *See Realcomp*, 635 F.3d at 828-29.

b. Market power

Market power is defined as the ability to raise prices or the ability to exclude competition. *E.I. du Pont de Nemours & Co.*, 351 U.S. 377, 391 (1956). In the instant case, the evidence shows that the Board has the power to exclude competition.

The Board was created by the Dental Practice Act "as the agency of the State for the regulation of the practice of dentistry in this State." N.C. Gen. Stat. § 90-22(a); F. 1, 33. The Board is responsible for enforcing the Dental Practice Act, including its prohibition against practicing dentistry without a license. F. 33, 41-44. Stating that it was acting pursuant to this state statute, the Board sent letters on Board letterhead, in most instances with bold, capitalized headings of: "NOTICE AND ORDER TO CEASE AND DESIST" or "NOTICE TO CEASE AND DESIST." F. 219-25. Recipients of these letters believed, and reasonably so, that they were being ordered by a state agency to stop providing teeth whitening services. F. 246-56, 266-67.

Similar evidence in *Mass. Board of Optometry* supported a finding that the respondent, also a state agency, possessed market power. Finding that the Massachusetts Board of Registration in Optometry "can impose its restraints on the market for optometric goods and services throughout Massachusetts" and its "disciplinary powers give it the ability to impose sanctions on any optometrist who fails to obey its rules and regulations," the Administrative Law Judge found that the Massachusetts Board "has market power." *In re Mass. Board of Registration in Optometry*, 1986 FTC LEXIS 39, at *78, 110 F.T.C. 549 (June

20, 1986), *aff'd* 110 F.T.C. 549 (June 13, 1988). Here, although the Board did not have disciplinary power over non-dentists, it was nevertheless able to impose restraints on the market for teeth whitening services through its course of conduct, as shown in Section III.E.3 below.

Moreover, in cases involving standard-setting organizations ("SSOs"), defendants have been found to have the power to exclude because the SSO's decision to disapprove a product strongly influenced the market. For example, in *Hydrolevel*, where the codes and standards of the American Society of Mechanical Engineers, Inc. ("ASME") were found to "influence the policies of numerous States and cities," the Supreme Court stated:

ASME wields great power in the Nation's economy. . . . [A]s has been said about "so-called voluntary standards" generally, its interpretations of its guidelines "may result in economic prosperity or economic failure, for a number of businesses of all sizes throughout the country," as well as entire segments of an industry. ASME can be said to be "in reality an extragovernmental agency, which prescribes rules for the regulation and restraint of interstate commerce." . . . [ASME's agents have] the power to frustrate competition in the marketplace.

Hydrolevel, 456 U.S. at 570-71 (citations omitted). In *Allied Tube*, the Supreme Court also acknowledged "the setting of the Association's Code . . . in part involves the exercise of market power." *Allied Tube*, 486 U.S. at 507.

Like an SSO, the Board undertook, on its own, to set a standard that teeth whitening could only be performed by, or supervised by, a dentist, and then undertook, extra-judicially, to enforce that standard through sending letters ordering recipients to cease and desist. Moreover, Respondent's expert witness acknowledged that the Board has the power to drive from the marketplace non-dentist teeth whitening businesses. (CX0826 at 036 (Baumer, Dep. at 136-137 (The Board has "the power to exclude competition"). As more fully discussed in Section III.E.3 below, the exercise of that power resulted in actual exclusion, and restriction of consumer access to the market. Accordingly, the Board had the power to exclude.

A finding of market power, coupled with the determination that the nature of the challenged policies was to exclude competitors from the market, supports an inference of

actual or likely adverse competitive effects. *In re Realcomp*, 2009 FTC LEXIS 250, at *95 (citing *e.g., Law v. NCAA*, 134 F.3d at 1019; *Tops Markets*, 142 F.3d at 96; *Levine v. Central Florida Medical Affiliates, Inc.*, 72 F.3d 1538, 1551 (11th Cir. 1996); *Brown Univ.*, 5 F.3d at 669). As the Commission stated in *Realcomp*, "if the tribunal finds that the defendants had market power and that their conduct tended to reduce competition, it is unnecessary to demonstrate directly that their practices had adverse effects on competition." *In re Realcomp*, 2009 FTC LEXIS 250, at *47 (citing *e.g., United States v. Brown Univ.*, 5 F.3d 658, 668 (3d Cir. 1993); *Flegel v. Christian Hospital*, 4 F.3d 682, 688 (8th Cir. 1993); *Gordon v. Lewistown Hosp.*, 423 F.3d 184, 210 (3d Cir. 2005); *Law v. NCAA*, 134 F.3d at 1019; *Toys* ``*R*`' *Us, Inc. v. FTC*, 221 F.3d 928, 937 (7th Cir. 2000)). In light of the Board's market power and the facially restrictive nature of the challenged conduct, no more is required to find that the challenged conduct will predictably result in harm to competition. Nevertheless, an analysis of the effects of the challenged conduct follows.

3. Actual adverse effects

a. Summary of facts

(i) Manufacturers lost sales

The evidence shows that manufacturers of the products used by non-dentist providers of teeth whitening services have lost sales in North Carolina. F. 268-70, 279, 281-83. Two of the 47 cease and desist letters summarized above were sent to manufacturers of teeth whitening products used by non-dentists, WhiteScience and White Smile. F. 262. George Nelson of WhiteScience understood that the Board was ordering non-dentist teeth whitening businesses to close, and that the people to whom WhiteScience was selling in North Carolina would be committing a misdemeanor. F. 266-67. After the Board's actions with respect to WhiteScience and its customer-teeth whitening service providers, WhiteScience's retail sales in North Carolina evaporated to nothing, from over one million dollars yearly. F. 268. Similarly, WhiteSmile's negotiations with potential investors in WhiteSmile operations in North Carolina fell apart due to the investors' and their attorneys' concerns over whether the Board would allow non-dentist teeth whitening. F. 273, 277. WhiteSmile eventually was

able to enter the North Carolina market, but the delay in entering resulted in an estimated loss of revenue for WhiteSmile of one and one-half million dollars. F. 278-79.

(ii) Owners and operators of malls stopped leasing to non-dentist providers

The evidence also shows that as a result of the Board's November 21, 2007 letters to mall companies, mall management companies, and malls (F. 288), mall operators have been reluctant to lease space to non-dentist teeth whitening service providers in North Carolina, and some companies refused to lease space and cancelled existing leases. F. 294. Respondent's expert agrees, stating "[m]all operators cooperated [with the Board's actions to enforce state law] by refusing to renew leases or rent to operators of teeth whitening services." F. 294.

As an example, Hull Storey Gibson Companies, L.L.C. ("HSG"), a retail property management company that operates five malls in North Carolina, understood from the November 21, 2007 letter it received (F. 288) that the Board took the position that the person operating the kiosks and providing non-dentist teeth whitening services would be violating North Carolina law. F. 295-301. When a non-dentist sought to lease space in an HSG mall, HSG stated that the non-dentist provider would "need to provide us with proof that the Board of Dental Examiners will approve this." F. 302. HSG contacted the Board to determine if BleachBright's teeth bleaching process had been approved by the Board and was told by Board counsel, Ms. Bakewell, that the Board had not issued an approval. F. 304-05. HSG would have leased retail space to non-dentist teeth whiteners in North Carolina had they not received these communications and would be willing to rent space to non-dentist providers if the Board were to withdraw its opposition. F. 306-08.

As another example, a non-dental provider using the WhiteScience system in Carolina Place Mall, owned by General Growth Properties, was told that his month-to-month rental agreement would not be renewed and that his teeth whitening business would have to leave Carolina Place Mall. F. 309-11. He was further told that, based on the Board's November 21, 2007 letter, General Growth Properties' legal team advised him not to allow the non-dentist to stay in business at the mall. F. 310. Thus, the Board's letters to owners and operators of malls also resulted in excluding non-dentist teeth whiteners from the market.

(iii) Non-dentist providers exited the market

Finally, the evidence shows that, as a result of the Board's actions, non-dentist providers who were operating in North Carolina ceased offering teeth whitening services. F. 246-56. For example, the owner of Modern Enhancement Salon stated in a letter to the Board, that "per your order to stop," she would "no longer perform teeth whitening services unless told otherwise by the North Carolina Board of Dental Examiners." F. 247; *see also* F. 248, 254, 255 (letters from Amazing Grace Spa, Details, Inc., and Bailey's Lightning Whitening, respectively, notifying the Board that they were no longer providing teeth whitening services). As a result of the Board's cease and desist letters, Champagne Taste Salon, Savage Tan, SheShe Studio Spa, and Triad Body Secret also ceased offering teeth whitening services. F. 250-53. Respondent's expert acknowledged the effectiveness of the letter: "[n]ot surprisingly, the actions of the State Board were effective and many kiosk and spa operators complied with state law by ceasing their actions that were clearly in violation of state law." F. 256.

A direct result of the Board's actions with respect to the Cosmetology Board was to cause non-dentists to stop providing teeth whitening services. F. 324-27. For example, one salon owner notified WhiteScience that her salon "will no longer be doing teeth whitening . . . as the North Carolina board of cosmetic arts has deemed it unlawful to perform this service in a salon." F. 326. Another salon notified the Board that they had ceased providing teeth whitening services, after learning from the Cosmetology Board that it was not legal to do so. F. 324. In summary, the Board has forced non-dentist teeth whitening operators to terminate their businesses, and deterred others from entering.

b. Analysis

The evidence summarized above shows that the actions of the Board caused nondentists to cease and desist from offering teeth whitening services and prevented potential non-dentists from opening up salons or kiosks to offer the services. The Board's actions

thereby: (1) excluded non-dentists from the teeth whitening service market; and (2) deprived consumers of a reasonable alternative to dentist provided teeth whitening services. "[A]n observer with even a rudimentary understanding of economics" could readily conclude that the exclusion of a rival service "would have an anticompetitive effect on customers and markets." *Cal. Dental Ass 'n*, 468 U.S. at 770.

(i) Exclusion of competitors and potential entrants

Respondent asserts that the Board's conduct did not have any effect on the *legal* sales of teeth whitening; instead, the Board's action affected only *illegal* teeth whitening services and was therefore reasonable under the rule of reason. RB at 7-8 (emphasis added). Respondent cites no case in which a court has held that non-dentist teeth whitening is illegal in North Carolina. Moreover, the Board's argument essentially claims that it is permitted to engage in anticompetitive conduct because it was enforcing state law. As previously discussed, issues regarding whether the Board was enforcing state law were rendered immaterial by the State Action Opinion. The Commission decided: "Absent some form of state supervision, we lack assurance that the Board's efforts to exclude non-dentists from providing teeth whitening services in North Carolina represent a sovereign policy choice to supplant competition rather than an effort to benefit the dental profession." State Action Opinion, 2011 WL 549449, at *13. Accordingly, Respondent's argument that its actions should be deemed reasonable under the rule of reason because the actions affected only "illegal" services is not considered further.

Respondent next asserts that the evidence fails to show that the Board was able to force any kiosk, spa, or other provider of non-dentist teeth whitening services to stop operations based solely on the Board's cease and desist letters. Indeed, Respondent admits: "In order to close such a business, a court order or court judgment would be required. The State Board does not have the statutory authority to independently enforce an order requiring any person or entity to cease or desist their violations of the N.C. Dental Practice Act." RB at 8. A similar argument was rejected in *Goldfarb v. Virginia State Bar*, 421 U.S. 773 (1975).

In *Goldfarb*, the County Bar, which published a minimum fee schedule for common legal services, argued that because the fee schedule was merely advisory, the schedule and its

enforcement mechanism did not constitute price fixing. *Id.* at 781. The County Bar further contended "that in practice the schedule has not had the effect of producing fixed fees." *Id.* The Supreme Court rejected those arguments, observing that, because of the prospect of disciplinary actions by the State Bar and "the desire of attorneys to comply with the announced professional norms," bar members did, in fact, comply with the schedule. *Id.* at 781-82. Although the Board here does not have the power to take disciplinary actions against non-dentists, as summarized in Section III.E.2.b, the Board projected an apparent state power of enforcement. Furthermore, just as the County Bar's argument that the schedule was "merely advisory" was rejected because the lawyers did in fact comply with the schedule, here the Board's argument that it did not have authority to enforce an order against any non-dentist teeth whitening service provider is similarly rejected because non-dentists did in fact comply with the letters directing them to cease and desist from offering teeth whitening services.

Moreover, even though Respondent admits that it does not have the authority to enforce an order for a non-dentist entity to cease or desist from violations of the Dental Practice Act, the letters that it sent did in fact order recipients to cease and desist. F. 220-22 (letters with headings including "NOTICE AND ORDER TO CEASE AND DESIST" and text stating: "You are hereby ordered to CEASE AND DESIST any and all activity constituting the practice of dentistry or dental hygiene as defined by North Carolina General Statutes § 90-29 and § 90-233 and the Dental Board Rules promulgated thereunder."). As summarized above, recipients interpreted these letters as ordering them to cease and desist from providing teeth whitening services or to stop selling products for use by non-dentist teeth whiteners. And, as a result of these letters and other communications issued by the Board, non-dentists did, in fact, cease and desist from providing teeth whitening services and potential entrants decided not to enter such market. Manufacturers of two teeth whitening products used by non-dentists lost sales in North Carolina, of approximately one and one half million dollars in one case and one million dollars in the other, as a result of the Board's efforts and actions to stop non-dentists from offering teeth whitening services.

Thus, the evidence shows that the concerted action of Respondent excluded nondentists from competition, conduct that the Supreme Court has long held to be

anticompetitive. For example, in Associated Press v. United States, 326 U.S. 1, 9, 13-14 (1945), it was held that the effect of a challenged restraint by a news association composed of member newspapers (Associated Press) was to block all newspaper non-members from any opportunity to buy news from Associated Press or any of its publisher members. The Supreme Court found the challenged restraint "hindered and restrained the sale of interstate news to non-members who competed with members" and held: "[t]rade restraints of this character, aimed at the destruction of competition, tend to block the initiative which brings newcomers into a field of business and to frustrate the free enterprise system which it was the purpose of the Sherman Act to protect." Id. at 13-14. See also, e.g., Silver v. N.Y. Stock *Exchange*, 373 U.S. 341, 347-49 (1963) (holding that collective action of the New York Stock Exchange and its members that excluded petitioners from a valuable business service that petitioners needed in order to compete effectively falls into "forbidden category of restraints which 'because of their inherent nature or effect injuriously restrained trade'"); Hydrolevel, 456 U.S. at 564, 571 (holding that defendant SSO that promulgated and published codes and standards for areas of engineering liable for harm to competition where one entity was able to use an "unofficial" response from the SSO on an interpretation of a code "to injure seriously the business of a competitor" which, after that response, "continued to suffer from market resistance").

Despite the evidence, Respondent asserts that because recipients of the Board's letters had alternatives to ceasing operations, "the letters did not have the immediate, irreversible, and unreasonable effect of shutting down businesses." RB at 8. The alternatives to shutting down that Respondent poses are that recipients could have offered evidence to the Board showing that no violation of the Dental Practice Act had occurred; could have hired a licensed dentist to oversee teeth whitening services; could have ceased offering such services until they could convince the North Carolina legislature that it was not in the public's interest to restrict the removal of stains from teeth to licensees; or could have requested an administrative hearing or other relief from North Carolina courts. RB at 8. But arguments as to what the non-dentists "could have done" is not as compelling as the evidence of what they actually did, which was to cease and desist from offering teeth whitening services. The Commission made a similar ruling in *Realcomp*. There, an association of real estate brokers, operated a

computer database used by its members to disseminate and search for information about houses available for sale (multiple listing service or MLS). Realcomp adopted a "Search Function Policy," whereby the default setting on the association's MLS searched only full service/full price listings, and omitted listings where the broker had agreed to accept a discounted rate. Realcomp argued that the Search Function Policy did not harm competition "because users of the Realcomp MLS could override the default settings" in order to secure information about discounted listings. *Id.* at *98-100. The Commission rejected this argument, explaining: "[D]ata and broker testimony show that many brokers did not override the default search parameters. On this point we rely upon the record evidence showing what brokers actually do." *Id.* at *100. Thus, in the instant case, Respondent's speculation of what the non-dentists could have done does not defeat the record evidence showing what the non-dentists actually did in response to the Board's course of conduct. Indeed, the non-dentists' response in ceasing to provide teeth-whitening services was precisely the response intended by the Board. F. 234-45.

(ii) Limited consumer choice

In addition to excluding rivals from the market, Respondent has harmed competition by depriving consumers of a choice. F. 257. In *Indiana Federation*, the Supreme Court condemned the "horizontal agreement among the participating dentists to withhold from their customers a particular service that they desire – the forwarding of x-rays to insurance companies along with claim forms." *Id.* at 459. In this case, while the Board has not withheld services offered by dentists, its concerted activities have deprived consumers of the services of others – that of non-dentist teeth whitening service providers. By causing nondentists to cease and desist from offering teeth whitening services, the Board has deprived consumers of the option of going to a mall, spa or salon for teeth whitening services. Thus, as in *Indiana Federation*, Respondent has "disrupted the proper functioning" of the market.¹²

¹² In *Indiana Federation*, the Supreme Court "did not require proof of actual anticompetitive effects, such as higher prices, because the agreement was 'likely enough to disrupt the proper functioning of the price-setting mechanism of the market that it may be condemned even absent proof that it resulted in higher prices or, as here, the purchase of higher priced services, than would occur in its absence." *Realcomp*, 2009 FTC LEXIS 250 at *66 (quoting *Indiana Federation*, 476 U.S. at 461-62). Just as in *Realcomp*, where Complaint Counsel was not required to proffer "elaborate econometric 'proof that [the restraint] resulted in higher prices," id. at *46, it is not required to do so here.

In *Realcomp*, where an association of full service real estate brokers instituted a website policy that "severely restricted consumers' access to limited service listings" (offered by the full service brokers' competitors), the court of appeals upheld the "Commission's conclusion that Realcomp's website policy is likely to have an adverse impact on competition by restricting consumer access to discount listings." 635 F.3d at 829, 831. The Commission had held, "as a matter of law, there is liability under the Rule of Reason cases insofar as Realcomp's Policies operated to narrow consumer choice or hinder the competitive process." *In re Realcomp*, 2009 FTC LEXIS 250, at *111. In addition, the Commission, drawing on record evidence and testimony from Complaint Counsel's expert, found that the reduction of "choices available to consumers of brokerage services," among other factors, led to the conclusion that the challenged policies "had a substantial restrictive effect on competition" in the relevant market. *Id.* at *126.

The expert testimony in this case also confirms the conclusion that Respondent's course of conduct harmed consumers and had a substantial restrictive effect on competition. Complaint Counsel's expert, Dr. Kwoka, concluded that exclusion of a product desired by consumers is presumed in economics to be anticompetitive, absent some compelling justification and Respondent's economic expert, Dr. Baumer, agreed with Dr. Kwoka's conclusion. F. 257. Respondent points out, however, that Dr. Baumer's testimony is taken out of context. According to Respondent, "Dr. Baumer's important conclusion [is] that the exclusion of a selection of teeth whitening options did not occur in a vacuum; it was necessitated by state law and public interest." RRB at 11. The issue of whether the Board's exclusion of a selection of teeth whitening options was necessitated by state law has been rendered immaterial by the decision of the Commission that state action immunity does not apply and, therefore, will not be addressed. The issue of whether the exclusion was in the public interest is evaluated in Section III.F below, addressing Respondent's procompetitive justifications.

Having determined that Respondent's course of conduct had direct adverse effects on competition, Respondent's procompetitive justifications are next considered.

F. Procompetitive Justifications and Defenses

Respondent's concerted action to exclude non-dentists and limit consumer choice cannot be sustained under a rule of reason analysis "[a]bsent some countervailing procompetitive virtue." *Indiana Federation*, 476 U.S. at 459. Respondent bears the burden of "establishing an affirmative defense which competitively justifies this apparent deviation from the operations of a free market." *National Collegiate Athletic Ass 'n*, 468 U.S. at 113; *Realcomp*, 635 F.3d at 825. *See also Realcomp*, 2009 FTC LEXIS 250, at *126 (stating that "defendants generally may be able to defeat a finding of liability if their practices can be 'justified by plausible arguments that they were intended to enhance overall efficiency and make markets more competitive" (quoting Northwest Wholesale Stationers, 472 U.S. at 294)). The Initial Decision turns now to Respondent's proffered justifications and defenses.

Respondent contends that its efforts to restrict non-dentist teeth whitening services, even if amounting to restraints, were not "unreasonable" restraints under the rule of reason because it was acting to protect the citizens of North Carolina from the unauthorized practice of dentistry. This contention is raised by Respondent in defense of its course of conduct and is therefore analyzed herein as a proffered procompetitive justification.

In support of this contention, Respondent first argues that it was acting as a state agency or occupational licensing board enforcing the Dental Practice Act, to protect the public interest, and not to promote economic self-interest. RB at 9-11; *see also* RRB at 28-30, 37-43. As noted earlier in Section III.E., this argument is essentially a reiteration of Respondent's claim that the Board's conduct is exempt from antitrust liability by the state action doctrine that has been decided against Respondent by the Commission and will not be considered.

In *Indiana Federation*, the Supreme Court held that, where there was no active state supervision, the Federation's concerted action in withholding x-rays from insurance companies was subject to condemnation under the Sherman Act "whether or not the policy the Federation has taken upon itself to advance is consistent with the policy of the State of Indiana" *Indiana Federation*, 476 U.S. at 465. In the instant case as well, because the Commission decided that there was no active state supervision, regardless of whether the

conduct of the Board is aimed at preventing unauthorized dentistry and is consistent with the Dental Practice Act, Respondent has no state action immunity defense and the conduct is "anticompetitive collusion among private actors . . . subject to Sherman Act condemnation." *Id.*

Second, Respondent argues that its actions were intended to promote social welfare, by ensuring that teeth whitening services are supervised by licensed dentists and by protecting consumers from dangerous or unsafe teeth-whitening services. RB at 1, 12-14. Specifically, Respondent contends that the Board's enforcement of the Dental Practice Act was necessitated by serious and well-known concerns over the dangers of unsupervised teeth whitening. RB at 12. It is well established, however, that a restraint on competition cannot be justified solely on the basis of social welfare concerns, including concerns about health hazards.

The Supreme Court, in *National Society of Professional Engineers v. United States*, 435 U.S. 679 (1978), rejected as a matter of law a trade association's defense that it had restrained trade in order to protect the public from the danger of inferior engineering work. There, a trade association of engineers adopted an ethics rule that prohibited association members from engaging in competitive bidding for their engineering services. In its defense, the association claimed that "competitive pressure to offer engineering services at the lowest possible price would adversely affect the quality of engineering" and "the practice of awarding engineering contracts to the lowest bidder, regardless of quality, would be dangerous to the public health, safety, and welfare." *Id.* at 685. The district court rejected this justification "without making any findings on the likelihood that competition would produce the dire consequences foreseen by the association." *Id.* at 681. The court of appeals affirmed and the Supreme Court granted certiorari to decide whether the district court should have considered the factual basis for the proffered justification before rejecting it. *Id.* In affirming, the Supreme Court held:

The Sherman Act reflects a legislative judgment that ultimately competition will produce not only lower prices, but also better goods and services.... The assumption that competition is the best method of allocating resources in a free market recognizes that all elements of a bargain -- quality, service, safety, and durability -- and not just

the immediate cost, are favorably affected by the free opportunity to select among alternative offers. Even assuming occasional exceptions to the presumed consequences of competition, the statutory policy precludes inquiry into the question whether competition is good or bad.

The fact that engineers are often involved in large-scale projects significantly affecting the public safety does not alter our analysis. Exceptions to the Sherman Act for potentially dangerous goods and services would be tantamount to a repeal of the statute. In our complex economy the number of items that may cause serious harm is almost endless – automobiles, drugs, foods, aircraft components, heavy equipment, and countless others, cause serious harm to individuals or to the public at large if defectively made.

Id. at 695. Thus, the Supreme Court held, even if the challenged restraint "ultimately inure[d] to public benefit by preventing the production of inferior work," this reason did not "satisfy the Rule [of Reason]." *Id.* at 693-94.

Such a public safety defense has also been rejected in the medical field. In *Wilk v. Am. Med. Assoc.*, 719 F.2d 207, 214 (7th Cir. 1983), through various mechanisms physicians were discouraged from cooperating with chiropractors in patient treatment, educational activities, and interpreting electrocardiograms, and chiropractors were denied access to the hospital facilities they considered necessary to practice their profession. Defendant physicians argued that their conduct had been undertaken in the interest of public health, safety, and welfare and that their conduct had been non-commercial. 719 F.2d at 216. The court of appeals rejected this argument, holding:

It is true that medical doctors are better qualified than most members of the public to form an opinion whether chiropractic poses a threat to public health, safety and welfare. They are free to attempt to persuade legislatures and administrative agencies. But a generalized concern for the health, safety and welfare of members of the public as to whom a medical doctor has assumed no specific professional responsibility, however genuine and well-informed such a concern may be, affords no legal justification for economic measures to diminish competition with some medical doctors by chiropractors.

Id. at 228. *See also Indiana Federation*, 476 U.S. at 463 (the argument "that an unrestrained market in which consumers are given access to the information they believe to be relevant to their choices will lead them to make unwise and even dangerous choices . . . amounts to 'nothing less than a frontal assault on the basic policy of the Sherman Act."); *Patrick v.*

Burget, 486 U.S. 94, 105 (1988) (rejecting claim that threat of antitrust liability for physician peer-review activities will discourage participation in the process to the detriment of patient care, stating that such argument "essentially challenges the wisdom of applying the antitrust laws to the sphere of medical care, and as such is properly directed to the legislative branch").

Thus, in this case, even if the Board was acting to prevent the public from physical harm that could result from teeth whitening services provided by non-dentists, such an argument does not, under applicable antitrust law, constitute a valid justification for the Board's conduct. For this reason, expert testimony on whether teeth whitening services performed by non-dentists is safe and other testimony on harm purported to have been caused by non-dentist teeth whitening need not and will not be addressed. Rather than alleged public welfare benefits, to avoid liability Respondent must demonstrate that the restraints have "some countervailing procompetitive virtue -- such as, for example, the creation of efficiencies in the operation of a market or the provision of goods and services . . ." *Indiana Federation*, 476 U.S. at 459; *accord Realcomp*, 2009 FTC LEXIS 250, at *127 ("The requisite beneficial effect ordinarily is one that stems from measures that increase output or improve product quality, service, or innovation." (citing *Polygram*, 136 F.T.C. at 345-46)).

Third, Respondent argues that the challenged restraints upon non-dentist teeth whitening are procompetitive because they will ensure that teeth whitening services are offered at a cost that reflects the higher skills of dentist providers, RRB at 6, 12, rather than at the lower cost alternative offered by assertedly lesser skilled, non-dentist teeth whitening providers. This argument is analogous to the argument that was made, and rejected, in *National Society of Professional Engineers*. As the Court stated in that case, "[i]t may be, as petitioner argues, that competition tends to force prices down and that an inexpensive item may be inferior to one that is more costly. There is some risk, therefore, that competition will cause some suppliers to market a defective product." *National Soc'y of Professional Engineers*, 435 U.S. at 694. However, to attempt to justify the restraint on this basis – that competition is harmful – "is nothing less than a frontal assault on the basic policy of the Sherman Act." *Id.* at 695.

In the instant case, as in *National Society of Professional Engineers*, the Board claims that permitting non-dentists to provide teeth whitening services in competition with dentists risks the production of an inferior service that consumers will choose due to lower cost. As in *National Society of Professional Engineers*, such claim runs counter to the policy of the Sherman Act and must be rejected. Respondent's argument that withholding a lower cost service from consumers is ultimately beneficial to consumers is also similar to the argument rejected in *Indiana Federation*, 476 U.S. at 462-63 (rejecting claim that withholding x-rays from insurers will prevent insurers from permitting only lower cost, inadequate treatment).

Fourth, Respondent contends that the challenged restraints are procompetitive because they will serve to "protect legal competition within the marketplace," RB at 1, and "promote competition between qualified, legal teeth whitening service providers." RB at 13. However, this argument presumes that only dentist provided teeth whitening is legal. Respondent cites no case that has held that non-dentist teeth whitening constitutes the unlawful practice of dentistry under the Dental Practice Act, as previously discussed, this Initial Decision need not and does not decide that issue. Moreover, "[t]hat a particular practice may be unlawful is not, in itself, a sufficient justification for collusion among competitors to prevent it." *Indiana Federation*, 476 U.S. at 465.

In support of its claim that the challenged restraints are procompetitive, and therefore not an unreasonable restraint of trade, Respondent relies upon *United States v. Brown Univ.*, *et al.*, 5 F.3d 658 (3rd Cir. 1993). In *Brown*, a group of Ivy League colleges and universities agreed to distribute financial aid based exclusively on need and to collectively determine the amount of financial assistance that each school would offer to the commonly admitted students. The schools acknowledged that the purpose and effect of this agreement was to eliminate price competition for talented students among member institutions. However, they proffered the justification, *inter alia*, that by removing financial obstacles for needy students, the schools were expanding the choice of schools that students might attend and thereby enhancing consumer choice. The court concluded that, while the financial aid program had social benefits, the claimed enhancement of consumer choice was an economic benefit, which distinguished the case from the social welfare justifications rejected in both *National Society of Professional Engineers* and *Indiana Federation*. 5 F.3d at 676-77. Thus, the court

concluded that the lower court erred in refusing, on the basis of *National Society of Professional Engineers* and *Indiana Federation*, to consider the schools' justifications as part of a full rule of reason analysis. *Id.* at 677. Respondent's reliance on *Brown* is misplaced. Respondent's restraints on non-dentist provided teeth whitening services tend to and did remove the service from the market, (*e.g.*, F. 246-56, 324-27), thereby restricting consumer choice. F. 257. By contrast, the restraint in *Brown* enhanced consumer choice as well as provided social welfare benefits. As demonstrated above, Respondent's proffered "procompetitive" justifications are far more analogous to those rejected as anticompetitive in *National Society of Professional Engineers* and *Indiana Federation*.¹³

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent's defenses are insufficient to justify the Board's anticompetitive restraints. Accordingly, Complaint Counsel has demonstrated that the challenged conduct is an unreasonable restraint of trade, in violation of Section 5 of the FTC Act.

G. Remedy

1. Applicable legal standards

Pursuant to Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act, upon determination that the challenged practice is an unfair method of competition, the Commission "shall issue . . . an order requiring such person . . . to cease and desist from using such method of competition or such act or practice." 15 U.S.C. § 45(b); *FTC v. National Lead Co.*, 352 U.S. 419, 428 (1957). The Commission's authority to issue remedial orders also includes requiring respondents to make affirmative disclosures, including sending notices to affected parties. *See, e.g., Am. Med. Ass 'n*, 94 F.T.C. 701, 1979 FTC LEXIS 182, at *368, *373-79 (1979) (requiring respondent to notify its members and others of prohibition against, *inter alia*, certain advertising restrictions), *aff'd*, 638 F.2d 443 (2d Cir. 1980), *aff'd by an equally divided*

¹³ Respondent also relies on *Hospital Building. Co. v. Trustees of Rex Hospital*, 691 F.2d 678 (4th Cir. 1982), and *Pocono Invitational Sports Camp, Inc. v. NCAA*, 371 F. Supp. 2d 569 (E.D. Pa. 2004) for the proposition that courts recognize procompetitive, public interest justifications for state regulatory schemes. Neither case stands for such proposition. *Rex* held that the rule of reason permitted defendants the opportunity to demonstrate that a federal certificate of need statute, upon which they relied to justify their conduct, effectively created an exemption to the antitrust laws. *Id.* at 685. *Pocono* held that the regulations in question were not "trade or commerce" within the meaning of the Sherman Act. 317 F. Supp. 2d at 583-84.

court, 452 U.S. 960 (1982); *Southwest Sunsites, Inc. v. FTC*, 785 F.2d 1431, 1439 (9th Cir. 1986) (corrective advertising); *Amrep Corp. v. FTC*, 768 F.2d 1171, 1180 (10th Cir. 1985) (same). Courts have long recognized that the Commission has considerable discretion in fashioning an appropriate remedial order, subject to the constraint that the order must bear a reasonable relationship to the unlawful acts or practices. *See, e.g., FTC v. Colgate-Palmolive Co.*, 380 U.S. 374, 394-95 (1965); *FTC v. Ruberoid Co.*, 343 U.S. 470, 473 (1952); *Jacob Siegel Co. v. FTC*, 327 U.S. 608, 612-13 (1946).

In this case, Complaint Counsel has proven that Respondent took concerted action to eliminate or prevent the provision of non-dentist teeth whitening services in North Carolina, and that its actions constitute an unreasonable restraint of trade and an unfair method of competition under Section 5 of the FTC Act. The appropriate remedy is to bring an end to this conduct, rectify past violations, and prevent reoccurrence. The provisions of the attached order (hereafter, "Order"), more fully discussed below, accomplish these objectives and are reasonably related to the proven violations. Thus, the Order is necessary and appropriate to remedy the violations of law found to exist.

2. Cease and desist provisions

The Order requires the Board to cease and desist from directing a non-dentist teeth whitening provider to cease providing teeth whitening services, or teeth whitening goods provided in conjunction with those services (collectively, "teeth whitening goods and services"), II. A., as well as from prohibiting, restricting, impeding or discouraging the provision of such goods and services. II.B. Complaint Counsel requested language for Paragraph II.B. that would prohibit the Board from "engaging in any action that restrains, restricts, inhibits, deters or otherwise excludes" the provision of teeth whitening goods or services. Complaint Counsel's proposed prohibition is overbroad. For example, the proposed provision could be interpreted to prohibit the Board's filing a lawsuit for a suspected violation by a non-dentist teeth whitening provider, or notifying such a provider of its intention to do so, both of which are not prohibited by the Order. *See* Paragraph II.F. As modified, the language of Paragraph II.B. is consistent with the Order entered in *Mass. Board*, 1988 FTC LEXIS 34, at *83 (ordering the Board to cease and desist from, *inter alia*: "Prohibiting,

restricting, impeding, or discouraging the advertising or publishing of the name of an optometrist or the availability of an optometrist's services by a person or organization not licensed to practice optometry"). Similarly, certain language proposed by Complaint Counsel for Paragraph II.G. is rejected, as unduly vague and overbroad, in favor of language used by the Commission in the order entered in *Mass. Board* (prohibiting the Board from "[i]nducing, urging, encouraging, or assisting any person or organization to take any of the actions prohibited by" the order). ¹⁴

The Order also requires the Board to cease and desist from communicating to any current or prospective non-dentist providers, lessor of commercial property, or actual or prospective manufacturer, distributor or seller of teeth whitening goods or services, that a non-dentist's teeth whitening goods or services violate the Dental Practice Act. Section II., Paragraphs C.-F. As found above, the Board's communications to these parties that non-dentist teeth whitening was illegal were intended to prevent or eliminate non-dentist teeth whitening; had the tendency and effect of excluding non-dentist providers; and have been determined to be part of Respondent's anticompetitive course of conduct. Accordingly, prohibiting these communications is directly related to the violation. Moreover, prohibiting such communications as set forth in Section II, Paragraphs C-F will strengthen and support the Order's requirements in Section II, Paragraphs A and B, that Respondent cease actions to eliminate, restrain, or discourage the provision of non-dentist teeth whitening services.

Complaint Counsel requested language that would also prohibit Respondent from communicating that a non-dentist provider's teeth whitening goods or services "may be" in violation of the Dental Practice Act. Such a prohibition would conflict with provisions, also proposed by Complaint Counsel, and provided in the Order, which expressly permit the Board, notwithstanding the provisions of Paragraphs II.C-G, to communicate that it is investigating a suspected violation, to provide notice of intent to file a lawsuit for a suspected violation, and to file a lawsuit for an "alleged" violation. Communicating a "suspected" or "alleged" violation is the equivalent of communicating that there "may be" a violation.

¹⁴ Section II G as proposed by Complaint Counsel would have prohibited Respondent from "[e]ncouraging, suggesting, advising, pressuring, or inducing, . . ." anyone to violate the terms of the Order.

Accordingly, the Order does not prohibit communicating that a non-dentist provider "may be" violating the Dental Practice Act.

Section II also contains important provisions that nothing in the Order prohibits the Board from engaging in certain conduct and communications, including: (i) investigating a non-dentist provider for suspected violations of the Dental Practice Act; (ii) filing or causing to be filed, a court action against a Non-Dentist Provider for an alleged violation of the Dental Practice Act pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 90-40, 90-40.1, or 90-233.1; (iii) pursuing any administrative remedies against a non-dentist; (iv) communicating notice of "its bona fide intention to file a court action" for a suspected violation of the Dental Practice Act with regard to teeth whitening goods or services; or (v) communicating "its bona fide intention to pursue administrative remedies" with regard to teeth whitening goods or services. Although not proposed by either party, the Order extends the provision protecting certain communications to notice of the Board's "belief or opinion regarding whether a particular method of providing Teeth Whitening Goods or Teeth Whitening Services may violate the Dental Practice Act." This additional provision is necessary to give full effect to the rights retained by the Board to investigate, issue notifications, and pursue bona fide remedies regarding teeth whitening goods and services.

These communication rights retained by the Board under Section II, described above, are conditioned upon the Board's including "with equal prominence" certain affirmative disclosures, set forth in Appendix A to the Order. As noted above, requiring such affirmative disclosures are well within the Commission's remedial authority. Appendix A advises the recipient that the opinion of the Board with regard to the legality of the recipient's teeth whitening goods or services is not a legal determination; that the Board cannot order the recipient to discontinue providing the teeth whitening goods or services; and that such matters are for a court to decide. The notice also advises the recipient of potential rights to obtain a declaratory ruling under North Carolina law. These provisions are designed to ensure that the recipient of a permitted communication from the Board regarding an investigation, administrative action, or intended court action for a suspected violation, fully understands the scope or effect of the Board's communication.

3. Affirmative disclosures

Section III of the Order requires the Board to send notices and other affirmative disclosures to parties affected by the Order. As explained above, such notices are well within the Commission's remedial authority. Paragraphs A and B of Section III require the Board to send a copy of the Complaint and the Order to all present, and future, Board members, officers, directors, employees and agents. Paragraph C requires the Board to send a letter, in the form of Appendix B, to each person to whom the Board previously sent a "cease and desist" communication or to whom the Board otherwise communicated that a non-dentist provider of teeth whitening goods or services was violating the law. Appendix B briefly summarizes the Complaint and Order in this matter, and then sets forth substantially the same information as that set forth in Appendix A regarding the scope and effect of the Board's prior communication and the potential right to a declaratory judgment under North Carolina law. See also Paragraph III.C. and Appendix C (requiring the same information be provided to licensees of the Cosmetology Board, either directly or through the Cosmetology Board's website). Such affirmative disclosures serve to clarify, and remedy, impressions created by the Board's prior anticompetitive communications and conduct. In this regard, the required communications are analogous to corrective advertising.

Complaint Counsel also requested that the Order require the Board, for a period of five years, to publish in reports and post on its website, a notice containing the following affirmative disclosures:

As of the date the record closed in the Federal Trade Commission proceeding, the Board was not aware of any scientific, clinical or empirical, studies anywhere in this country that showed that teeth whitening services provided by non-dentists were any less safe than teeth whitening services provided by dentists. The harms that had been reported to the Board by consumers of nondentist teeth whitening services were not substantiated, and the Board was not aware of any other systemic report of such harm from anywhere else in this country at that time. The FTC has ordered the Board to post this notice in response to the anticompetitive practices enumerated in the FTC Complaint. To read the FTC Order and Complaint click here [required links].

Proposed Order, Paragraph III.E. Paragraph III.E. addresses matters that are outside the scope of the violations alleged in the Complaint and outside the scope of the notice of contemplated

relief attached to the Complaint. Moreover, as noted in Section III.E of this Initial Decision, no determination is made as to whether non-dentist teeth whitening is unsafe or injurious to consumers because that issue is not material to whether Respondent's conduct constitutes an unlawful restraint of trade. Accordingly, Complaint Counsel's proposed disclosure improperly overreaches and is not included in the Order.

4. Miscellaneous provisions

The remainder of the Order addresses various reporting and record-keeping requirements that will enable the Commission to verify compliance with the Order, and are appropriate ancillary provisions. *See* Sections IV.-VI.

5. Respondent's objections

a. Tenth Amendment

Respondent contends that the relief sought in this case violates the Tenth Amendment to the United States Constitution by "direct[ing] the actions of state officials." RB at 30-31. Respondent relies on *New York v. United States*, 505 U.S. 144 (1992) and *Printz v. United States*, 521 U.S. 898 (1997). In *New York*, the Court held that certain provisions of the Low-Level Radioactive Waste Policy Amendments Act of 1985, which required States either to enact legislation providing for the disposal of radioactive waste generated within their borders, or to take title to, and possession of, the waste, effectively required States either to legislate, or enact administrative rules, in accordance with the dictates of Congress. According to the Court, such provisions violated the sovereignty of the States because: "[t]he Federal Government may not compel the States to enact or administer a federal regulatory program." *New York v. United States*, 505 U.S. at 188. In *Printz*, the Court held that state chief law enforcement officers could not, consistent with the Constitution's provisions for state sovereignty, be compelled by the Brady Act to administer background checks on prospective handgun purchasers.

Neither *New York* nor *Printz* applies to the instant case. First, unlike either the challenged provisions of the Low-Level Radioactive Waste Policy Amendments Act or the Brady Act, the FTC Act is not directed at state governments or state officials. Rather, it is a

statute of general applicability. Respondent cites no case in which the Tenth Amendment barred a statute of general applicability from being applied to state governments or state officials, particularly where as here, the statute regulates interstate commerce. Legislation of general applicability does not violate the Tenth Amendment simply because it may have the effect of regulating a state activity. *South Carolina v. Baker*, 485 U.S. 505, 512 (1988) (holding that federal legislation prohibiting bearer bonds did not implicate Tenth Amendment because "[t]he Tenth Amendment limits on Congress' authority to regulate state activities . . . are structural, not substantive – i.e., . . . States must find their protection from congressional regulation through the national political process, not through judicially defined spheres of unregulable state activity"); *Garcia v. San Antonio Metropolitan Transit Authority*, 469 U.S. 528 (1985) (holding that the Tenth Amendment did not bar application of Fair Labor Standards Act to state employers).

Respondent further argues that the requested relief violates the Tenth Amendment by impermissibly prescribing the qualifications of state officials. RB at 31-32. Respondent argues that because the antitrust violation in this case is related to the Board's being composed of licensed dentists, pursuant to North Carolina law, the State of North Carolina "must either change its statutes so that the State Board is not 'dominated' by licensed dentists, or North Carolina must take steps to provide additional oversight to the State Board's enforcement activities." RB at 32. In this regard, Respondent restates the bases for the Commission's decision that the state action doctrine did not immunize the Board from antitrust liability, State Action Opinion, 2011 WL 549449; however, nothing in the Order requires North Carolina to take such steps to immunize the Board against the consequences of anticompetitive conduct in the future. Rather, the Order is designed to prevent the Board from repeating or engaging in what has been found to be anticompetitive conduct.

Similarly, nothing in the Order dictates the manner of enforcing the Dental Practice Act, as claimed by Respondent. RB at 32-34. In fact, the Order is clear that none of its provisions bars the Board from fulfilling its duties to investigate, issue notifications, and pursue bona fide remedies regarding teeth whitening goods and services. *See* Section II., at 3. The Order does, however, require that the Board execute its duties without repeating the conduct that has been proven to violate the antitrust laws. The limitations on the Board's

conduct provided in the Order do not interfere with the Board's enforcement of the Dental Practice Act. *See* F. 258 (Board's Chief Operating Officer stating that Board's ability to enforce the Dental Practice Act would not be impacted if the letters that the Board sent out to non-dentist teeth whitening businesses stated that it was a notice that the Board believes there is a violation and may take the recipient to court); *see also* F. 259-60 (In 2000 and 2001, Board letters did not include cease and desist language.). Accordingly, Respondent provides no basis for concluding that such limitations on the Board's activities violate the Tenth Amendment.

b. Commerce Clause

Respondent next contends that the Commerce Clause, U.S. CONST. art. I § 8, cl. 3, prohibits relief in this case because the regulation of dentistry is a state function and, therefore, outside the reach of the federal government's commerce clause powers. RB at 34-36. Respondent's argument lacks merit. First, the Order does not regulate the practice of dentistry. Rather, as noted above, the Order is designed to ensure that the Board executes its regulatory duties without repeating the activities that have been proven to violate the antitrust laws. Moreover, preventing unfair competition in or affecting interstate commerce is expressly delegated to the FTC pursuant to the FTC Act. 5 U.S.C. § 45(a). The issue of whether the Board's conduct in this case is nevertheless exempt, as state regulatory conduct, has been decided against the Board and is not addressed. State Action Opinion, 2011 WL 549449, at *17. For all these reasons, the Commerce Clause does not bar the entry of the Order in this case.

IV. SUMMARY OF CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

- 1. The Federal Trade Commission ("FTC") has jurisdiction over Respondent North Carolina State Board of Dental Examiners ("Respondent" or the "Board") and the subject matter of this proceeding pursuant to Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act ("FTC Act"), 15 U.S.C. § 45.
- 2. Respondent is a "person" within the meaning of Section 5 of the FTC Act. 15 U.S.C. § 45.
- The activities of Respondent challenged in the Complaint are in or affecting commerce, within the meaning of Sections 4 and 5 of the FTC Act. 15 U.S.C. §§ 44, 45.
- 4. The FTC Act's prohibition of unfair methods of competition under Section 5 of the FTC Act encompasses violations of Section 1 of the Sherman Act. 15 U.S.C. § 45; 15 U.S.C. § 1.
- 5. The legal analysis to determine a violation of Section 5 of the FTC Act is the same as it would be under Section 1 of the Sherman Act (hereafter, "Section 1").
- 6. A Section 1 violation requires a determination of (1) whether there was a contract, combination, or conspiracy or, more simply, an agreement; and, if so, (2) whether the contract, combination, or conspiracy unreasonably restrained trade in the relevant market.
- 7. Complaint Counsel has the burden of proving the relevant market in which the challenged conduct occurred.
- 8. The relevant product market is the provision of teeth whitening services by dentists and non-dentists.
- 9. The relevant geographic market is the State of North Carolina.
- 10. The fundamental prerequisite under Section 1 is unlawful conduct by two or more parties pursuant to an agreement, explicit or implied. An agreement results from two or more parties knowingly participating in a common scheme or design.
- 11. There need not be direct evidence of an agreement to find an unlawful conspiracy under Section 1. An agreement may be inferred from circumstantial evidence, such as business behavior.
- 12. Membership composition of a group, by itself, does not establish the element of concerted action for a Section 1 violation. The mere opportunity to conspire does not by itself support the inference that such an illegal combination actually occurred.

- 13. Although a single legal entity, the Board is capable of concerted action under Section 1 because it is controlled by six practicing dentist members who are each separate economic entities and who are in a position to enhance their own incomes and/or the incomes of their dentist constituents by preventing or eliminating non-dentist teeth whitening.
- 14. The evidence shows a common scheme or design, and therefore an agreement, of the Board's dentist members to prevent or eliminate non-dentist teeth whitening services in North Carolina. This agreement is readily inferable from the Board's course of conduct in issuing cease and desist letters and similar Board communications designed to stop non-dentist teeth whitening in North Carolina.
- 15. Evidence of the Board's consistent, and persistent, course of conduct, using virtually identical language, over an extended period of time, tends to negate the possibility that Board members were acting independently.
- 16. The law does not require that the evidence exclude all possibility that the alleged conspirators acted independently of one another.
- 17. It is not necessary to demonstrate that every Board member participated in the conspiracy.
- 18. Proof of concerted action does not require a showing of simultaneous agreement by the alleged conspirators.
- 19. Complaint Counsel has met its burden of showing that Respondent engaged in concerted action to exclude non-dentists from the market for teeth whitening services and to deter potential providers of teeth whitening services from entering the market.
- 20. A restraint may be adjudged unreasonable either because it fits within a class of restraints that has been held to be "*per se*" unreasonable, or because it violates the "rule of reason."
- 21. The conventional rule-of-reason approach requires courts to engage in a thorough analysis of the relevant market and the effects of the restraint in that market.
- 22. A "quick look," or abbreviated rule of reason analysis applies to those arrangements that an observer with even a rudimentary understanding of economics could conclude would have an anticompetitive effect on customers and markets.
- 23. An abbreviated rule of reason analysis is appropriate in cases where the conduct at issue is inherently suspect owing to its likely tendency to suppress competition, including behavior that past judicial experience and current economic learning have shown to warrant summary condemnation.
- 24. If the nature of the restraint is deemed facially anticompetitive pursuant to an

abbreviated rule of reason analysis, the proponent of the restraint must provide some competitive justification for it, even in the absence of a detailed market analysis showing market power or market effects.

- 25. Proof of market power and the anticompetitive nature of the restraint are sufficient to show the potential for anticompetitive effects under a rule of reason analysis, and once this showing has been made, the proponent of the policies must offer procompetitive justifications.
- 26. Proof of actual detrimental effects from the challenged practice can obviate the need for an inquiry into market power, which is but a surrogate for detrimental effects.
- 27. If the challenged restraint is shown to have actual anticompetitive effects, then the burden shifts to the proponent of the challenged restraint to provide procompetitive justifications for it.
- 28. While there are varying modes of inquiry, the ultimate test of legality under Section 1 is whether the restraint imposed is such as merely regulates and perhaps thereby promotes competition or whether it is such as may suppress or even destroy competition.
- 29. An agreement to exclude competitors, by its nature, has the tendency to harm competition.
- 30. Absent some countervailing procompetitive virtue, an agreement limiting consumer choice by excluding competitors from the market impedes the ordinary give and take of the marketplace and cannot be sustained under the rule of reason.
- 31. Market power is defined as the ability to raise prices or the ability to exclude competition.
- 32. The Board's power to exclude competition is demonstrated by the fact that non-dentist teeth whitening providers exited the market in response to the Board's cease and desist letters.
- 33. Complaint Counsel has met its burden of showing that Respondent engaged in concerted action to exclude non-dentists from the teeth whitening services market and deterred potential non-dentist providers from entering that market through the following course of conduct: (a) sending letters to non-dentist teeth whitening providers, ordering them to cease and desist from offering teeth whitening services; (b) sending letters to manufacturers of products and equipment used by non-dentist providers, and other potential entrants, either ordering them to cease and desist from assisting clients offering teeth whitening services, or otherwise attempting to dissuade them from participating in the teeth whitening services market; (c) sending letters to owners or operators of malls to dissuade them from leasing to non-dentist providers of teeth whitening services; and (d) eliciting the help of the North Carolina Board of

Cosmetic Art Examiners ("Cosmetology Board") to dissuade its licensees from providing teeth whitening services.

- 34. The Board's concerted actions to exclude non-dentist teeth whitening in North Carolina resulted in anticompetitive effects, including: the exit of non-dentist teeth whitening services providers from the North Carolina market; the limitation of consumer choice through exclusion of non-dentist teeth whitening service providers in North Carolina; lost sales by manufacturers of products used by non-dentist providers of teeth whitening services in North Carolina; and the decision of mall owners and operators to stop leasing to non-dentist teeth whitening service providers in North Carolina.
- 35. Respondent bears the burden of establishing an affirmative defense that competitively justifies the apparent deviation from the operations of a free market caused by its concerted actions to exclude non-dentist teeth whitening.
- 36. Respondent's proffered justification that in acting to restrict non-dentist teeth whitening, it was acting as a state agency or occupational licensing board enforcing the North Carolina Dental Practice Act, to protect the public interest, and not to promote economic self-interest, is essentially a reiteration of Respondent's claim that the Board's conduct is exempt from antitrust liability by the state action doctrine, which was decided against Respondent by the Commission. Commission State Action Opinion, 2011 WL 549449, at *1, 17.
- 37. It is well established that a restraint on competition cannot be justified solely on the basis of social welfare concerns, including concerns about health hazards.
- 38. A generalized concern for the health, safety and welfare of members of the public, however genuine and well-informed such a concern may be, affords no legal justification for economic measures to diminish competition.
- 39. To avoid liability, Respondent must demonstrate that the challenged restraints have some countervailing procompetitive virtue, such as the creation of efficiencies in the operation of a market or the provision of goods and services, increases in output, or improvements in product quality, service, or innovation.
- 40. Respondent's proffered justification that its actions to exclude non-dentist teeth whitening service providers were intended to promote social welfare or public safety, by ensuring that teeth whitening services are supervised by licensed dentists and by protecting consumers from dangerous or unsafe teeth whitening services is not a valid justification under applicable antitrust law.
- 41. Respondent's proffered justification that its actions to exclude non-dentist teeth whitening are procompetitive because they will ensure that teeth whitening services are offered at a cost that reflects the higher skills of dentist providers, rather than at the lower cost alternative offered by assertedly lesser skilled, non-dentist teeth whitening

providers is not a valid justification under applicable antitrust law. Competition cannot be restrained based upon the risk that competition may result in the marketing of inferior products.

- 42. Respondent's proffered justification that its actions to exclude non-dentist teeth whitening are procompetitive because they will serve to protect "legal competition" between qualified, legal teeth whitening service providers is not a valid justification under applicable antitrust law. Even if non-dentist teeth whitening were illegal in North Carolina, which has not been decided, the fact that a practice may be unlawful is not, in itself, a sufficient justification for collusion among competitors to prevent it.
- 43. Respondent's actions to exclude non-dentist teeth whitening, as described in paragraphs 19 and 33 above, constitute a contract, combination or conspiracy, that unreasonably restrained trade in the market for teeth whitening services in North Carolina, which violates Section 1 of the Sherman Act and constitutes an unfair method of competition in violation of Section 5 of the FTC Act. 15 U.S.C. § 45.
- 44. Upon determination that a challenged practice is an unfair method of competition, the Commission "shall issue . . . an order requiring such person . . . to cease and desist from using such method of competition or such act or practice." 15 U.S.C. § 45(b).
- 45. The Commission's authority to issue remedial orders also includes requiring Respondents to make affirmative disclosures, including sending notices to affected parties.
- 46. The Commission has considerable discretion in fashioning an appropriate remedial order, subject to the constraint that the order must bear a reasonable relationship to the unlawful acts or practices.
- 47. The appropriate remedy is to bring an end to this conduct, rectify past violations, and prevent reoccurrence.
- 48. The Order entered herein is necessary and appropriate to remedy the violation of law found to exist.

ORDER

I.

IT IS ORDERED that, as used in this Order, the following definitions shall apply:

- A. "Board" means the North Carolina State Board of Dental Examiners ("NCSBDE"), its officers, directors, members, employees, agents, attorneys, representatives, successors, and assigns; and the subsidiaries, divisions, groups, and affiliates controlled by it; and the respective officers, directors, members, employees, agents, attorneys, representatives, successors, and assigns of each.
- B. "Communicate" or "Communicating" means exchanging, transferring, or disseminating any information, without regard to the manner or means by which it is accomplished.
- C. "Communication" means any information exchange, transfer, or dissemination, without regard to the means by which it is accomplished, including, without limitation, oral or written, in any manner, form, or transmission medium.
- D. "Dental Practice Act" means any legislation that is administered by the Board, including, North Carolina General Statutes, Chapter 90, Article 2 (Dentistry) (N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 90-22 - 90-48.3 (2010)) and Article 16 (Dental Hygiene Act) (N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 90-221 - 90-233.1 (2010)).
- E. "Dentist" means any individual holding a license, issued by the Board, to practice dentistry in North Carolina.
- F. "Direct" or "Directing" means to order, direct, command or instruct.
- G. "Non-Dentist Provider" means any Person other than a Dentist engaged in the provision, distribution or sale of any Teeth Whitening Goods or Teeth Whitening Services.
- H. "Person" means both natural persons and artificial persons, including, but not limited to, corporations, and unincorporated entities.
- I. "Principal Address" means either (i) primary business address, if there is a business address, or (ii) primary residential address, if there is no business address.
- J. "Teeth Whitening Goods" means any formulation containing a peroxide bleaching agent, whether or not used in conjunction with an LED light source, and any other ancillary products used in the provision of Teeth Whitening Services.
- K. "Teeth Whitening Services" means whitening teeth through the use of a formulation containing a peroxide bleaching agent, whether or not used in conjunction with an LED light source.

L. "Third Party" means any Person other than NCSBDE.

II.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Respondent, directly or indirectly, or through any corporate or other device, in connection with the provision of Teeth Whitening Services in or affecting commerce, as "commerce" is defined in Section 4 of the Federal Trade Commission Act, 15 U.S.C. § 44, cease and desist from:

- A. Directing a Non-Dentist Provider to cease providing Teeth Whitening Goods or Teeth Whitening Services;
- B. Prohibiting, restricting, impeding, or discouraging the provision of Teeth Whitening Goods or Teeth Whitening Services by a Non-Dentist Provider;
- C. Communicating to a Non-Dentist Provider that: (i) such Non-Dentist Provider is violating, or has violated the Dental Practice Act by providing Teeth Whitening Goods or Teeth Whitening Services; or (ii) the provision of Teeth Whitening Goods or Teeth Whitening Services by a Non-Dentist Provider is a violation of the Dental Practice Act;
- D. Communicating to a prospective Non-Dentist Provider that: (i) a Non-Dentist Provider would violate the Dental Practice Act by providing Teeth Whitening Goods or Teeth Whitening Services; or (ii) the provision of Teeth Whitening Goods or Teeth Whitening Services by a Non-Dentist Provider would violate the Dental Practice Act;
- E. Communicating to a lessor of commercial property or any other Third Party that (i) the provision of Teeth Whitening Goods or Teeth Whitening Services by a Non-Dentist Provider is a violation of the Dental Practice Act, or (ii) that any Non-Dentist Provider is violating or has violated the Dental Practice Act by providing Teeth Whitening Goods or Teeth Whitening Services;
- F. Communicating to an actual or prospective manufacturer, distributor, or seller of Teeth Whitening Goods used by Non-Dentist Providers, or to any other Third Party that (i) the provision of Teeth Whitening Goods or Teeth Whitening Services by a Non-Dentist Provider is a violation of the Dental Practice Act, or (ii) that any Non-Dentist Provider is violating or has violated the Dental Practice Act by providing Teeth Whitening Goods or Teeth Whitening Services; and
- G. Inducing, urging, encouraging, assisting or attempting to induce, any Person to engage in any action that would be prohibited to Respondent by Paragraphs II.A through II.F above;

Provided, however, that nothing in this Order prohibits the Board from:

- (i) investigating a Non-Dentist Provider for suspected violations of the Dental Practice Act;
- (ii) filing or causing to be filed, a court action against a Non-Dentist Provider for an alleged violation of the Dental Practice Act pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 90-40, 90-40.1, or 90-233.1; or
- (iii) pursuing any administrative remedies against a Non-Dentist Provider pursuant to and in accordance with the North Carolina Annotated Code;

Provided further, that nothing in this Order prohibits the Board from Communicating to a Third Party:

- (i) notice of its belief or opinion regarding whether a particular method of providing Teeth Whitening Goods or Teeth Whitening Services may violate the Dental Practice Act;
- (ii) notice of its bona fide intention to file a court action against that Person for a suspected violation of the Dental Practice Act with regard to Teeth Whitening Goods or Teeth Whitening Services; or
- (iii) notice of its bona fide intention to pursue administrative remedies with regard to Teeth Whitening Goods or Teeth Whitening Services,

so long as such Communication includes, with equal prominence, the paragraph included in Appendix A to this Order.

III.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Respondent shall:

- A. Within thirty (30) days from the date this Order becomes final, send a copy of this Order and the Complaint by first-class mail with delivery confirmation or electronic mail with return confirmation to:
 - 1. each Board member; and
 - 2. each officer, director, manager, representative, agent, attorney, and employee of the Board;
- B. Distribute by first-class mail, return receipt requested, a copy of this Order and the Complaint to each individual who becomes a Board member, or an officer, director, manager, attorney, representative, agent or employee of Board, and who did not

previously receive a copy of this Order and the Complaint from Respondent, within ten (10) days of the time that he or she assumes such position;

- C. Within thirty (30) days from the date this Order becomes final, send a copy of the letter, on the Board's official letterhead, with the text included in Appendix B to this Order by first-class mail with delivery confirmation or electronic mail with return confirmation to:
 - 1. each Person, including without limitation actual or prospective Non-Dentist Providers, manufacturers of goods and services used by Non-Dentists Providers, or any other Third Party, to whom the Board Communicated a cease-and-desist order, letter; or other similar Communication;
 - 2. each Person, including without limitation actual or prospective lessors of commercial property or any other Third Party, to whom the Board Communicated that (i) the provision of Teeth Whitening Goods or Teeth Whitening Services by a Non-Dentist Provider is a violation of the Dental Practice Act, or (ii) that any Non-Dentist Provider is violating, has violated, or may be violating the Dental Practice Act by providing Teeth Whitening Goods or Teeth Whitening Services; and
 - 3. any other Third Party to whom, or with whom, the Board Communicated substantially the same information set forth in C.1 and 2 of this Paragraph III;
- D. Within sixty (60) days from the date this Order becomes final, Respondent shall arrange with the North Carolina Board of Cosmetic Art Examiners for the notice included as Appendix C to this Order to appear on the website of that Board for a period of six (6) months;

Provided, however, should Respondent be unable within sixty (60) days to arrange with the North Carolina Board of Cosmetic Art Examiners for such notice to appear on that Board's website, Respondent shall within ninety (90) days from the date this Order becomes final: (1) obtain from the North Carolina Board of Cosmetic Art Examiners its most current list of licensees; and (2) send the Appendix C notification by first-class mail with delivery confirmation or electronic mail with return confirmation to each licensee on that current list;

IV.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Respondent shall file verified written reports within sixty (60) days from the date this Order becomes final, annually thereafter for three (3) years on the anniversary of the date this Order becomes final, and at such other times as the Commission may by written notice require. Each report shall include, among other information that may be necessary:

A. The identity, including address and telephone number, of each Non-Dentist Provider, and any other Third Party, that the Board Communicated with during the relevant reporting period regarding Teeth Whitening Goods or Teeth Whitening Services;

- B. Copies of all Communications with any Non-Dentist Provider, and any other Third Party regarding the provision of Teeth Whitening Goods or Teeth Whitening Services;
- C. Copies of the delivery confirmations or electronic mail with return confirmations required by Paragraph III. A and B; and
- D. A detailed description of the manner and form in which Respondent has complied, and is complying, with this Order.

V.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Respondent shall notify the Commission of any change in its principal address within twenty (20) days of such change in address.

VI.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, for the purpose of determining or securing compliance with this Order, and subject to any legally recognized privilege, and upon written request and upon five (5) days notice to NCSBDE, that NCSBDE shall, without restraint or interference, permit any duly authorized representative of the Commission:

- A. Access, during office hours of NCSBDE and in the presence of counsel, to all facilities and access to inspect and copy all books, ledgers, accounts, correspondence, memoranda, and all other records and documents in the possession, or under the control, of NCSBDE relating to compliance with this Order, which copying services shall be provided by NCSBDE at its expense; and
- B. To interview officers, directors, or employees of NCSBDE, who may have counsel present, regarding such matters.

VII.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that this Order shall terminate twenty (20) years from the date it is issued.

ORDERED:

D. Michael Chappell Chief Administrative Law Judge

Date: July 14, 2011

Appendix A

The Federal Trade Commission, by its Order of ______, 2011, has directed the Board to provide you with the following Notice. The Board hereby notifies you that the opinion of the Board expressed in this communication is not a legal determination. The Board does not have the authority to order you to discontinue providing Teeth Whitening Goods or Teeth Whitening Services. Only a court may determine that you have violated, or are violating, any law, and, if appropriate, impose a remedy or penalty for such violation.

Further, pursuant to 21 N.C.A.C. 16N .0400 and N.C. Gen. Stat. § 150B-4, you may have the right, prior to the initiation of any court action by the Board, to request a declaratory ruling regarding whether your method of providing teeth whitening goods or services is lawful.

You are further notified that any right to a declaratory ruling from the Board is additional to any other legal rights that you may already have to establish the legality of your teeth whitening goods or services. A complete copy of the Federal Trade Commission's Complaint and Decision and Order are available on the Commission's website, http://www.ftc.gov.

Appendix B

(Letterhead of NCSBDE)

(Name and Address of the Recipient)

Dear (Recipient):

As you may know, the Federal Trade Commission issued an administrative complaint in 2010 against the Board challenging the legality of the Board's activities directed at the elimination of dental teeth whitening services in North Carolina by non-dentists. At the conclusion of that administrative proceeding, the Commission issued a Decision and Order directing that the Board, among other things, cease and desist from certain activities involving teeth whitening by non-dentists and take certain remedial actions, of which this letter is one part. A complete copy of the Federal Trade Commission's Complaint and Decision and Order are available on the Commission's website, http://www.ftc.gov.

You are receiving this letter because you previously received from the Board either: (1) a letter directing, or ordering, you to cease and desist the unlicensed provision of dental teeth whitening services, or selling dental teeth whitening goods or services to non-dentist teeth whiteners in violation of the Dental Practice Act, N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 90-29(b)(2), 90-40, and/or 90-40.1; or (2) a letter advising you that (i) a non-dentist would or might be violating the Dental Practice Act by providing teeth whitening goods or services; or (ii) the provision of teeth whitening goods or services by a non-dentist would or might be a violation of the Dental Practice Act, N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 90-29(b)(2), 90-40, and/or 90-40.1.

The Board hereby notifies you that the prior letter you received from the Board only expressed the opinion of the Board, and that such opinion is not a legal determination. The Board does not have the authority to order that you discontinue providing Teeth Whitening Goods or Teeth Whitening Services. Only a court may determine that you are violating, or have violated, any law and, if appropriate, impose a remedy or penalty for such violation. Further, you may have the right to request a declaratory ruling from the Board, pursuant to 21 N.C.A.C. 16N .0400 and N.C. Gen. Stat. § 150B-4, regarding whether a particular method of providing teeth whitening goods or services is lawful. You are further notified that any right to a declaratory ruling from the Board is additional to any other legal rights that you may already have to establish the legality of any particular method of providing teeth whitening goods or services.

Appendix C

Teeth Whitening Notice

As you may know, the Federal Trade Commission issued an administrative complaint in 2010 against the North Carolina State Board of Dental Examiners challenging the legality of the Dental Board's activities directed at the elimination of dental teeth whitening services in North Carolina by non-dentists. At the conclusion of that administrative proceeding, the Commission issued a Decision and Order directing that the Dental Board, among other things, cease and desist from certain activities involving teeth whitening by non-dentists and take certain remedial actions, of which this Notice is one part. A complete copy of the Federal Trade Commission's Complaint and Decision and Order are available on the Commission's website, http://www.ftc.gov.

In 2007, the Cosmetology Board, at the request of the Dental Board, displayed a "Teeth Whitening Bulletin" on the Cosmetology Board's website advising cosmetologists and estheticians "that any process that 'removes stains, accretions or deposits from human teeth' constitutes the practice of dentistry. . . Taking impressions for bleaching trays also constitutes the practice of dentistry. . ." That Bulletin further advised that it was a misdemeanor for anyone other than a licensed dentist to provide those services.

The Dental Board hereby notifies you that the prior Bulletin, described above, only expressed the opinion of the Dental Board, and that such opinion is not a legal determination. The Dental Board does not have the authority to order that you discontinue providing Teeth Whitening Goods or Teeth Whitening Services. Only a court may determine that you have violated, or are violating, any law and, if appropriate, to impose a remedy or penalty for such violation. Further, you may have the right to request a declaratory ruling from the Dental Board, pursuant to 21 N.C.A.C. 16N .0400 and N.C. Gen. Stat. § 150B-4, regarding whether a particular method of providing teeth whitening goods or services is lawful. You are further notified that any right to a declaratory ruling from the Dental Board is additional to any other legal rights that you may already have to establish the legality of any particular method of providing teeth whitening goods or services.